DRIVER BEHAVIOR & PERFORMANCE TECHNICAL REPORT



# Cannabis Use, Public Health, and Traffic Safety: Outcomes from the Scientific Literature and Expert Opinion on the Potential Impacts of Rescheduling

# **DEC 2024**

607 14th Street, NW, Suite 701 Washington, DC 20005 202-638-5944 AAAFoundation.org

© 2024 AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety

# Title

Cannabis Use, Public Health, and Traffic Safety: Outcomes from the Scientific Literature and Expert Opinion on the Potential Impacts of Rescheduling

(December 2024)

# Authors

Eduardo Romano, Ann Romosz, Eileen Taylor, Julie Murphy, Sue Thomas, & Scott McKnight

Pacific Institute for Research and Evaluation (PIRE)

**Christine Moore** 

9-Delta Analytical LLC

# Foreword

Legislative proposals in the United States, such as the Cannabis Administration and Opportunity Act, and the more recently proposed Rescheduling of Marijuana from the Drug Enforcement Administration, aim to remove cannabis from the list of Schedule I drugs under the Controlled Substances Act. The Drug Enforcement Administration proposal would change cannabis to Schedule III, in acknowledgement of its current accepted medical use and lower potential for abuse than other Schedule I and II drugs.

Efforts to liberalize cannabis, including at the federal level, should be appropriately informed about the impacts on public health, including traffic safety. While research on the crash risk associated with acute and chronic cannabis use has been equivocal, it has been clearly demonstrated that cannabis can impair a person's ability to drive safely, and emerging research on the effects of liberalizing cannabis use, including by the AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety, portends negative implications for traffic safety. This report synthesizes and consolidates the existing scientific evidence regarding cannabis use and public health and offers expert opinion on the potential impact of the proposed rescheduling, providing an accessible reference for interested stakeholders.

C. Y. David Yang, Ph.D.

President and Executive Director

AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety

# **About the Sponsor**

AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety 607 14<sup>th</sup> Street, NW, Suite 701 Washington, D.C. 20005 202-638-5944 www.aaafoundation.org

Founded in 1947, the AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety in Washington, D.C., is a nonprofit, publicly supported charitable research and educational organization dedicated to saving lives by preventing traffic crashes and reducing injuries when crashes occur. Funding for this report was provided by voluntary contributions from AAA/CAA and their affiliated motor clubs, individual members, AAA-affiliated insurance companies, and other organizations or sources.

This publication is distributed by the AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety at no charge, as a public service. It may not be resold or used for commercial purposes without the explicit permission of the foundation. It may, however, be copied in whole or in part and distributed for free via any medium, provided the Foundation is given appropriate credit as the source of the material. The AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety assumes no liability for the use or misuse of any information, opinions, findings, conclusions, or recommendations contained in this report.

If trade or manufacturer's names are mentioned, it is only because they are considered essential to the object of this report and their mention should not be construed as an endorsement. The AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety does not endorse products or manufacturers.

# **Table of Contents**

List of Abbreviations and Acronyms	vi
Executive Summary	1
Introduction	2
Part I: Review of the Literature	3
Cannabis Components	3
Cannabis Products	3
Drug Scheduling Factors	
Methods	5
Challenges in Conducting Cannabis Research	6
Results	7
Cannabis Pharmacology	7
Cannabis Potential for Abuse	
Impact on Public Health	15
Summary of Findings from the Literature	
Part II: Expert Opinion on the Potential Impacts of Cannabis Rescheduling on Pub and Traffic Safety	lic Health 44
Methods	44
Results	46
Synthesis	54
Discussion and Conclusion	57
References	
Appendix A: Focus Group Guide	
Appendix B: Participant Invitation	
Appendix C: Codebook (Description of Codes)	

# List of Abbreviations and Acronyms

AAAFTS	AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety
ABCD	Adolescent Brain Cognitive Development
ADHD	Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
AIDS	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
BAC	Blood Alcohol Content
CB1	Cannabinoid Receptor 1
CB2	Cannabinoid Receptor 2
CBD	Cannabidiol
CBN	Cannabinol
CNS	Central Nervous System
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus
CUD	Cannabis Use Disorders
DRE	Drug Recognition Expert
DRUID	Driving under the Influence of drugs, alcohol, and medicines
DUI-C	Driving under the influence of cannabis
ECS	Endogenous cannabinoid system
ED	Emergency Department
EVALI	Electronic cigarette, or vaping product use-associated lung injury
FARS	Fatality Analysis Reporting System
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HLDI	Highway Loss Data Institute
IACP	International Association of Chiefs of Police
IIHS	Insurance Institute for Highway Safety
MML	Medical marijuana law
MSB	Male sexual behavior
NASEM	National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine
NDAA	National District Attorneys Association
NTIS	National Technical Information Service
PIRE	Pacific Institute for Research and Evaluation
PTSD	Post-traumatic stress disorder
RML	Recreational marijuana law
SCRAs	Synthetic Cannabinoid Receptor Agonists
TGCT	Testicular germ cell tumor
THC	Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol
TIRF	Traffic Injury Research Foundation
U.S.	United States
WHO	World Health Organization

#### **Executive Summary**

Cannabis is currently a Schedule I controlled substance under the Federal Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act (Controlled Substances Act). The Drug Enforcement Administration has an ongoing process to consider moving cannabis to a Schedule III drug, thereby reducing the associated penalties. Arguments have been made in recent years inviting public support for rescheduling and legalization of cannabis in the United States.

In 2017, a committee of experts gathered by the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (NASEM) concluded that there was a lack of scientific research regarding the health effects of using cannabis and cannabis-derived products. Much more modest in scope, the current report endeavors to provide a picture of the current state of scientific knowledge on the impact of cannabis use as it is associated with the factors established by the Controlled Substances Act for drug scheduling.

This report included two main tasks. Part I offers a detailed review of the literature, including a description of the approach used to build the review; a brief portrayal of the biological mechanisms by which cannabis components affect (or could affect) human health and behavior; and a summary of findings with references. Additionally, key takeaways are presented in non-academic layman terms. Part II involved focus groups with subject matter experts, who shared their opinion on the potential impacts of cannabis rescheduling on public health and traffic safety.

For the literature review, using the 2017 NASEM report as the starting point, the research team conducted a search of the literature using a variety of scholarly and scientific databases as well as a review of resources available from professional associations and organizations. The results of the search were synthesized and summarized, and were aligned with factors considered under the Controlled Substances Act: Pharmacology, Potential for Abuse, and Public Health Impacts.

This review of the literature was complemented by two focus groups of 14 expert panelists who brought together various viewpoints about future public health and traffic safety scenarios that may occur should the rescheduling of cannabis to be approved. The invitees had expertise in multiple public health arenas that might be impacted by the rescheduling of marijuana on the federal level and included representatives from organizations and agencies that have an interest in the topics of marijuana use and related policy.

In general, most of the experts agreed that the main concern coming from the rescheduling relates to how the public would perceive the rescheduling. Panelists were concerned that the public would perceive the rescheduling as an indication that "*it [cannabis] is safe*," increasing the likelihood that cannabis-related negative health and safety consequences would develop. On the other hand, participants agreed that the rescheduling would allow researchers to fully study the public-health consequences of cannabis, as federal restrictions on the type and strength of cannabis allowed to be used in federally funded research has limited the types of research that can be conducted. Experts also suggested that cannabis rescheduling would have an impact on traffic safety—that rescheduling could translate into an increase in the unsafe use of cannabis among drivers. The experts overwhelmingly supported continued research to understand both the use of cannabis alone, as well as its cognitive impact and impairment associated with driving. Participants also supported research to develop more tools to assess impairment and continued training efforts for law enforcement officers who are evaluating impairment during a roadside stop.

#### Introduction

The term cannabis refers to a genus of the family Cannabaceae, which includes species that together are commonly known as marijuana (e.g., sativa, indica, and ruderalis), as well as the many strains that have surfaced by hybridization and crossbreeding. This report will not make any distinction between these species and the terms cannabis and marijuana are used interchangeably.

Cannabis is currently a Schedule I controlled substance under the Federal Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act (the Controlled Substances Act). There is an ongoing process by the Drug Enforcement Administration to consider moving cannabis to a Schedule III drug, thereby reducing the associated penalties, and arguments have been made in recent years inviting public support for rescheduling and legalization of cannabis in the United States. Some of these arguments include (a) suggesting that cannabis use is less harmful than alcohol, tobacco, and opioids; (b) suggesting that criminal offenses related to cannabis use would cause more harm than the cannabis use itself; and (c) legalizing the recreational use of cannabis would eliminate the illicit market, allow for regulated access and use by the public, and allow for an increase in government revenue through taxation (Hall & Lynskey, 2020).

In 2017, a committee of experts gathered by the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (NASEM) was tasked with conducting a comprehensive review of the evidence regarding the health effects of using cannabis and cannabis-derived products. The 2017 NASEM report concluded that there was a lack of scientific research on the subject, which "has resulted in a lack of information on the health implications of cannabis use, which is a significant public health concern for vulnerable populations such as pregnant women and adolescents. Unlike other substances whose use may confer risk, such as alcohol or tobacco, no accepted standards exist to help guide individuals as they make choices regarding the issues of if, when, where, and how to use cannabis safely and, in regard to therapeutic uses, effectively" (NASEM, 2017, page 1).<sup>1</sup>

Much more modest in scope, this report does not attempt to update the comprehensive 2017 NASEM report, but to use the 2017 NASEM report as a starting point to provide a picture of the current state of scientific knowledge on the impact of cannabis use as it is associated with the factors established by the Controlled Substances Act for drug scheduling.

This report is organized as follows. Part I offers a detailed review of the literature, including a description of the approach used to build the review; a brief portrayal of the biological mechanisms by which cannabis components affect (or could affect) human health and behavior; and a summary of findings with references. Part I concludes with a summary of the literature review findings presented in non-academic, layperson's terms. Part II presents expert opinion on the potential impacts of cannabis rescheduling on public health and traffic safety gathered via focus group discussions with subject matter experts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As the current project was nearing completion, NASEM released a report titled *Cannabis Policy Impacts Public Health and Health Equity (*NASEM, 2024). Diverging from the 2017 NASEM effort and this current effort focused on the state of knowledge on cannabis use and public health, the complementary 2024 NASEM report provides a review of cannabis regulatory frameworks and recommended actions to minimize public health harms at the federal and state levels.

#### Part I: Review of the Literature

Part I is organized as follows. First, a summary characterizes cannabis components and the most popular cannabis products. Next, a summary background of the issues around the scheduling of drugs in the United States (U.S.) is provided. This is followed by a description of the approach followed by the research team in building this report. Finally, the findings are presented, including a section highlighting the current challenges in cannabis research.

#### **Cannabis Components**

Broadly speaking, the components of cannabinoids are divided into three categories: (1) endocannabinoids, which are mainly synthesized by animal organisms, (2) phytocannabinoids, which are biosynthesized in the cannabis plant, and (3) synthetic cannabinoids, which are prepared in the laboratory and have similar or complete physiological characteristics as phytocannabinoids and endocannabinoids.

The cannabis sativa plant has more than 100 different cannabinoids, including delta-9tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), cannabidiol (CBD), and cannabinol (CBN). These phytocannabinoids work by binding to cannabinoid receptors, as well as other receptor systems (Rock & Parker, 2021).

#### **Cannabis Products**

There is a proliferation of cannabis products in the U.S. market, which are based on hybrid varieties defined by their psychoactive and medicinal effects, appearance, taste, potency, or odor and come in a variety of forms (e.g., edibles, flower, concentrates). Although smoking cannabis has been the most popular mechanism for cannabis use (Smart et al., 2017; Schauer et al., 2020), edibles—cannabis-infused food and drink products—are accounting for proportions of legal U.S. cannabis sales. (Miller and Seo, 2021) (Peterson et al., 2023). Inhaled cannabis products are marketed with flavors, tastes, and smells (Watkins et al., 2023; Gammon et al., 2021).

Compared with inhaled cannabis, edible cannabis has a slower onset of effects, although edibles often have a longer lasting high. Overall, the subjective effects of inhaled cannabis peak at approximately 15 to 30 minutes and last for about 2 to 3 hours, whereas the effects of ingested (edible) cannabis products peak between 1 to 3 hours and can last up to 8 hours (Blake and Nahtigal, 2019; Chen and Rogers, 2019; Okey, 2023).

Although a process to flavor cannabis was first recorded in the 19<sup>th</sup> century (Crocq, 2020), only recently has flavored cannabis become popular in the U.S., particularly in states with recreational marijuana laws (RMLs) (Watkins et al., 2023; Chaffee et al., 2023). Tobacco research has demonstrated that flavors in tobacco products decrease harm perception and increase product appeal. Subsequently, it has been posited that flavors of inhaled cannabis products may have a similar effect and impact cannabis initiation or dependence (Watkins et al., 2023). Recent studies present evidence that flavored cannabis increases its appeal to users. Compared with older adults, males, and white individuals, flavored cannabis use was higher among younger adults, females, and black and Latinx cannabis users (Watkins et al., 2023). On the other hand, research has found no association between cannabis flavor and individuals' motivation to quit (Glasser et al., 2022).

#### **Drug Scheduling Factors**

Marijuana is currently recognized by the U.S. Drug Enforcement Agency under the Controlled Substances Act as a Schedule I controlled substance. In making decisions regarding the scheduling of a drug, the following factors about the drug should be taken into account. (21 USC 811: Authority and criteria for classification of substances):

- Its actual or relative potential for abuse.
- Scientific evidence of its pharmacological effect, if known.
- The state of current scientific knowledge regarding the drug or other substance.
- Its history and current pattern of abuse.
- The scope, duration, and significance of abuse.
- What, if any, risk there is to public health.
- Its psychic or physiological dependence liability.
- Whether the substance is an immediate precursor of a substance already controlled under this subchapter.

For simplicity in this report, the Controlled Substances Act factors are grouped into three related and sometimes overlapping categories: Pharmacology, Abuse, and Public Health Impact.

#### Pharmacology

Pharmacology is the study of the nature, effects, and uses of drugs (Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction, 2017). The basic processes that pharmacology studies focus on are how drugs get into the body, what they do in the body, how they do it, and the ways in which the body breaks down and gets rid of them. In other words, how a drug interacts with the body and how the body interacts with the drug (Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction, 2017). The review of this category includes scientific evidence of the pharmacological effects of cannabis, if known, and the state of current scientific knowledge regarding cannabis.

#### Abuse

In 21 U.S.C. 802, the Controlled Substances Act refers to the assessment of "potential for abuse," "addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability," and "dependence," but does not define these terms. In 2017, the Food and Drug Administration issued a document titled "Assessment of Abuse Potential of Drugs," which defined drug abuse as "the intentional, non-therapeutic use of a drug product or substance, even once, to achieve a desired psychological or physiological effect (euphoria, hallucinations and other perceptual distortions, alterations in cognition, and changes in mood);" it defines potential of abuse as "the likelihood that abuse will occur with a particular drug product or substance with central nervous system (CNS) activity" (Food and Drug Administration, 2017). For brevity and simplicity, under this category we included a review of cannabis' "actual or relative potential for abuse," "its history and current pattern of abuse," and "the scope, duration, and significance of abuse."

#### Impact on Public Health

The impact of problem drugs on public health can be varied (Lo et al., 2020; WHO, 2019), involving domains such as heredity, biology, psychology, cognitive science, family, social development, and cultural structures (Lo et al., 2020). This report reviews the impact of cannabis both as a cause of negative outcomes, as well as its therapeutic potential. For brevity and simplicity, this category includes a review of whether cannabis is a "risk to the public health, if any," its "psychic or physiological dependence liability," and "whether it is an immediate precursor of a (another) substance already controlled" under the Controlled Substances Act.

#### Methods

Using the 2017 NASEM report as the starting point, the research team conducted a review of the prolific literature covering the wide range of topics and issues under study. To manage the review of such a vast amount of literature and make the report feasible and useful, the review included the following:

First, seminal publications and reports, published since 2016, referring to the three Controlled Substances Act factors under review were identified, including systematic reviews. This first step informed about the prevailing state of knowledge in the selected Controlled Substances Act factors, up until the date each publication was published.

This was followed by a review of primary research published since the seminal reviews were issued. In areas where no systematic review was identified, all relevant primary research published after August 2016 was reviewed.

In conducting the review, the following databases were searched: PsycInfo, PsycNET, Compendex, National Technical Information Service (NTIS), Web of Science, PubMed, Google Scholar, and the Transport Research International Documentation, RoSAP, as well as publications from professional associations and organizations (e.g., IIHS-HLDI, TIRF, GHSA, Responsibility.Org, NDAA, IACP), and U.S. and state government reports. Studies that covered the U.S. as well as any other country in which marijuana has been decriminalized and/or legalized were considered (e.g., Canada, Uruguay, and Thailand).

Multiple keywords were entered within relevant domains (e.g., impairment, decriminalization, legalization, risk perception, crash risk, law enforcement, toxicology, and prosecution) and subdomains (e.g., marijuana products, potency, cannabis detection), and applicable keywords to those domains and subdomains were searched using "AND" and "OR" operators. Additionally, forward and backward searching was conducted on related articles and reports identified in the citations listed that might have been missed in the initial database searches. Each article was reviewed by the research team to determine its relevance for this project. Irrelevant documents were excluded.

Next, the articles and documents were searched, focusing on specific domains:

• Within the "Pharmacological Effects" Controlled Substances Act category, the focus was how cannabis products work inside the human body to facilitate the description and understanding of the outcomes associated with cannabis products, whether detrimental or favorable.

- Within the "Actual or Relative Potential for Abuse" Controlled Substances Act category, the focus was short-term, acute effects as well as long-term effects of cannabis use, including factors associated with dependency and whether cannabis is a precursor for the abuse of other drugs.
- Within the "Impact on Public Health" Controlled Substances Act category, the focus was the impact of cannabis on the following outcomes: cancer, respiratory diseases, cardiovascular diseases, mental health, injuries (traffic safety–related and other injuries), as well as a review of miscellaneous outcomes such as oral health, renal function, and sexual behavior, among others.

It was clear that conducting a complete and comprehensive review of each one of the vast number of papers and studies associated with the use of cannabis would not be feasible for this study. As indicated, this challenge was met by focusing initially not on individual papers, but on systematic reviews of scientific importance published since 2016. The scientific relevancy of the reviews was identified by looking at the number of times the review was cited by other authors, including specific references to the reviews made by more recent publications. The number of citations naturally declined for reviews conducted in more recent years. In some novel research areas, less than a handful of reviews were published. In those cases, individual studies were reviewed.

#### **Challenges in Conducting Cannabis Research**

The results of this review highlight some of the complexities involved with cannabis research in the U.S. To a large extent, these complexities arise from important challenges researchers in the field have faced. This section lists some of the most common limitations in conducting cannabis research or in comparing outcomes across different studies.

- **Cannabis legal status.** Since cannabis is an illegal product, it is difficult for some researchers to study the drug in detail (NASEM, 2017).
- A large variety of cannabis products. The type of cannabis product, as well as the specific compounds that are consumed, can affect behavior and health outcomes. The lack of uniformity that exists in cannabis products makes it difficult to obtain consistent research outcomes (Dor, 2022).
- **Biphasic effect.** The evaluation of health-related impacts of cannabis is further complicated by the biphasic effect profiles associated with cannabis use (i.e., a low dose of cannabis may produce one effect—for example, a reduction in anxiety— while the opposite—increased anxiety—would take place at a high dose) (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018; NASEM, 2017).
- **Unclear frequency and chronicity of use.** The frequency and chronicity of use of a particular cannabinoid or combination of cannabinoids can also have an impact on health-related outcomes. (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018; NASEM, 2017).
- Beneficial/therapeutical effects may be temporary and/or hide deeper problems. Some research has reported therapeutic benefits among cannabis users with mental health problems; however, THC (like alcohol, stimulants, or opioids) can temporarily reduce pre-drug negative mood states (relief from negative emotional states such as depressed mood), providing an apparent immediate relief, but without resolving the underlying cause of mood disturbance. Apparent initial therapeutic effects may increase vulnerability to cannabis use and contribute to the development of substance use disorders among individuals with mental disorders (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018; NASEM, 2017; Klein & Clark, 2022).

- **Reverse causality.** Finding there is an association between cannabis and health outcomes does not necessarily mean that cannabis causes that outcome. For some health issues such as mental health outcome, cannabis can either be a source or a consequence of the disease (WHO, 2016; Hall and Pacula, 2010).
- **Uncontrolled and unmeasured factors.** The presence of confounding factors can bias cannabis research (e.g., tobacco use among cannabis smokers) (Hall and Pacula, 2010; NASEM, 2017; Blest-Hopley et al., 2020; WHO, 2016).
- **Unaccounted differences in THC:CBD ratio among the products under study.** The discrepancy in findings from memory-related studies may be associated with differences in the THC:CBD ratios of the products used in those studies (Mechoulam et al., 2002).

# Results

The following sections summarize key findings from the review, which are presented by (a) their relevancy to the Controlled Substances Act factors under review and (b) subcategories within each Controlled Substances Act factor, as follows:

- <u>Cannabis Pharmacology</u>
- <u>Cannabis Potential for Abuse</u>
- Impact on Public Health

# **Cannabis Pharmacology**

Cannabinoids act primarily through the endogenous cannabinoid system (ECS): a vast network of chemical signals and cellular receptors located throughout the brain and body, which regulates many critical tasks and functions such as learning, memory, emotional processing, sleep, pain control, and immune responses (Bridgeman & Abazia, 2017; Piscura et al., 2023).

The ECS is stimulated by endocannabinoids, molecules produced by the human body that share structural similarity with molecules in the cannabis plant called phytocannabinoids (WHO, 2016; Borodovsky & Budney, 2018; Piscura et al., 2023).

Two receptors are particularly relevant to the metabolism of cannabis: CB1 and CB2:

- CB1 receptors are primarily in the brain, largely concentrated in regions involved in memory, emotional responses, cognition, motivation, and motor coordination (Piscura et al., 2023; WHO, 2016).
- CB2 receptors are found primarily in the body. They play a role in the regulation of the immune system and act on the gastrointestinal tract, liver, heart, muscle, skin, and reproductive organs (WHO, 2016).
- Recent research also indicates that in addition to acting on CB1 and CB2 receptors, THC and CBD can also interact with other receptors activated by the ECS. The possibility that the interaction between cannabis and non-CB receptors may play a role in cannabis' addictive behaviors. Further research on this topic is needed (Pintori et al., 2023).

#### ТНС

THC, the main cannabinoid with psychoactive properties, binds to the CB1 receptor to exert its psychoactive effect. Research has found that acute administration of THC is reinforcing in humans regardless of whether or not CBD is co-administered. Also, CB1 receptor antagonists have been found to precipitate withdrawal in mice that have been exposed to THC (Schlag et al., 2021).

#### **CBD**

Unlike THC, CBD has a low affinity for the CB1 receptor. Further, CBD appears to be a negative allosteric modulator of CB1 (i.e., it slows or inhibits the binding of THC components to CB1). Subsequently, CBD does not produce acute intoxication, has been proven to treat refractory epileptic syndromes in children, and may have anti-inflammatory, anxiolytic, and antipsychotic indications (Bridgeman & Abazia, 2017; Pennypacker et al., 2022; Hidding et al., 2023).

#### Synthetic Cannabinoids

Synthetic cannabinoids, also called synthetic cannabinoid receptor agonists (SCRAs), are non-phytocannabinoid or endocannabinoid agonists for CB1 and/or CB2 (Breivogel & Pulgar, 2023; NASEM, 2017).

SCRAs also bind to CB1 and/or CB2 cannabinoid receptors. They were originally developed as research tools aimed at investigating the endogenous cannabinoid system and/or to develop potential clinical therapies (Piscura et al., 2023). Like phytocannabinoids, SCRAs are also lipophilic compounds that show pharmacokinetic properties typical of lipophilic drugs (Piscura et al., 2023).

Compared with THC, the majority of SCRAs are highly potent, binding with a 10 to 100 times higher binding affinity at the CB1 receptor (Piscura et al., 2023).

The set of SCRAs is a constantly evolving subset of compounds that have undergone several changes over time (Amaral et al., 2023; Piscura et al., 2023).

#### **Routes of Administration**

The route by which cannabis is used can impact the onset, intensity, and the addictive potential and negative consequences associated with use (Bridgeman & Abazia, 2017; Kluemper, 2022; NASEM, 2017). Although smoked cannabis tends to produce greater effects immediately, edibles tend to produce greater delayed effects (Okey, 2023; Kluemper, 2022; NASEM, 2017).

**Smoking.** Overall, THC is rapidly transferred from lungs to the blood during smoking, with the effects of smoking cannabis reaching their maximum after 15 to 30 minutes and typically disappearing within 2 to 3 ½ hours (Bridgeman & Abazia, 2017); however, there is a high intersubject variability due in part to variations in factors such as duration of intake, inhalation volume, inhalation device, and performance level on the task at hand (Preteroti et al., 2023). In their review of the literature, McCartney and colleagues (2021) reported that the impact of inhaled cannabis on some driving tasks may last 5 hours or more, depending on the THC dose and other factors.

**Vaping.** Cannabis vaping onset, peak, and duration are similar to those of smoking cannabis (NASEM, 2017). Vaping is increasingly prevalent among young adults, particularly in states with

RMLs (Harrell et al., 2022). In their 2022 review, Harrell and colleagues (2022) reported that despite its increase in use, cannabis vaping is still less prevalent than nicotine vaping. Because vaporization tends to provide effects similar to smoking, but with a reduced exposure to the byproducts of combustion, it was suggested that compared with smoking cannabis, vaping may have some benefits (Bridgeman & Abazia, 2017; Fischer et al., 2022; Preteroti et al., 2023); however, there are different types of vaporization devices and products, carrying different levels of risk (MacCallum et al., 2023; NASEM, 2017). Research on the alleged positives and negatives of vaping is lacking. Almost nothing is known about the long-term impact of vaporized cannabis on the respiratory system and the possibility of the downstream development of lung diseases (Preteroti et al., 2023).

**Oral Ingestion.** Orally ingested cannabis has an initial pass in the liver, which reduces the effective dose compared to inhalation (Kluemper, 2022). Following oral ingestion, psychotropic effects manifest within 30 to 120 minutes, reach their maximum effect after 2 to 3 hours, and last for about 4 to 12 hours, depending on the dose (Bridgeman & Abazia, 2017; NASEM, 2017). Edibles have been associated with the ingestion of excessive amounts of cannabis as well as with elevated rates of pediatric injuries (NASEM, 2017).

#### Distribution, Accumulation, and Half-Life

The majority of cannabinoids are very lipophilic compounds that readily distribute into the brain and adipose tissue (Kluemper, 2022). THC and CBD have a half-life (i.e., the time required for the concentration of the drug to reach half of its original value) that is biphasic (i.e., the curve that the drug concentration follows presents two separate parts, a steep portion and a shallow portion of the curve) (Preteroti et al., 2023). The initial phase distributes THC to highly vascularized tissues, such as the lungs, heart, brain, and liver. After being absorbed, cannabinoids distribute to less vascularized tissues (e.g., adipose tissue) where they accumulate and are subsequently released. The release of cannabinoids from adipose tissue can take place for weeks after consumption (Preteroti et al., 2023; Kluemper, 2022).

The route of administration affects cannabis pharmacology. After oral intake, THC goes to the liver where it is metabolized into 11-hydroxy-THC (psychoactive) and then into 11-COOH-THC (not psychoactive), or is eliminated. Although 11-hydroxy-THC can be formed after consumption of THC from inhalation (vaping, smoking) as well as from oral use (by mouth, edible, sublingual), levels of 11-hydroxy-THC are typically higher when eaten compared to inhalation (Huestis et al., 1992). After inhalation, THC enters the bloodstream quickly through the lungs, with the peak blood concentration achieved within 6 to 10 minutes after inhalation (Chayasirisobhon, 2020). As a result, peak THC concentrations are lower after oral than smoked administration, but conversely 11-hydroxy-THC/THC ratios are higher after oral than smoked cannabis (Schwilke et al., 2009).

Regarding cannabis half-life, THC has an initial and brief half-life of 4 hours (the steep part of the curve), and a terminal half-life of 25 to 36 hours (the shallow part of the curve). CBD has an initial half-life of 1–2 hours and a terminal half-life of 18 to 32 hours (Preteroti et al., 2023)

Cannabinoids and their metabolites eventually are eliminated in the urine and feces, a process that that can be prolonged due to the highly lipophilic nature of cannabinoids (Kluemper, 2022). Chronic users redistribute inactive metabolites from adipose tissue into blood and urine, which is the underlying reason for positive urine drug screens weeks after last use and prolonged half-lives of different compounds (Kluemper, 2022).

#### Cannabis Used in Conjunction with Alcohol

The combined use of cannabis and alcohol may result in greater psychoactive toxicity than either substance alone.

Heavy alcohol and cannabis use during adolescence can contribute from small to moderate disruptions in brain structure and function (Lees et al., 2021); however, the underlying mechanisms behind this outcome remain unclear (Zou et al., 2022).

Both cannabis and alcohol have been shown to interact through the ECS (Wolfe et al., 2022); however, although cannabinoids primarily act via the ECS, ethanol interacts with a variety of different molecular substrates that act on a variety of neurochemical processes (Wolfe et al., 2022).

Besides the psychoactive toxicity of a combined alcohol and cannabis use, researchers have posited that cannabis could be used to treat individuals with alcohol use disorders; however, research on this possibility is lacking (Wolfe et al., 2022; Gendy et al., 2023).

#### Cannabis Used in Conjunction with Tobacco

Very little is known about the pharmacology of combined use of nicotine and cannabis. Tobacco smoking has been associated with lower CB1 receptor levels, which suggests that tobacco smokers may be less sensitive to the effects of THC (Nasrin et al., 2023; Hindley et al., 2020). Recent research showed that CBD and its active metabolite have an inhibitory effect on nicotine (Nasrin et al., 2023).

Although research suggests cannabis and tobacco could each be used to counter the effects of the other, more research is needed before any therapeutic recommendation can be formulated (Hindley et al., 2020).

#### **Cannabis Potential for Abuse**

Cannabis use can have acute (short-term) as well as chronic (long-term) effects on human health. According to the WHO (2016): "The short-term effects of cannabis use are those that can occur shortly after a single occasion of use; while long-term health effects are those that arise from regular cannabis use—especially daily use—over periods of months, years or decades."

#### Acute Effects

Although there is wide inter-individual variation, cannabis can produce a range of acute dose-dependent effects, including intoxication, euphoria, memory impairment, psychotomimetic effects (i.e., production of symptoms that are similar to those of psychosis), anxiogenic effects (causes anxiety), attention deficits, and tachycardia (elevated heart rate) (Lawn et al., 2023). As described in the 2017 NASEM report, acute cannabis intoxication has been associated with enhanced sensitivity to colors and/or music, altered perception of time, decrease in short-term memory, dry mouth, impaired perception, and impaired motor skills (NASEM, 2017). Cannabis can impair memory, attention, and psychomotor functions, although the most robust effects were reported for verbal learning and working memory (Wickens et al., 2022).

Although the risk of death due to cannabis overdose is extremely small compared to the risks of opioid and stimulant drug overdoses, this risk increases when it occurs conjointly with traumatic physical injury, or in individuals with cardiac pathologies. (WHO, 2016; Rock et al., 2022).

#### **Chronic Effects**

Daily consumption of cannabis (THC) can produce persistent chronic impairments in memory and cognition, particularly when cannabis use begins in adolescence. It has been suggested that these effects arise because daily use of cannabis can reduce the number of CB1 receptors over time (WHO, 2016).

The 2017 NASEM study reported that there is substantial evidence that frequent cannabis users are more likely to develop schizophrenia or other psychoses and moderate evidence of a small increase in the risk for developing depressive disorders and social anxiety disorder (NASEM, 2017).

The majority of research conducted on the long-term impact of cannabis on human health has focused on THC. Very few studies looked at long-term effects associated with CBD. The few studies that looked at repeated CBD administration do not report tolerance development (i.e., the need for higher doses to achieve a therapeutic effect over time). Further, CBD does not appear to be converted to THC in humans (Kluemper, 2022).

#### Dependence

The Food and Drug Administration (2017) defines "physical dependence" as *"a state that develops as a result of physiological adaptation in response to repeated drug use, manifested by withdrawal signs and symptoms after abrupt discontinuation or a significant dose reduction of a drug."* The Food and Drug Administration (2017) defines "psychological (or psychic) dependence" as *"a state in which individuals have impaired control over drug use based on the rewarding properties of the drug (ability to produce positive sensations that increase the likelihood of drug use) or the psychological distress produced in the absence of the drug."* 

The factors described below have been associated with progression to dependence on cannabis.

**Potency.** Over the past four decades cannabis potency (its percentage of THC) has on average doubled worldwide (Hall & Lynskey, 2020; WHO, 2016; Englund et al., 2017; NASEM, 2017). Consumption of high-potency cannabis has been associated with depression and anxiety, but the effect and the evidence is weak (Petrilli et al., 2023). The evidence is stronger for an association between the consumption of high-potency cannabis and greater adverse psychological outcomes and dependence (Englund et al., 2017; Smart et al., 2017; Petrilli et al., 2023; Schlag et al., 2021; NASEM, 2017). The 2017 NASEM study, as well as more recent reviews, report that individuals who use higher potency cannabis are more likely to be diagnosed with a psychotic disorder<sup>2</sup> and/or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The National Institute of Mental Health refers to psychosis as a collection of symptoms that affect the mind, where there has been some loss of contact with reality. Behavioral signs for psychosis may include among others: Suspiciousness, paranoid ideas, or uneasiness with others; trouble thinking clearly and logically; withdrawing socially and spending a lot more time alone; decline in self-care or personal hygiene; disruption of sleep, including difficulty falling asleep and

have a relapse compared with those who have never used cannabis (NASEM, 2017; Petrilli et al., 2023). On the other hand, the association with psychotic disorders was not usually found to be significant among users of low potency cannabis (Petrilli et al., 2023).

**Co-morbid Presence of Various Psychological and Mental Health Factors.** Progression to cannabis dependence is related to factors such as intensive use of cannabis and early onset of use. Contributors to the progression to dependence also include psychological and mental health factors such as low self-esteem, self-control, and coping skills. Cannabis dependence tends to occur more often among individuals who report any lifetime psychiatric, mood, anxiety, conduct, and/or personality disorder; as well as those with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Hall & Lynskey, 2020; WHO, 2016; Schlag et al., 2021; NASEM, 2017).

**Heavy Use and Early Onset.** The 2017 NASEM study reported that the rate for developing cannabis dependence one year after onset of use was about 4 percent (NASEM, 2017). As indicated, the risk of cannabis dependence increases with the use of high-potency cannabis strains, heavy amounts consumed, high-frequency use (heavy, daily), and early onset of that use, starting in adolescence (Schlag et al., 2021).

Some researchers, however, have questioned the strength of these findings, arguing that research often ignores potentially confounding factors such as genetic predispositions and environmental factors (e.g., family history, socio-cultural-economic status, and past life-experiences), as well as polysubstance abuse. Failure to account for these factors weakens the examination of the long-term causality hypothesis (Pintori et al., 2023).

#### **Flavored Products**

As previously mentioned, flavored cannabis is becoming increasingly popular in the U.S. (Watkins et al., 2023; Chaffee et al., 2023) and it has been posited that flavors in inhaled cannabis products may contribute to cannabis initiation and/or dependence (Watkins et al., 2023); however, evidence for such association is unclear (Glasser et al., 2022).

#### THC:CBD Ratio

Altogether, CBD seems to dampen the deleterious cognitive effects of THC exposure, suggesting that cannabis with a relatively low THC:CBD ratio may be less likely to have adverse effects than cannabis with a high THC:CBD ratio; however, the evidence is mixed (Englund et al., 2023; Pintori et al., 2023). Some studies found that while high doses of CBD may reduce the deleterious properties of THC, low doses of CBD could potentiate THC's intoxicating effects (Solowij et al., 2019; Pintori et al., 2023).

reduced sleep time; emotional disruption; anxiety; lack of motivation; and/or difficulty functioning overall (National Institute of Mental Health, 2023).

#### **Polysubstance**

Polysubstance use is common among cannabis users (Hasin & Walsh, 2020). Cannabis is the most commonly used drug among those who use alcohol (Hasin & Walsh, 2020; Gorfinkel et al., 2021; De Aquino et al., 2019).

#### Cannabis as a Gateway Drug

Almost 50 years ago cannabis was proposed to be a "gateway drug" for alcohol, tobacco, and other illicit drugs (Kandel, 1975); however, the 2017 NASEM report, as well as more recent reviews, found no evidence in support of the gateway hypothesis (Sabia et al., 2021; Jorgensen and Wells, 2021; NASEM, 2017). Although some sequencing in drug use may exist, sequencing does not imply causality. And although there is an association between marijuana use and hard drug use, this can largely be explained by other factors (Jorgensen and Wells, 2021).

Recent studies not only reject the gateway hypothesis but indicate that cannabis initiation before the onset of tobacco and/or alcohol use is rare (Cho et al., 2021; Cohn & Elmasry, 2023). Using data from the Population Assessment of Tobacco and Health study, Cohn and Elmasry (2023) recently reported that cannabis initiation occurring before alcohol or tobacco use was uncommon (6%) and not more prevalent than trying either alcohol or tobacco first, with alcohol use often tried before cannabis or tobacco.

Not only there is little evidence in support of an association between cannabis and other drugs' initiation, but also regarding other drug use in general. The 2017 NASEM report concluded that evidence that cannabis use changes the use and patterns of use of other substances is limited (NASEM, 2017).

Stronger (moderate) is the association between cannabis use and the development of substance dependence and/or a substance abuse disorder for alcohol, tobacco, and other illicit drugs (NASEM, 2017). Recent reviews report that individuals with cannabis use disorders (CUD)<sup>3</sup> often also show alcohol use disorders, opioid use disorders, and/or nicotine dependence (Hasin & Walsh, 2020; Gorfinkel et al., 2021; De Aquino et al., 2019).

#### RMLs and Polysubstance Use

A recent review by Farrelly and colleagues (2023) reported that studies examining the association between RMLs and concurrent cannabis and alcohol use showed inconsistent and/or contradictory results. The review reported that the evidence for an association between RMLs and tobacco use is even more limited than that for RMLs and concurrent cannabis and alcohol use (Farrelly et al., 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> According to WHO (2016), cannabis-use disorders refer to a spectrum of clinically relevant conditions and are defined via psychological, social, and physiological criteria to document adverse consequences, loss of control over use, and withdrawal symptoms. Cannabis-use disorders are defined in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (APA, 2013) and in the International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems (ICD-10; WHO, 1992). ICD-10 distinguishes between harmful and dependent use of cannabis, while in DSM-5 cannabis-use disorders are classified by the severity of health impairments into mild, moderate, and severe disorders.

#### Tolerance

As reviewed by Ansell and colleagues (2023), the frequency of cannabis use can have an impact on the ECS, including the downregulation of CB1 receptors (Curran et al., 2016; Ramaekers et al., 2009). Frequent use of cannabis may lead to tolerance of the impairing effects of THC on cognition and psychomotor function (Ansell et al., 2023). Some frequent cannabis users may not develop tolerance at all, or develop it only for some performance domains (Colizzi and Bhattacharyya, 2018).

Recent work has revealed prominent sex differences in the acute response and tolerance of cannabinoids in both humans and animal models (Piscura et al., 2023), with females developing tolerance of the pain-relieving effects of THC more readily than males (Matheson & Le Foll, 2023; Cooper & Craft, 2018).

**Tolerance Breaks.** A tolerance break, or T-break, has been proposed as a strategy for managing cannabis use. A T-break generally involves a self-directed process of abstaining from cannabis for a predetermined amount of time. Unlike attempts to quit, T-breaks are generally done without the desire to quit, with the primary goal of reducing tolerance levels so that a smaller amount of cannabis would be needed to achieve the same high when cannabis use is resumed (Fontana et al., 2022; Ansell et al., 2023). A recent review of online sites serving cannabis users found that the recommended length of time for the T-breaks varies considerably (from 2 to 4 weeks), although no sound scientific basis exists for these durations (Ansell et al., 2023). There is a dearth of scientific research on the topic. Furthermore, for some cannabis users, taking a T-break may be a marker of increased risk for problematic outcomes (Ansell et al., 2023).

#### Potential for Abuse Among Population Subgroups

**Racial/Ethnic Minorities.** The 2017 NASEM study reported differences in the prevalence of cannabis use in the U.S. across racial/ethnic groups, with Black Americans having the highest rate of cannabis use (10.7%), followed by non-Hispanic whites (8.4%) and Hispanics (7.2%) (NASEM, 2017). These figures changed after the enactment of RMLs, particularly among Hispanics and non-Hispanic whites, and among those aged 21 years or more (Martins et al., 2021). Despite differences in prevalence, research is unclear on whether cannabis-related risk and/or the presence of protective factors varies across racial/ethnic groups. (Stoa, 2022; Rafei et al., 2023).

One of the motivations for cannabis legalization was to reduce racial inequalities regarding the disproportionate incidence of arrests and convictions of minorities for cannabis-related charges. Although arrests for cannabis-related offenses have declined since multiple states have legalized marijuana, that may not be the case with convictions and incarcerations. Overall, it is too early to assess the wider impact of legalization on racial/ethnic minorities. (Hall & Lynskey, 2020; Kavousi et al., 2022; Stoa, 2022; Rafei et al., 2023).

**Older Adults.** The 2017 NESAM report concluded that there was no sound evidence linking older age with a risk or a protective factor for developing problem cannabis use (NASEM, 2017). Following the trend towards legalization of cannabis in multiple states, there has been an increase in its use among individuals ages 50+, mainly due to a combination of medical and quasi-medical reasons (Wolfe et al., 2023; Hall & Lynskey, 2020). Although cannabis use may help individuals with medical problems (e.g., to assist with sleep, control pain, stimulate appetite), compared with younger individuals, older users may be at a higher risk of some adverse health effects, such as car

crashes, confusion, dizziness, falls, and delirium. As a result, the benefit/risk ratio that cannabis poses for older users remains unclear (Hall & Lynskey, 2020; Riggs & Thant, 2022).

**Sex.** Animal and human evidence indicates that compared with males, female use of cannabis is associated with the reinforcing and/or rewarding effects of cannabis at lower doses, which in combination with a faster development of tolerance could lead to rapid escalation of cannabis problems among individuals assigned female at birth (Matheson & Le Foll, 2023). That said, sex-related biological influences on responses to cannabis are still not fully understood. Furthermore, sociocultural factors may also play a significant role in determining trajectories of cannabis use (Matheson & Le Foll, 2023; Cooper & Craft, 2018). The 2017 NASEM report reported that in the U.S., males were about twice as likely (10.6%) to use cannabis as females (NASEM, 2017).

#### **Impact on Public Health**

This section summarizes the extant scientific knowledge on the association between cannabis use and health outcomes.

#### Cancer

Research has shown that cannabinoids can have both anticancer as well as pro-tumorigenic effects.

**Respiratory Cancers.** Laboratory-based research suggested that like cigarette smoking, cannabis smoking could be associated with cancers of the lung and the upper aerodigestive tract (de Groot et al., 2018). Despite this concern, most epidemiological studies have failed to clearly demonstrate a causality between cannabis use and cancer of the lung, yielding mixed results (WHO, 2016; Ghasemiesfe et al., 2019; de Groot et al., 2018; Thandra et al., 2021; NASEM, 2017). The 2017 NASEM review concluded that overall, there was moderate evidence suggesting no association between cannabis smoking and the incidence of lung cancer (NASEM, 2017).

The failure of epidemiological studies to yield a clear assessment of risk could have been attributed to methodological research limitations (de Groot et al., 2018), such as difficulties in getting a proper population control (e.g., by only examining cancer patients) (WHO, 2016); by failing to clearly document participants' exposure to cannabis and/or failing to control for tobacco use and other confounding effects (Hall and MacPhee, 2002; de Groot et al., 2018; Ghasemiesfe et al., 2019; NASEM, 2017).

**Other Upper Aerodigestive Tract Cancers (Head and Neck).** The evidence regarding the association between cannabis use and the risk of head and neck cancer has also lack consistency (Hall & Lynskey, 2020; WHO, 2016), with some of the studies reviewed by the WHO in 2016 reporting an increasing risk (e.g., (Zhang et al., 2015), others a reduction in risk (e.g., (Liang et al., 2009), and others no association at all (e.g., (Aldington et al., 2008). As with respiratory cancer, the 2017 NASEM review concluded that overall, there was moderate evidence suggesting no association between cannabis use and the incidence of head and neck cancers (NASEM, 2017).

In a review conducted by Ghasemiesfe and collegues (2019), the authors concluded that either the evidence reported by most of the studies was insufficient for a clear interpretation of results, or the study showed a moderate-to-high level of methodological problems.

**Bladder Cancer.** Experimental research has suggested that THC can interact and exhibit cytotoxic activity<sup>4</sup> against bladder cancer (Anis et al., 2021), and that THC *"can potentially exert synergistic effects when combined with other agents"* (Whynot et al., 2023); however, as with respiratory cancer and head and neck cancer, the 2017 NASEM review concluded that the moderate evidence available suggested no association between cannabis use and the incidence of bladder cancer (NASEM, 2017). So far, the limited research on the subject has shown contradictory findings (Mehrnoush et al., 2022; Thomson et al., 2023).

**Brain Cancer.** The 2017 NASEM review reported that there was no evidence for an association between cannabis use and the incidence of glioma (a type of brain tumor), or of an association between parental cannabis use and the incidence of neuroblastoma in their children (NASEM, 2017). On the other hand, reviews by Ghasemiesfe and colleagues (2019) and very recently by Chandy and colleagues (2024), identified two studies reporting an association between monthly cannabis smoking and the development of glioma, but the studies were either hampered by methodological constraints and/or in need of further research (Ghasemiesfe et al., 2019; Chandy et al., 2024).

**Skin Cancer.** The 2017 NASEM review reported that there was no evidence for an association between cannabis use and the incidence of Kaposi sarcoma, a type of skin cancer (NASEM, 2017). In their review, Ghasemiesfe and colleagues (2019) noted that a prospective study published in 2009 found that marijuana use among HIV-infected white men was associated with a risk for developing Kaposi sarcoma (Chao et al., 2009); however, Ghasemiesfe and colleagues (2019) pointed out that the study failed to account for the level of exposure to cannabis, or to report separately for marijuana-only smokers.

**Testicular Germ Cell Tumor (TGCT).** The 2017 NASEM review reported that there was limited evidence for an association between cannabis use and the incidence of TGCT (NASEM, 2017). The reviews by WHO (2016) and Hall and Lynskey (2020) reported moderate evidence of an association between cannabis use and testicular cancer. Studies reviewed by the WHO in 2016 reported estimated odds ratios for cannabis users between 1.7 and 2.3, (Daling et al., 2009; Lacson et al., 2012; Trabert et al., 2011). In a more recent review, the authors reported evidence of an association between TGCT and cannabis, but only among individuals with more than 10 years of marijuana use (Ghasemiesfe et al., 2019). The Ghasemiesfe et al. (2019) review indicated a higher confidence for the outcome of TGCT studies than for other cancer-related studies. A reason for such a relatively high confidence level is that, since tobacco use is not known to be associated with the occurrence of testicular cancer, no potential confounding by tobacco smoking had confounded the TGCT research.

**Other Cancers.** A few studies examined whether there is an association between marijuana ever use and breast cancer, colorectal cancer, melanoma, and non-Hodgkin lymphoma (Ghasemiesfe et al., 2019). These studies failed to detect any of these associations; however, methodological concerns limit interpretation of these studies (Ghasemiesfe et al., 2019).

**Cannabis Antitumor Properties.** The 2017 NASEM review reported that although cannabinoids have been found to have anticancer activity in cell lines and animal models, there is some evidence for the possibility that cannabinoids can be an effective treatment for cancers, although the evidence was limited (NASEM, 2017). A recent review by Hanganu and colleagues

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Cytotoxic denotes a substance or process that can damage cells.

(2022) reiterated the need for well-designed human studies to investigate the efficacy and safety of using cannabinoids for treating cancers. The review pointed out that "the anticancer properties of cannabis must be balanced against their immunosuppressive properties, which may have pro-tumorigenic effects." A similar warning was reported by Guggisberg and colleagues (2022, 24) in their recent review: "...most published, peer-reviewed case reports provide insufficient data to support the claim for cannabis as an anticancer agent, and should not be used in place of evidence-based, traditional treatments outside of a clinical trial."

#### Respiratory Diseases (Other Than Cancer)

Similarities between the process of smoking cannabis and tobacco (i.e., both processes involve the inhalation of the desired biologically active compounds along with toxic combustion products) raised concern for the acute impact of cannabis smoking on the development of diseases that have already been associated with tobacco use, such as airway inflammation, chronic bronchitis, or emphysema (Tashkin & Roth, 2019).

Some differences in the effects of tobacco and cannabis on health have been established however. For instance, while tobacco smoking produces acute bronchial constriction, cannabis smoking causes acute bronchial dilation, depending on the dose of THC (NASEM, 2017; WHO, 2016). The association between chronic respiratory symptoms and regular smoking of cannabis is less clear (Tashkin & Roth, 2019).

**Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD).** COPD, the fourth-leading cause of death worldwide, is a progressive disease that is known to produce decreases in lung function among tobacco smokers (WHO, 2016; NASEM, 2017). Studies focusing on cannabis smoking as a cause of COPD found that although cannabis smokers do tend to display symptoms linked with COPD, such as cough, sputum, and wheezing, it is unclear whether cannabis smokers are at a higher risk of COPD than non-smokers of cannabis. Such a lack of clarity is largely due to methodological research limitations (WHO, 2016; Martinasek et al., 2016; Hall & Lynskey, 2020; NASEM, 2017; Tashkin & Roth, 2019; Preteroti et al., 2023).

**Asthma.** Asthma is a respiratory disease sharing many similarities with COPD. Like with COPD, there is no clear evidence for an association between cannabis use and either asthma risk or asthma exacerbations, largely also due to methodological limitations, such as failure to control for important confounders such as adherence to the use of asthma medications (NASEM, 2017; Preteroti et al., 2023).

**Lung Infections.** Cannabis smoking can affect the function of key immune cells participating in the lung's defense against infection. This has raised concern that cannabis smokers could be at an elevated risk of developing primary infections (pneumonia), particularly when using cannabis products containing impurities (WHO, 2016; Preteroti et al., 2023); however, the 2017 NASEM review reported there was no evidence for an association between cannabis use and adverse immune responses in healthy individuals (NASEM, 2017). Cases of bullous lung disease (pathologically enlarged air spaces in the lung) have been reported among cannabis smokers (WHO, 2016); however, methodological limitations have also precluded assessing causality from these reports (Tashkin & Roth, 2019). Research on this issue is still lacking (Preteroti et al., 2023).

**Electronic Cigarette, or Vaping Product Use-Associated Lung Injury.** As indicated, it was suggested that when compared with smoking cannabis, vaping cannabis may present some benefits. In 2019 however, a surge in cases observed among e-cigarette or vape users presenting

symptoms such as dyspnea, cough, fever, constitutional symptoms, gastrointestinal upset, and hemoptysis<sup>5</sup> was observed. This symptomatology was termed Electronic cigarette, or Vaping product use-<u>A</u>ssociated <u>Lung Injury</u>, or EVALI for short (Soto et al., 2023). It was found that EVALI occurrence was linked with the liquid used in the vaporization process (the e-liquid), which typically contains ingredients such as psychoactive agents (e.g., nicotine, THC), solvents, and flavoring compounds, all ingredients with potential health risks (e.g., toxic/chemical induced lung injury) either alone or in combination. The addition of Vitamin E acetate (a thickening agent for THC) to the e-liquid has been a major contributor to the EVALI risk (Overbeek et al., 2020). In their review, Harrell and colleagues (2022) pointed out that being young, cannabis vaping, higher frequency of cannabis vaping, and obtaining products from informal sources were risk factors for EVALI. Unfortunately, a clear understanding of EVALI risk is lacking. For instance, a study by Boakye and colleagues (2022) reported that state-level cannabis vaping prevalence was not positively associated with the incidence of EVALI. Research on this issue has been challenged by difficulties with the identification of the sources of THC (with informal sources associated with an elevated risk of EVALI) and because different cannabis vaporization devices and products carry different levels of health risk (MacCallum et al., 2023).

**Secondhand Smoking.** Research has established that there is a close relationship between second-hand tobacco smoke and negative health outcomes. Subsequently, there is concern that second-hand cannabis smoking may also have a negative impact on individuals' health (Goodwin et al., 2023; McKee et al., 2018). Concern is particularly high for children, where accidental exposures to cannabis are increasing (Riggs & Thant, 2022). Unfortunately, research on the impact of second-hand cannabis smoking on individuals' health has been lacking.

Among the few recent studies using the Adolescent Brain Cognitive Development (ABCD) Study, Wade and colleagues (2023) examined the impact of second-hand cannabis exposure on cognitive performance in children ages 10 to 13 years old. They reported that secondhand cannabis was not related to cognition after controlling for sociodemographic factors.

# Children and the Accidental Ingestion of Cannabis

The 2017 NASEM review pointed out that the increasing availability, diversity, and potency of cannabis products have elevated the drug's potential for accidental injuries and death. Indeed, children's accidental exposure to cannabis is increasing (Riggs & Thant, 2022). The 2017 NASEM review reported that the accidental ingestion of cannabis by young children can result in respiratory failure and coma (NASEM, 2017). Recent data also indicate that hospitalizations of children after cannabis ingestion are typically brief and according to a 2022 review, deaths have not been reported (Riggs & Thant, 2022).

# **Cardiovascular Diseases**

**Tachycardia (Elevated Heart Rate).** The CB1 and CB2 cannabinoid receptors are both found in the cardiovascular system. Cannabis (THC) use can produce rapid changes in cardiovascular function (e.g., an increase followed by a decrease in heart rate), as well as changes in vascular contractility (ability of the heart muscle to contract), but the effects are generally mild and not life-threatening (Pabon et al., 2022). These symptoms have been reported largely in heavy daily

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Hemoptysis is when blood is coughed up from the lungs.

cannabis smokers but may be less pronounced among young individuals. Studies conducted in controlled settings showed that young users of cannabis can develop tolerance to the tachycardia effects within 2 to 4 weeks of cannabis use (WHO, 2016). Recent research has also shown that symptomatic tachy- and brady-arrhythmias<sup>6</sup> can appear among cancer patients using cannabis (Laish-Farkash et al., 2023). Although laboratory and retrospective analyses have found evidence suggesting that cannabis may have a negative impact on the cardiovascular system, prospective clinical data has not confirmed these suggested findings (Ghosh and Naderi, 2019).

**Myocardial Infarction.** Early research suggested that harmful cardiovascular effects occurred only in people with pre-existing heart disease. The 2017 NASEM report concluded that there was limited evidence of an association between cannabis use and the occurrence of acute myocardial infarction (NASEM, 2017).

More recent research, however, reported on case studies showing that acute exposure to cannabis, even by young healthy people, may lead to myocardial infarction, stroke, and other severe cardiovascular events (Weresa et al., 2022; Hall & Lynskey, 2020). Despite these case studies, reports based on large national databases as well as cohort-based studies show conflicting results, largely due to methodological limitations (Theerasuwipakorn et al., 2023). A recent meta-analysis of 20 studies and over 183 million patients conducted by Theerasuwipakorn and colleagues (2023) found that cannabis use failed to predict a major cardiovascular adverse event. Nevertheless, the authors warned about the soundness of these findings and reiterated the need for clarifying research.

**Secondhand Smoking and Cardiovascular Disease.** Laboratory studies have suggested that like secondhand tobacco use, secondhand cannabis smoking may have an impact on vascular endothelial function<sup>7</sup> (WHO, 2016); however, despite this biological plausibility, epidemiologic evidence remains unclear (Middlekauff et al., 2022).

**Stroke.** The 2017 NASEM review reported that the association between cannabis use and the incidence of stroke was unclear (NASEM, 2017). Some research indicated that cannabis-associated strokes tended to occur mainly among chronic cannabis users, or when cannabis users also smoked tobacco (WHO, 2016). More recent research reports that the cannabis-stroke causality is still unclear (Ochoa, 2021; Pérez-Neri et al., 2023).

On the other hand, it has been suggested that cannabinoid activation of the CB1 receptor may trigger a neuroprotective effect, albeit this suggestion has been debated and needs evaluation (Pérez-Neri et al., 2023).

#### Mental Health

**Cannabis-Use Disorders.** The 2017 NASEM review reported that early onset of cannabis use as well as frequent use of cannabis increase the likelihood an individual can develop CUDs (NASEM, 2017). Compared with individuals with no CUDs, those with past-year or lifetime CUDs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Tachyarrhythmias are irregular heart rhythms that cause the heart to beat faster than the normal resting rate, while bradyarrhythmias are slower than typical.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The endothelium intervenes in the regulation of blood fluidity and platelet aggregation, as well as in immunology processes.

can be at a higher risk of psychosis, mood disorders, anxiety disorders, and personality disorders, although the association between CUDs and other disorders is unclear (Hasin & Walsh, 2020).

**Depression.** Activation of the CB1 receptor by cannabinoids may have an impact on individuals' moods. Cannabis users commonly report that they use cannabis to help with their depression; however, some longitudinal studies indicated that cannabis use (particularly heavy cannabis use) was associated with increased risk for subsequently developing depression. The 2017 NASEM review reported that cannabis use did not appear to increase the likelihood of developing depression, anxiety, and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (NASEM, 2017).

The direction of the cannabis-depression relationship is unclear, with opposite causal directions being possible (i.e., having a major depressive disorder increasing the risk of cannabis initiation, and vice versa) (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018). Unfortunately, the cannabis use–depression relationship is hard to assess, for it is usually mediated by associations with other substance use disorders (Blanco et al., 2016). Although research on the impact of cannabis on depression is equivocal, cannabis use has been more often associated with an increased, rather than decreased risk of depression (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018).

**Anxiety.**<sup>8</sup> Cannabis use can elicit acute episodes of intense anxiety as well as exacerbate symptoms of anxiety among those with an anxiety disorder (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018). Together with panic attacks and agoraphobia, anxiety is one of the most commonly acute symptoms linked to the use of cannabis (Padoan et al., 2023). These symptoms can occur particularly among relatively infrequent cannabis users (<10 cannabis uses per month), after they use increasingly more potent cannabis (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018).

Daily cannabis use was also associated with developing an anxiety disorder later in life. Individuals with cannabis dependence have been found to show elevated comorbidity with anxiety disorders (Padoan et al., 2023); however, the direct causal connection between cannabis use and anxiety is unclear. The 2017 NASEM review reported that cannabis use did not appear to increase the likelihood of developing depression, anxiety, or PTSD (NASEM, 2017). Like with depression, reverse causality (anxiety motivating the use of cannabis; cannabis causing anxiety) is possible. (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018). Some researchers have suggested that the impact of cannabis on anxiety may vary by sub-type of anxiety disorder (Walsh et al., 2017), being more associated with elevated incidence of social anxiety (Blanco et al., 2016; Feingold et al., 2016) but not for other types of anxiety. Thus, the relationship between cannabis and anxiety is complex, like that between depression and cannabis use. Factors such as cannabis use history, cannabis potency, predisposition to an anxiety disorder, and consumers' ability to titrate (understand/measure/control) the dose they use may all affect the extent to which individuals experience the acute effects of cannabis as being anxiogenic (causes anxiety) or anxiolytic (relieves anxiety) (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Individuals with generalized anxiety disorder show symptoms such as chronic, pervasive anxiety and worry accompanied by nonspecific physical and psychological symptoms (e.g. restlessness, fatigue, difficulty concentrating, irritability, muscle tension, or sleep disturbances) (DeMartini et al., 2019).

**Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.**<sup>9</sup> The 2017 NASEM review reported that cannabis use did not appear to increase the likelihood of developing depression, anxiety, or PTSD (NASEM, 2017). As with depression and other anxiety disorders, the data are highly equivocal (NASEM, 2017), with most clinical studies suggesting a negative impact of cannabis use on PTSD outcomes (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018).

**Schizophrenia**<sup>10</sup> **and Other Psychoses.** The 2017 NASEM review reported that cannabis use is likely to increase the risk of developing schizophrenia and other psychoses (NASEM, 2017). Cannabis use has also been associated with worsening of existing symptoms of schizophrenia, particularly in sub-groups of the population with serious physical medical conditions (e.g., HIV, multiple sclerosis), as well as adversely impacting the clinical course (i.e., trigger relapse and outcomes for those with psychotic disorders) (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018).

The association between cannabis use and the development of a psychotic disorder appears to be dose-dependent, particularly for individuals at an increased risk (e.g., genetic vulnerability, exhibiting early signs or symptoms, earlier onset cannabis use) (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018). Regular use of high potency cannabis also appears to increase risk. (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018). Some studies have also indicated that the disease burden of schizophrenia is accentuated among individuals who start using cannabis during adolescence (Allebeck et al., 2023). Although the evidence suggests a modest contribution of cannabis to the development of schizophrenia, causality has been difficult to assess as it also can be explained by factors which could increase the risk of both cannabis use and schizophrenia such as genetic risk and/or childhood abuse (WHO, 2016).

**Bipolar Disorder.** The 2017 NASEM review reported that there was limited evidence of an association between cannabis use and the risk of developing bipolar disorder, and moderate evidence that cannabis use could increase symptoms associated with bipolar disorder (NASEM, 2017). Despite some recent studies linking cannabis use with bipolar disorder, recent reviews reiterated the limited knowledge in this field, and the need for more systematic studies (Walter et al., 2021; Maggu et al., 2023).

Regarding a potential therapeutic use of cannabis, a 2018 review reported no sound study showing cannabis and/or CBD to have potential as an effective therapeutic agent for bipolar disorder (Borodovsky & Budney, 2018).

**Suicide Risks (Ideation, Attempts, Death).** The 2017 NASEM review reported that there was moderate evidence of an association between cannabis use and an increased incidence of suicide ideation, attempts, and completion. The association between cannabis use and the incidence of suicide ideation and attempts is stronger among heavier users (NASEM, 2017).

More recent reviews agree with the 2017 NASEM report that there is evidence of an association between cannabis use and suicide risk (Denissoff et al., 2022; Shamabadi et al., 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> PTSD is a psychiatric disorder that may occur in people who have experienced or witnessed a traumatic event, series of events or set of circumstances. An individual may experience this as emotionally or physically harmful or life-threatening and may affect mental, physical, social, and/or spiritual well-being (APA, n.d.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> "Schizophrenia is a mental and behavioural disorder classified in the ICD10, which is characterized by distortions in thinking, perception, emotions, language, sense of self and behaviour. Common experiences include hearing voices and delusions" (WHO, 2016).

Nevertheless, the existing evidence is not yet rigorous enough to allow drawing conclusions on causality (Denissoff et al., 2022).

**Social Cognition.** Social cognition is a sub-domain of cognitive functioning that refers to a set of cognitive processes applied to the recognition, understanding, accurate processing, and effective use of social cues in real-world situations (e.g., correct recognition of faces, or of emotions).

The 2017 NASEM review reports there is only limited evidence of an association between cannabis use and impaired social functioning or engagement in developmentally appropriate social roles (NASEM, 2017). Recent reviews indicate that research on this topic is lacking (Bourque and Potvin, 2021; Fusar-Poli et al., 2023).

**Cognitive Performance.** The 2017 NASEM review reported that there was moderate evidence of an association between acute cannabis use and impairment in the cognitive domains of learning, memory, and attention (NASEM, 2017).

Several meta-analyses and reviews have been published within the past 5 years to examine the relationship between acute and chronic cannabis use and cognitive performance (McCartney et al., 2021; Zhornitsky et al., 2021; Figueiredo et al., 2020; Krzyzanowski & Purdon, 2020; Lovell et al., 2020; Platt et al., 2019; Scott et al., 2018; Dellazizzo et al., 2022). The most consistent cognitive impairment observed during acute cannabis intoxication was a decrease in performance on verbal recall tasks. A meta-analysis published in 2021 found moderate-to-large effects of acute cannabinoid exposure on both verbal learning and verbal memory (Zhornitsky et al., 2021). Regarding the chronic effects of cannabis on verbal episodic memory, research has examined the possibility that abstinence could lead to a complete recovery of verbal recall performance, but the evidence is mixed (Zhornitsky et al., 2021).

# Injuries

Overall, injuries due to cannabis use are rare, but can occur when cannabis is used alone or with other substances, with the latter concern particularly high as a factor in motor vehicle crashes (Rao et al., 2018). While some of the studies noted do not deal directly with injuries, they offer insight into the conditions that could lead to injury (i.e., crashes).

**Motor Vehicle Crashes.** Laboratory studies, in particular studies using a driving simulator, have shown an association between cannabis and crash risk. Laboratory and simulator studies that have examined the effects of acute cannabis intoxication on driving performance have found that the psychomotor skills necessary for safe driving become increasingly impaired at higher doses of cannabis (Sewell et al., 2009). Driving failures (e.g., lane departures) after acute cannabis use were associated with frequency of use, occurring more often among occasional cannabis users than with daily users (Miller et al., 2022). Miller and colleagues speculated that such a difference may be related to tolerance and/or learning how to compensate for drug effects (e.g., by reducing speed).

When used together, cannabis and alcohol are associated with worse performances than when cannabis is used alone. The simultaneous use of alcohol and cannabis had a larger negative impact on drivers' visual function, although driving performance was only significantly affected by the higher alcohol dose (Ortiz-Peregrina et al., 2022). Further, drivers who often co-use cannabis and alcohol are more likely to engage in a variety of risky driving behaviors (Kelley-Baker et al., 2021).

Although laboratory experiments warn about the impact of cannabis on psychomotor performance, they do not necessarily reflect the complex nature of driving ability and motor vehicle crash risk attributed to driving under the influence of cannabis (DUI-C) in a real-world scenario. Epidemiological studies have been conducted to close this gap, however, they are showing mixed results (Hall & Lynskey, 2016; Blandino et al., 2022; Berning et al., 2015; Compton & Berning, 2009; Lacey et al., 2009; Rogeberg & Elvik, 2016; Brubacher et al., 2022; Sewell et al., 2009; Asbridge et al., 2014).

A common limitation of epidemiological studies is that cannabis users tend to have characteristics similar to those of other groups with a high crash risk, including being young, male, polysubstance users (alcohol in particular)—all factors that could confound results if not properly taken into account. Unfortunately, accounting for all these confounding factors in real-world, epidemiological studies is a daunting task.

What epidemiological studies have clearly shown is a sustained increase in the prevalence of THC among U.S. drivers, as revealed by the 2007 and 2013–2014 National Roadside Surveys (Berning et al., 2015). Further, despite the travel restrictions imposed during the COVID-19 pandemic, the proportion of drivers admitted to a trauma center following a crash who were positive for cannabis use increased (Rudisill et al., 2023).

The issue remains whether the well-documented increase in cannabis prevalence detected among motor vehicle crashed drivers denotes causality, or merely reflects an increase in use by the population (i.e., cannabis is increasingly detected among crashed drivers not because the drug caused the crashes, but because more drivers are using it).

In 2017, the NASEM review concluded there was "substantial evidence of a statistical association between cannabis use and increased risk of motor vehicle crashes" (NASEM, 2017). The 2017 NASEM report relied somewhat heavily on Rogeberg and Elvik's updated meta-analysis (Rogeberg and Elvik, 2016), which was the most recent and comprehensive systematic review on the topic of cannabis and crash-related risk that was available at the time. The NASEM committee agreed with the authors' conclusion that self-reported cannabis use or the presence of THC metabolite in blood, saliva, or urine was associated with 20 to 30 percent higher odds of a motor vehicle crash. The authors described the magnitude of this association as low to moderate in range.

The NASEM (2017) report also noted that Gjerde and Mørland (2016) challenged the Rogeberg and Elvik (2016) conclusion that there was only a moderately increased odds ratio of 1.22 or 1.36 for crash involvement during acute cannabis intoxication. Gjerde and Mørland (2016) argued that the authors misunderstood limitations that were present in previous studies (e.g., studies that failed to fully account for acute cannabis intoxication) and posited that the cannabis risk for crashes should be higher than those estimated by Rogeberg and Elvik (2016).

On the other hand, some of the studies included in the NASEM 2017 review were based on crash data from the Fatality Analysis Reporting System (FARS), a database that has been deemed unsuitable for drug-related analyses (Berning & Smither, 2014). The inclusion of these studies may have also biased the NASEM review.

The European Integrated Project DRUID (Driving under the Influence of Drugs, Alcohol and Medicines) conducted roadside data collection across nine European countries to determine the prevalence of psychoactive substances in the general driving population. By merging the prevalence findings from the individual countries with hospital data, the authors built a de-facto crash-control

study and concluded that drivers faced a "slightly increased risk" when both alcohol was present in the blood alcohol content (BAC) range of 0.01 g/dL to < 0.05 g/dL and drivers were positive for THC (Hels et al., 2011).

To further examine the contribution of drugs to motor vehicle crashes, the U.S. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) sponsored a direct case-control study examining drug and alcohol crash risk in Virginia Beach, Virginia (Compton & Berning, 2015; Lacey et al., 2016). The Drug Crash Risk study obtained biological measures on more than 3,000 crash drivers at the scenes of the crashes, and 6,000 control (comparison) drivers. Control drivers were recruited one week after the crashes at the same time, day of week, location, and direction of travel as the crash-involved drivers. Data included 10,221 breath samples, 9,285 oral fluid samples, and 1,764 blood samples. Oral fluid and blood samples were screened and confirmed for the presence of alcohol and drugs. The study reported an unadjusted odds ratio of 1.25 associated with the presence of THC. After adjusting for gender, age, race/ethnicity, and alcohol, the authors found no indication that any drug significantly contributed to crash risk. The adjusted odds ratios for THC were 1.00 [95% confidence interval: 0.83, 1.22], indicating no increased or decreased crash risk. The study also reported that when combined with alcohol, cannabis use increases crash risk; however, the joint contribution of cannabis and alcohol to crash risk was not significantly larger than that caused by alcohol alone, a finding coincidental with those reported by the European DRUID study (Hels et al., 2011).

Although the DRUID and NHTSA's Drug Crash Risk study both suggest a relatively minor contribution of cannabis to crash risk (unless cannabis is consumed simultaneously with alcohol), the findings from these studies do not rule out the possibility that cannabis could increase crash risk. Both studies faced limitations. The DRUID study was forced to merge data from jurisdictions with varying rules and enforcement procedures, with aggregated hospital information. The NHTSA study, although homogeneous and rigorous in design and application, was restricted to only one jurisdiction. Cannabis use and driving behaviors may differ in other jurisdictions. Further, the range of THC values obtained from participant drivers was not ample enough to allow for an estimation of crash risk under different THC concentrations (only presence vs. absence of the drug was analyzed).

More recently, NHTSA sponsored an examination of data on seriously injured roadway users from seven trauma centers and fatally injured crash victims presenting directly to medical examiners at four selected sites. The study found that active THC was the most prevalent drug (25.1%), followed by alcohol (23.1%), stimulants (10.8%), and opioids (9.3%). Overall, 19.9% of the roadway users were positive for two or more categories of drugs (Berning, 2022; Thomas, Darrah et al., 2022); however, as the authors pointed out, these findings show prevalence and raise concern for potential crash risk, but do not prove impairment.

Another approach to assess the contribution of cannabis to crash risk was based on pre/post legislation outcomes. Studies of this type examined the impact of medical marijuana laws (MML) and RMLs on the prevalence of DUI-C. Measuring self-reported perception, Fink and colleagues (2020) reported an association between MML and cannabis impairment. On the other hand, Ellis and colleagues (2022) estimated that the passing of MMLs was associated with a reduction in health expenditures related to motor vehicle crashes by almost \$820 million per year. Regarding RMLs, pre/post studies in Washington State reported an increase in the proportion of fatal-crash-involved drivers who were THC-positive, but causality was unclear (Tefft & Arnold, 2020; Tefft et al., 2016; Hansen et al., 2020; Tefft and Arnold, 2021). A recent study conducted in Washington State (Voy, 2023) also reported an increase in crashes after enacting a RML, but largely

on less severe crashes (i.e., a positive correlation between cannabis sales and less severe crashes). As indicated, although all these studies showed association, causality was not demonstrated.

Like those conducted in Washington State, pre/post RML studies conducted in Colorado also showed an increase in cannabis use among crashed drivers after legalization (Aydelotte et al., 2019; Aydelotte et al., 2017; Monfort, 2018), although some of these studies were based on the FARS, a database not recommended for drug-related analyses (Berning & Smither, 2014).

An important point was made recently by Manthey and colleagues (2023): Although there is no clear evidence that legalization has increased crash risk, no study has reported that legalization has reduced crash risk either.

An approach often used to estimate cannabis-related crash risk was also based on the FARS database (e.g. Bartos et al., 2020; Calvert & Erickson, 2020; Fowles & Loeb, 2021; Kamer et al., 2020; Pollini et al., 2015; Santaella-Tenorio et al., 2020). Unfortunately, as previously noted, the limitations for drug-related analyses using the FARS database hampers the validity of these studies, as well as of the reviews and meta-analyses that include them (Windle et al., 2022).

Using data from the National Center for Health Statistics' Division of Vital Statistics, Marinello and Powell (2023) recently conducted a difference-in-differences analysis to estimate the impact of RML on overall fatalities from motor vehicle crashes, and estimated that recreational markets were associated with an overall 10% increase in motor vehicle crash deaths.

Responsibility and culpability analyses were also used to examine DUI-C. Recently, Brubacher and colleagues (2023) used a sample of non-fatally injured motor vehicle drivers in British Columbia, Canada, found no evidence of increased crash risk in drivers with THC < 5 ng/ml in blood, and a statistically non-significant increased risk of crash responsibility (odds ratio = 1.74) in drivers with THC  $\geq$  5 ng/ml.

Using hospital data from Argentina, a recent study by Conde and colleagues (2023) reported that alcohol use alone as well as combined alcohol and cannabis use significantly increased crash risk. This study also measured association, but not necessarily causality.

A literature review conducted by White and Burns (2023) and a meta-analysis conducted by the same authors (2021) concluded that the risks from driving after using cannabis are lower than from drink-driving, speeding, or using mobile phones while driving.

**Other Injuries.** The 2017 NASEM review concluded that "There is insufficient evidence to support or refute a statistical association between general, nonmedical cannabis use and occupational accidents or injuries" (NASEM, 2017). Current reviews have reached similar conclusions. In their review, Allaf and colleagues (2023) found that although most studies reported an association between RML and an overall increase in the incidence of cannabis poisoning, the authors argued that the probable cause for such an increase was the increase in cannabis availability, access, and use after RML. Also in a recent review, Walker and colleagues (2023) indicated that most studies reported an increase in cannabis-related ED visits after RML; however, the authors acknowledged that many of the included outcomes had "serious risk of bias due to failure to control for many important confounding domains."

Nevertheless, although no significant overall change in poisoning rates was detected, it has been suggested that the risk of overdose injuries, including respiratory distress and non-intentional poisoning among children may have increased (NASEM, 2017; Allaf et al., 2023). More research into this possibility is needed.

#### **Other Health-Related Outcomes**

**Allergies.** Allergic reactions to cannabis use can present with symptoms of rhinitis, conjunctivitis, asthma, or cutaneous reactions (relating to or affecting the skin) (Skypala et al., 2022). Research on this topic is still in its infancy (Toscano et al., 2023).

**Cannabis Hyperemesis**<sup>11</sup> **Syndrome.** First reported in 2004, cannabis hyperemesis syndrome is a form of functional gut–brain axis disorder characterized by bouts of episodic nausea and vomiting worsened by cannabis intake (Perisetti et al., 2020). Cannabis cessation is reported to be the most successful management of symptoms, although the syndrome may recur if cannabis use restarts (Hall & Lynskey, 2020; Senderovich et al., 2022). Only a small number of deaths have been attributed to this syndrome (Hall & Lynskey, 2020).

**Prenatal, Perinatal, and Postnatal Exposure to Cannabis.** The 2017 NASEM review reported that although there is no evidence of an association between maternal cannabis smoking and pregnancy complications for the mother, there is substantial evidence that maternal cannabis smoking is associated with lower birth weight of the offspring (NASEM, 2017). Cannabis use during pregnancy has also been associated with a dose-dependent decrease in fetal growth, adverse neonatal outcomes, and neonatal intensive care admissions for increased respiratory and neurologic infections (Marchand et al., 2022).

The association between maternal cannabis smoking and later outcomes in the offspring (e.g., sudden infant death syndrome, cognition/academic achievement, and later substance use) is less clear (NASEM, 2017). Recent research has suggested that prenatal exposure to cannabis may interfere with normal development and maturation of the brain, which could cause children who have been exposed to cannabis in utero to show impaired attention, learning, and memory, as well as impulsivity and behavioral problems (Riggs & Thant, 2022; Brown et al., 2021). Further, recent research has provided some evidence that prenatal THC exposure can alter placental and fetal DNA methylation at genes involved in neurobehavioral development, a change that may have a long-term impact on child outcomes; however, this association has not yet been demonstrated. (Shorey-Kendrick et al., 2023).

**Oral Health (Periodontitis**<sup>12</sup>**).** Because tobacco smoke is a well-known risk factor for periodontitis, studies have examined the biological plausibility for a possible relationship between periodontal disease and cannabis use (Chisini et al., 2019; Mayol et al., 2021; Scott et al., 2022).

There is consensus that smoking cannabis is associated with a higher prevalence of periodontitis. The association between cannabis use and periodontal disease occurs independently of the use of tobacco, although a synergic effect may be observed, leading to a higher prevalence of periodontitis among individuals that use both drugs (Chisini et al., 2019; Scott et al., 2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Hyperemesis refers to severe abdominal pain and cyclical vomiting.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Periodontitis is a serious infection of the gums caused by bacteria that have been allowed to accumulate on the teeth and gums.

In their review, Mayol and colleagues (2021) added that the detrimental impact of cannabis smoke on periodontal tissues was higher among frequent cannabis smokers and could be dose-dependent.

**Kidney Functions.** A recent study based on a nationally representative sample of U.S. veterans reported no significant association between cannabis use and acute kidney diseases (Potukuchi et al., 2023). Another recent study by Rein and colleagues reported that cannabis consumption did not adversely affect the kidney function of individuals without chronic kidney disease either. Both studies warned that these results need to be confirmed and the biological mechanisms fully understood, and they noted the need for additional research.

**Cannabis and Male Sexual Behavior (MSB).** The literature related to the effects of cannabis on MSB is scarce. Past animal research reviewed by Rodríguez-Manzo and Canseco-Alba (2023) showed that the pharmacological activation of CB1 and CB2 receptors with a mixture of cannabinoids was associated with a dose-dependent inhibition of MSB. The causality of this association has however been challenged, as it was argued that the reduction in MSB could have been caused by the sedation effect of the cannabis doses used in those studies (Mondino et al., 2019).

Rodríguez-Manzo and Canseco-Alba (2023) also reviewed the scarce literature as it applies to humans, and reported that cannabis consumption seems to have a bidirectional effect on sexual activity: low, acute doses may enhance human sexual functioning, specifically increasing sexual desire and satisfaction in some subjects, while large doses may produce negative effects on sexual functioning such as a lack of interest in sexual activity, erectile dysfunction, inhibited orgasm, and affecting sexual motivation. The authors nevertheless warned that there were several studies that either did not find any effects of cannabis on MSB or reported contradictory results. The authors argued that the different outcomes in those papers might be related to the multifactorial nature of human sexual behavior in the interpretation of the self-perceived sexual effects of cannabis use.

**Cannabis and Emergency Department (ED) Visits.** There is consensus that cannabisrelated visits to EDs are not as frequent as alcohol-related ED visits (Crocker et al., 2023). Earlier administrative reports (up to 2016) reported statistically significant increases in the number of ED visits for cannabis-related events for each year examined (Shelton et al., 2020),

Recent reviews report an increase in cannabis involvement in ED visits in the U.S. over time, particularly for traffic-related injuries in jurisdictions with a prevalence of cannabis with higher THC content (Roehler et al., 2022; Crocker et al., 2023); however, it is unclear whether the increase in ED visits is associated with causality (cannabis impairment) or prevalence (an increase in cannabis use by the population) (Myran et al., 2023).

A recent study conducted in Canada shows an increase in cannabis-related ED visits in Ontario in past years, which has recently flattened even in the face of cannabis legalization and deregulation of retailers/edibles (Kim et al., 2022).

**Cannabis and COVID-19 Outcomes.** A 2020 NHTSA report authored by Thomas and colleagues (2020) indicated that drug prevalence among seriously or fatally injured drivers was high before the COVID-19 public health emergency began and even increased during the pandemic, especially for alcohol, cannabis (THC), and opioids. The study pointed out that during the COVID pandemic, THC was more prevalent among the seriously or fatally injured drivers than alcohol. The

authors made the point that their results showed the impact of COVID-19 on prevalence, but not necessarily on driver impairment (i.e., whether the drugs were impairing at the time of the crash).

Recently, Bonnet and colleagues (2023) reviewed the scarce literature on the impact the use of cannabis may have had on COVID-19 outcomes. The authors reported that although the use of cannabis did not impact mild COVID-19 symptoms, individuals who used cannabis experienced more COVID-19–related hospitalizations; however, they pointed out that the validity of these studies was questionable, as they were based on a very limited number of studies, which made causality difficult to assess.

Research also showed that the SARS-CoV-2 virus can cause excessive immune response and trigger an inflammatory cascade in the body. Because cannabinoids have been found to regulate these processes, researchers were interested in whether cannabis could play a role in the treatment of COVID-19 (Preteroti et al., 2023). Research on this topic was scarce, and harmed by methodological problems (Janecki et al., 2022). There is little evidence (a single study) showing that individual use of cannabis during the pandemic increased, decreased, or stayed the same, depending on relevant risk factors (e.g., access, dependence) (Harrell et al., 2022).

# Therapeutic Use of Cannabis

Although the potential and/or actual therapeutic use of cannabis has been briefly discussed in previous sections, this section reviews topics that have not been discussed in previous sections associated with the therapeutic use of cannabis.

The most common self-reported therapeutical reasons for using cannabis include the treatment of pain, as well as for addressing mental health and sleep problems (Maddison et al., 2022).

In their 2022 review, Klein and Clark (2022) pointed to a lack of high-quality clinical trials on the therapeutic use of cannabis, but noted that certain dosage forms (e.g., tablets, capsules, injectable) and routes of administration seem to have a favorable impact on risk-benefit ratios for epilepsy and chronic non-cancer pain.

Concerns about the interaction between cannabinoids and medical drugs have been raised, including the possibility of adverse drug events that could emerge when cannabis use is paired with medications that treat HIV/AIDS, or with stimulants like cocaine (Brown et al., 2021).

A number of medical conditions and associated symptoms have been approved by state legislatures as qualifying conditions for medicinal cannabis use, in particular, for relief from the symptoms of cancer, glaucoma, HIV/AIDS, and multiple sclerosis (Bridgeman & Abazia, 2017).

The Food and Drug Administration has approved one plant-based marijuana drug and two medications made from synthetic chemicals that mimic the actions and effects of THC, which are only available with a prescription from a licensed healthcare provider:

• Epidiolex contains purified CBD from the marijuana plant. The drug is approved for treating seizures associated with two rare and severe forms of epilepsy (Lennox-Gastaut syndrome and Dravet syndrome), as well as seizures associated with a rare genetic disorder (tuberous sclerosis complex) (Breivogel & Pulgar, 2023; Kluemper, 2022; National Institutes of Health, 2019).

• Dronabinol (brand names: Marinol and Syndros) and nabilone (brand name: Cesamet) are made from lab-created chemicals that act like THC by turning on cannabis receptors in the brain. These two medications are used to treat nausea in patients with cancer who are undergoing chemotherapy treatment and to increase appetite in individuals with AIDS who do not feel like eating (wasting syndrome) (Breivogel & Pulgar, 2023; Kluemper, 2022; National Institutes of Health, 2019).

**Pain Relief.** The most frequently reported use of medical marijuana is for pain relief. The 2017 NASEM report concluded that there was conclusive or substantial evidence that cannabis is effective for the treatment of chronic pain in adults (NASEM, 2017). Recent reviews compared the use of cannabis versus placebo and concluded that the effect sizes of the pain-relief use of cannabis were of questionable importance, with some research showing cannabinoids having no effects on acute pain or cancer pain while increasing the risks of non-serious adverse events (Barakji et al., 2023; Bialas et al., 2022). Also, the usefulness of CBD as a pain reliever may vary depending on the type of injury and the intensity of the pain (Thomas, Carter et al., 2022). Despite these recent concerns, a review of the literature by Soliman and colleagues (2021) concluded that the evidence supports the potential of cannabinoids to induce analgesia (pain relief).

Despite the lack of definitive scientific evidence, cannabinoids are already regularly used for the treatment of pain in diseases and conditions for which no other therapy options are effective or not well tolerated (Hidding et al., 2023); however, it has been pointed out that because more research is needed, the therapeutic use of cannabis should still be conducted with caution, as THC may cause significant side effects (Eeswara et al., 2023).

**Nausea and Vomiting.** In 2017, the NASEM report concluded that there was conclusive or substantial evidence that oral cannabinoids can be used in the treatment of chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting (NASEM, 2017).

Some pregnant women are increasingly treating nausea symptoms with whole cannabis or CBD alone (Volkow et al., 2019); however, the specific impact of fetal CBD exposure on negative outcomes is unclear. As indicated, studies conducted in animal models have shown that cannabis exposure may be associated with adverse embryonic development and postnatal outcomes (Brown et al., 2021; Swenson et al., 2023; Sandini et al., 2023).

**Clinical Antitumor Effects of Cannabinoids.** Although the clinical approval of cannabinoids is largely restricted to palliative uses in various diseases, the antitumor effects of cannabinoids are beginning to be clinically assessed (Velasco et al., 2016; Aziz et al., 2023; Silva-Reis et al., 2023; Buchtova et al., 2023; Erukainure et al., 2023; Akinloye et al., 2023). The review of the literature conducted by NASEM in 2017 had already suggested cannabinoids may have an antitumor effect; however, under certain conditions, cannabinoid treatment may stimulate cancer cell proliferation *in vitro* and interfere with cannabinoids' tumor-suppressor role (Velasco et al., 2016). Further, recent research has also suggested that cannabidiol and cannabis extracts may effectively counteract the anticancer effects of widely used standard-of-care drugs (Buchtova et al., 2023).

Despite the need of clarity, current research is searching for cannabis-based compounds to effectively induce cancer cell death (e.g. (Blal et al., 2023; Dada et al., 2023; Freire et al., 2023), as well as for mechanisms to effectively deliver cannabinoid-based medicines to work against cancer (Kaur et al., 2023; Freire et al., 2023; Buchtova et al., 2023).

**Glaucoma**. Cannabis has also been suggested for the treatment of glaucoma due to the potential for cannabis to alleviate intraocular pressure and have neuroprotective effects (Järvinen et al., 2002). In 2017, the NASEM report indicated that the beneficial effects of cannabis to treat glaucoma can be offset by ophthalmic side effects, and the fact that the effects of cannabinoids on intraocular pressure do not last long (NASEM, 2017). More recent reviews of the literature indicate that research on this issue is still needed (Wang and Danesh-Meyer, 2021; Passani et al., 2020).

**Sleep Disorders.** As recently reviewed by Maddison and colleagues (2022), about 50% of the U.S. population reports lack of adequate regular sleep. It has been posited that CBD, because of its action within the endocannabinoid system and the activation of CB1 and CB2 receptors, has the potential to be used to restore normal sleep (Gendy et al., 2023; Maddison et al., 2022). The 2017 NASEM report indicated that there was moderate evidence that cannabinoids were effective in improving short-term sleep outcomes (NASEM, 2017).

Research on the potential use of cannabis to treat sleep disorders has been clouded by methodological problems, such as the lack of adequate controls, unclear identification of CBD concentrations, and reliance on self-report measures of sleep quantity and quality (Maddison et al., 2022).

Recently, Bidwell and colleagues (2023) reported that naturalistic use of cannabis was associated with better sleep quality, particularly for those using edible and CBD-dominant products. H; however, another recent review by Amaral and colleagues (2023) reported inconsistent results. The authors concluded there is a "lack of robust evidence to support the use of cannabis for sleep disorders" but acknowledged that methodological issues may have clouded the research. They concluded that there is currently no robust evidence to support the use of cannabis for sleep disorders, and that more research is needed (Amaral et al., 2023; Luchowska et al., 2023).

**CBD as a Treatment for Psychosis.** CBD, which has a different mechanism of action than other antipsychotic medications, has been suggested as a novel treatment for psychosis, particularly during the early phases of the disorder. It has been posited that CBD could be especially helpful in patients who do not respond to treatment with antipsychotic medications and in patients who are reluctant to take antipsychotics because of concerns about side-effects and stigma. The 2017 NASEM report concluded that there was no or insufficient evidence to support the use of CBD to treat individuals with schizophrenia or schizophreniform psychosis (NASEM, 2017). A more recent review reports that research on this possibility is still lacking (Chesney et al., 2022).

**Cannabis as a Tool to Slow Down Cognitive Aspects of the Aging Process.** Research conducted in animal models indicates that physiological aging appears to occur in parallel with a decline in the expression and activity of CB1, suggesting that cannabis could be used to increase the CB1 activity, which may help slow down the physiological aging process (Zamberletti & Rubino, 2022). Research on this topic conducted in rodents using low and extremely low doses of THC has shown some promising results, but these early findings are highly inconclusive (Zamberletti & Rubino, 2022). The 2017 NASEM report included research conducted with hospitalized patients, but found no sound evidence that the use of cannabinoids was effective for the treatment of dementia (NASEM, 2017). The potential benefits of using CBD for improving the behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia have generated increasing interest among researchers. The available evidence, however, is inconclusive (Leszko, 2023; Trojan et al., 2023).

**Cannabis as a Harm Reduction Strategy for People Who Use Other Drugs.** Research has suggested the possibility that cannabis could be used to reduce harm from some prescription drugs and/or substances, including alcohol, tobacco, and opioids (Lo et al., 2023; Charoenporn et al.,
2023). CBD has been suggested as a mechanism to reduce opioid consumption following a traumatic injury (Klein & Clark, 2022). There is some evidence to support the use of CBD to treat opioid use disorder (Reddon et al., 2023), in particular for reducing drug-induced craving and anxiety (Lo et al., 2023; Schneider-Smith et al., 2020); however, research on this possibility is lacking, largely due to legal and methodological limitations (Klein & Clark, 2022; Lo et al., 2023).

The evidence for using CBD in treating cocaine use disorders, and/or polydrug use disorders was even less clear than what has been shown for opioid use disorders (Lo et al., 2023). Research is needed to ascertain the impact of CBD dosing and administration regimens in real-world contexts (Lo et al., 2023).

**Cannabis to Alleviate Respiratory Symptoms.** Cannabis smoking causes acute bronchial dilation, depending on the dose of THC. Such an effect suggests the possibility of short-term respiratory benefits associated with cannabis use (NASEM, 2017; WHO, 2016).

#### Research Evaluations of the Impact of Cannabis Laws on Public Health

This section reviews evaluations conducted on the impact that MMLs and RMLs have had on public health in the U.S., Uruguay, Canada, and Thailand. These evaluations were not included in previous sections.

**United States: MMLs.** In a 2018 review of the literature, Sarvet and colleagues (2018), found that after the medical cannabis laws were passed, there was an increase in cannabis use and CUD among adults, but the authors did not find any association between medical cannabis laws and adolescent marijuana use.

A 2021 review found little evidence that MMLs had a significant impact on cocaine use (Sabia et al. 2021). The evidence was stronger for cannabis and prescription opioids behaving as substitutes, although the evidence weakened after 2010 as heroin and fentanyl became responsible for a large share of opioid-related deaths (Sabia et al., 2021). The authors also reported that medical cannabis and alcohol have been behaving as substitutes, with the enactment of MML leading to a reduction in alcohol consumption (Sabia et al., 2021).

**United States: RMLs.** Evidence shows that the passing of RMLs has increased regular cannabis use among adult users (Hall & Lynskey, 2020); however, studies conducted in different states have yielded mixed results, with some studies reporting increased past-month use after RML enactment and other studies finding decreased marijuana use (Cerdá et al., 2020; Athanassiou et al., 2023).

An analysis of the National Survey on Drug Use and Health database found a very small post-RML increase in risk for CUD among respondents aged 12 to 17 years; however, the study had limitations intrinsic to a self-report database and did not account for potential confounders such as participants' mental health or tobacco use (Cerdá et al., 2020; Zellers et al., 2023)

There is evidence that RML enactment was associated with fewer deaths involving prescription opioids (Sabia et al., 2021).

The adoption of an RML leads to a decline in marijuana-related arrests among both Black and White adults. In absolute terms, the decline was greater for Black adults, but this was entirely a

reflection of pre-treatment differentials in arrest rates between Blacks and Whites (Fone et al., 2023).

As discussed previously, the impact of RMLs on traffic safety is unclear (Sabia et al., 2021). The long-term consequences of RMLs are further unknown because they will depend on how supply-side regulations affect production and prices of marijuana (Smart and Doremus, 2023).

Hawley and colleagues (2020) found some evidence suggesting that RMLs may have an impact on those who use medical cannabis, including an increase in prevalence of use, problems accessing preferred products legally, higher cost, and difficulties using a legal access system.

**Uruguay.** In December 2013, Uruguay became the first country in the world to legalize the sale, cultivation, and distribution of recreational cannabis. The expressed motivation for legalization was to eliminate the illicit drug trade and its associated violence and public health–related harms; drug possession for personal use had already been decriminalized in Uruguay since 1974 (Laqueur et al., 2020).

Unlike the for-profit commercial models that had been adopted by Colorado and Washington, Uruguay's approach to legalization was non-commercial, in the sense that it is the government that controls all large-scale production, requires user registration, limits the weekly quantities that a user may purchase, and prohibits advertising in all its forms (Cerdá and Kilmer, 2017; Laqueur et al., 2020; Queirolo et al., 2023).

Studies examining the impact of RML enactment in Uruguay have not found an association between the change in legislation and changes in the prevalence of adolescent cannabis use (Rivera-Aguirre et al., 2022) or self-reported frequency of adolescent use (Laqueur et al., 2020).

A study looking at motor vehicle crashes found an association between the number of people who self-cultivate cannabis and the number of motor vehicle crash injuries (Kilmer et al., 2022). Nazif-Munoz and colleagues (2020) reported that RML passage in Uruguay was associated with an increase in fatal motor vehicle crashes; these studies, however, show association, not causality.

**Canada.** As reported by Hall & Lynskey (2020), "In October 2018, Canada became the second nation to legalize the sale of cannabis to adults. The goals of legalization were to eliminate the illicit cannabis market and regulate the production and sale of cannabis to protect public health and minimize youth uptake."

As described by Hall and colleagues (2023), "Legalization has been associated with increased adult hospital attendances for psychiatric distress and vomiting, unintentional ingestion of edible cannabis products by children and hospitalizations for cannabis use disorders in adults. There is conflicting evidence on whether cannabis-impaired driving has increased since legalization."

Some evidence suggests that the age of cannabis initiation has increased since the change in legislation in Canada, which brought an apparent increase in use among Canadians older than 25 years old. Results for individuals younger than 25 years old are mixed, with the majority of studies showing no pronounced increase in use (Rubin-Kahana et al., 2022). Also, recent studies showed that after legalization there was an overall decline in the percentage of users who acquired cannabis from the illegal market. Being a heavy user, young, having less than a high school diploma, and specific consumer preferences were associated with the likelihood that users would continue to buy cannabis from a dealer (Manthey et al., 2023).

As is the case with Uruguay, Canadian policy is still at an early stage of implementation, and although some evidence is emerging, it is still too early to evaluate its impact (Hall & Lynskey, 2020).

**Thailand.** The Thai government authorized the use of cannabis for medical purposes in 2019. Three years later, in June 2022, Thailand allowed individuals to grow and sell cannabis (Kalayasiri and Boonthae, 2023). Such a rapid legislative change is taking place amid a not-well-regulated market for cannabis, which generates lack of transparency regarding the quality of cannabis products (Lerksuthirat et al., 2023), including products associated with the tourism industry (Phucharoen et al., 2023).

## Summary of Findings from the Literature

## Cannabis Pharmacology

- **Cannabinoids act primarily through action on the ECS**, a network of chemical signals and cellular receptors that regulates functions such as learning, memory, emotional processes, sleep, pain control, and immune responses. Two receptors are particularly relevant to the metabolism of cannabis: CB1 and CB2. CB1 receptors are primarily in the brain, largely concentrated in regions involved in memory, emotional responses, cognition, motivation, and motor coordination. CB2 receptors are found primarily in the body where they play a role in the regulation of the immune system. They also act on the gastrointestinal tract, liver, heart, muscle, skin, and reproductive organs.
- The Cannabis sativa plant has more than 100 different cannabinoids, including THC and CBD. Of these, **THC is the main cannabinoid with psychoactive properties.** CBD does not produce acute intoxication, has been used to treat refractory epileptic syndromes in children, and may have anti-inflammatory, anxiolytic (anti-anxiety), and antipsychotic indications.
- Because of its interaction with the ECS, THC can have an impact on the development of the brain, producing structural changes in areas of the brain associated with cognition and behavior. These structural changes have been known to occur primarily among those with early onset of use (during adolescence) and that are heavier users; it is unclear whether these structural changes in the brain are associated with actual behavioral changes and/or other effects.
- Interest in CBD has recently increased; however, very little is known about the pharmacokinetics<sup>13</sup> and bioavailability<sup>14</sup> of CBD for different uses.
- Most research has focused on the interaction of THC and CBD with the CB receptors in the ECS. Recent research indicates that THC and CBD can also interact with other receptors activated by ECS. **Research suggests that non-CB receptors may play a key but understudied role in addictive behaviors. Research on this topic is needed.**
- The route by which cannabis is used can impact the onset, intensity, and the addictive potential and negative consequences associated with use. THC is rapidly transferred from lungs to blood during smoking, with the effects of smoking cannabis reaching their maximum effect after 15 to 30 minutes and typically disappearing within 2 to 3.5 hours; however, the impact of inhaled cannabis on some driving tasks may last 5 hours or more, depending on the THC dose and other factors.
- Cannabis vaping onset, peak effect, and duration are similar to those of smoking. Because vaporization tends to provide effects similar to smoking, but with a reduced exposure to the byproducts of combustion, it was suggested that compared with smoking cannabis, vaping may have some benefits; however, very little is known about long-term impact of vaporized cannabis to the respiratory system and the possibility of the downstream development of lung diseases.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Pharmacokinetics is the branch of pharmacology concerned with the movement of drugs within the body.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Bioavailability is the proportion of a drug or other substance that enters the circulation when introduced into the body and so is able to have an active effect.

- Following oral ingestion, psychotropic effects manifest within 30 to 120 minutes, reach their maximum effect after 2 to 3 hours, and last for about 4 to 12 hours, depending on the dose.
- **Synthetic cannabinoids**, also called Synthetic Cannabinoid Receptor Agonists (SCRAs), are a constantly evolving set of compounds that have undergone several changes over time. Compared with THC, the majority of SCRAs are highly potent, binding with a ten to a hundred times higher affinity at the ECS receptor.
- The majority of cannabinoids are highly lipophilic compounds that rapidly distribute into the brain and adipose tissue. THC and CBD have a half-life (i.e., the time required for the concentration of the drug to reach half of its original value) that is biphasic; a rapidly increasing effect phase followed by a plateau. The initial phase distributes THC to highly vascularized tissues, such as the lungs, heart, brain, and liver. After being absorbed, cannabinoids distribute to less vascularized tissues (e.g., adipose tissue) where they accumulate and are subsequently released. The release of cannabinoids from adipose tissue can take place for weeks after consumption.

After inhalation, THC enters the bloodstream quickly through the lungs, with the peak achieved within 6 to 10 minutes after inhalation. As a result, peak THC concentrations are lower after oral THC ingestion than smoked administration, but conversely 11-hydroxy-THC/THC ratios are higher after oral than smoked cannabis.

After oral intake, THC goes to the liver where it is metabolized into 11-hydroxy-THC (psychoactive) and then into 11-COOH-THC (not psychoactive) or it is eliminated. Although 11-hydroxy-THC can be formed after consumption of THC from inhalation (vaping, smoking) as well as from oral use (by mouth, edible, under the tongue), levels of 11-hydroxy-THC are typically higher when eaten compared to inhalation. Cannabinoids and their metabolites eventually are eliminated in the urine and feces.

- Chronic users redistribute inactive metabolites from adipose tissue into blood and urine, which is the underlying reason for positive urine drug screens weeks after last use and prolonged half-lives of different compounds.
- The combined use of cannabis and alcohol may result in greater psychoactive toxicity than either substance alone. Heavy alcohol and cannabis use during adolescence can further contribute to small to moderate disruptions in brain structure and function; however, the underlying mechanisms behind this outcome remain unclear.
- Very little is known about the pharmacology of combined use of nicotine and cannabis. Although research suggests cannabis and tobacco could each be used to counter the effects of the other, much research is needed before any therapeutic recommendation can be formulated.

## **Cannabis Potential for Abuse**

- Cannabis use can have acute (short-term) as well as chronic (long-term) effects on human health.
- Although there is wide inter-individual variation, acute cannabis intoxication has been associated with enhanced sensitivity to colors and/or music, altered perception of time, decrease in short-term memory, dry mouth, impaired perception, and impaired motor skills. Cannabis can also impair memory, attention, and psychomotor functions, although the most robust effects were reported for verbal learning and working memory.

- **The wide range of acute effects rarely includes a fatal outcome**. Although overall, the risk of death due to cannabis overdose is lower than the risk dying by opioid or stimulant overdoses, the risk of death due to cannabis overdose increases when it occurs conjointly with traumatic physical injury, or in individuals with cardiac pathologies.
- Daily consumption of cannabis (THC) can produce persistent, chronic impairments in memory and cognition, particularly when cannabis use begins in adolescence.
- **Progression to cannabis dependence is associated with factors such as intensive use of cannabis and early onset.** The risk of developing cannabis dependence is higher with high potency THC strains with a low CBD content, large amounts consumed, high frequency use (heavy, daily), and with starting use early in adolescence.
- It has also been posited that flavors in inhaled cannabis products may impact cannabis dependence, but the evidence is weak.
- Contributing to the progression to dependence are psychological and mental health factors such as low self-esteem, self-control, and coping skills. Cannabis dependence tends to occur more often among individuals who report any lifetime psychiatric, mood, anxiety, conduct, and/or personality disorder, as well as those with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD).
- Frequent use of cannabis may lead to **tolerance** to the impairing effects of THC on cognition and psychomotor function.
- **Tolerance breaks** or "T-breaks" have been proposed as a strategy for managing cannabis use. Unlike quit attempts, T-breaks are generally done without the desire to quit, with the primary goal of reducing tolerance levels so that a smaller amount of cannabis would be needed to achieve the same high when cannabis use is resumed. There is a dearth of scientific research on the topic.
- **Polysubstance use is common among cannabis users**. Cannabis is the most used drug among those who use alcohol, with individuals with cannabis use disorders (CUD) often showing alcohol use disorders, opioid use disorders, and/or nicotine dependence.
- When used together, cannabis and alcohol are associated with worse performances than when cannabis is used alone. The simultaneous use of alcohol and cannabis had a larger negative impact on drivers' visual function, although driving performance was only significantly affected by the higher alcohol dose.
- Although polysubstance use is common among cannabis users, there is little evidence in support of an association between cannabis and other drugs' initiation and/or quantity used. Almost 50 years ago, cannabis was purported to be a **"gateway drug**" for alcohol, tobacco, and other illicit drugs. **Recent studies not only reject the gateway hypothesis but indicate that cannabis initiation rarely precedes the onset of tobacco and/or alcohol use.**
- Evidence shows that the reinforcing and/or rewarding effects of cannabis at lower doses varies by individual's sex, with **individuals assigned female at birth showing a more rapid** escalation of problems than those assigned as males at birth.
- One of the motivations for cannabis legalization was to reduce racial inequalities regarding the disproportionate incidence of arrests and convictions of minorities for cannabis-related charges. Although, arrests for cannabis-related offenses have declined since legalization, that may not be the case with convictions and incarcerations. **Overall, it is too early to assess the impact of legalization on racial/ethnic minorities**.

• Cannabis use among individuals ages 50+ has increased following its legalization, mainly due to a combination of medical and quasi-medical reasons. Although cannabis use may help individuals with medical problems (e.g., to assist with sleep, control pain, stimulate appetite), older users may be at a higher risk than younger individuals of some adverse health effects, such as car crashes, confusion, dizziness, falls, and delirium. As a result, the benefit/risk ratio cannabis poses for older users remains unclear.

## Impact on Public Health

- **Cannabis has been linked to negative as well as positive health outcomes.** A particular characteristic of cannabis is the possibility that use of the drug could generate negative outcomes and/or have therapeutic value. THC and CBD are largely responsible for these effects, with THC usually associated with negative and CBD with neutral or beneficial outcomes. The latter has been an oversimplification, as there is evidence that either one of these cannabinoids can induce positive and negative symptoms.
- Health outcomes coming from laboratory studies are rarely confirmed by epidemiological studies. Laboratory studies have consistently linked cannabis use to several negative as well as favorable outcomes, but for the majority of these outcomes, epidemiologic studies have yet to confirm or reject the laboratory findings.

## **Negative Outcomes**

- <u>Cancer</u>
  - Laboratory studies have found evidence for the association between cannabis use and precursors for several cancers, such as head and neck cancer and bladder cancer, but the research has lacked consistency. Even less clear is the laboratory-based evidence of an association between the use of cannabis and the incidence of brain cancer, breast cancer, colorectal cancer, or skin cancer; however, some evidence shows that the risk of skin cancer increases among HIV-infected cannabis users.
  - Confirmatory evidence for these associations is lacking. No definite association between cannabis use and most cancer outcomes has been found in epidemiologic studies. The confirmatory evidence coming from epidemiological studies is stronger (albeit moderately) for an association between cannabis use and testicular germ cell tumor. A reason for such a relatively high confidence in this association is the absence of potential confounders in the research.
- <u>Respiratory Diseases</u>
  - Similarities between the process of smoking cannabis and tobacco (i.e., both processes involve the inhalation of the active compounds along with toxic combustion products) raised concern for the acute impact of cannabis smoking on the development of diseases that have already been associated with tobacco use, such as airway inflammation, chronic bronchitis, or emphysema.
  - Although cannabis smokers tend to display symptoms linked with asthma and COPD, such as cough, sputum and wheezing, it is unclear whether cannabis smokers are at a higher risk of COPD than non-smokers of cannabis.
  - Cannabis smoking can affect the function of key immune cells participating in the lung's defense against infection, which has raised concern that cannabis smokers could be at an elevated risk of developing pneumonia, in particular when using cannabis products

containing impurities. Concern is particularly elevated among susceptible individuals such as those that are immune compromised by HIV or cancer chemotherapy; however, evidence that cannabis smoke alters susceptibility to respiratory infection is lacking.

- Symptoms such as dyspnea, cough, fever, constitutional symptoms, gastrointestinal upset, and hemoptysis have been linked to vaping users. The occurrence of these symptoms, which were termed Electronic cigarette, or vaping product use-associated lung injury (referred to as EVALI), has been linked with the liquid used in the vaporization process (the e-liquid), which typically contains ingredients such as psychoactive agents (e.g., nicotine, THC), solvents, and flavoring compounds, all of them having potential health risks (e.g., toxic/chemical induced lung injury) either alone or in combination, as well as with the presence of Vitamin E acetate (a thickening agent for THC), which is a major contributor to the EVALI risk; however, a clear understanding of EVALI risk is lacking. Research on this issue has been challenged by several confounders, in particular difficulties with the identification of the sources of THC (unregistered sources associated with an elevated risk of EVALI) and cannabis vaporization devices and products (different cannabis vaporization devices and products carry different levels of health risk).
- Based on the tobacco experience, there is concern that second-hand cannabis smoking may also have a negative impact on individuals' health, particularly on children. Unfortunately, research on the impact of second-hand smoking on individuals' health is lacking.
- <u>Cardiovascular Diseases</u>
  - Laboratory analyses have found evidence suggesting that cannabis may have a negative impact on the cardiovascular system. Cannabis (THC) use can produce rapid changes in cardiovascular function such as tachy- and brady-arrhythmias, as well as changes in vascular contractility.
  - Laboratory studies have also suggested that like second-hand tobacco use, second-hand cannabis smoking may have an impact on vascular endothelial function.
  - The effects of cannabis use on cardiovascular diseases are generally mild and not lifethreatening. Early research suggested that harmful cardiovascular effects occurred only in people with pre-existing heart disease. More recent research however, reported on case studies showing that acute exposure to cannabis, even by young healthy people, may lead to myocardial infarction, stroke, and other severe cardiovascular events. These symptoms tend to appear largely among heavy daily cannabis smokers, being less pronounced among young individuals.
  - While laboratory analyses have found evidence suggesting that cannabis may have a negative impact on the cardiovascular system, reports based on large national databases as well as cohorts-based studies are showing conflicting results, largely due to methodological limitations.
- <u>Mental Health</u>
  - Research has consistently reported evidence of a decrease in performance on verbal learning and verbal memory during acute cannabis intoxication.
  - Evidence links early onset of cannabis use, as well as frequent use of cannabis, with the likelihood an individual would develop CUD, as well as the occurrence of mood disorders, personality disorders, depression, panic attacks, agoraphobia, PTSD, and/or anxiety; however, the direction of the use of cannabis and mental health disorders is unclear, with

opposite causal directions being possible (having a major depressive disorder increasing the risk of cannabis initiation, and vice versa).

- Although research on the impact of cannabis on depression is equivocal, cannabis use has been more often associated with an increased, rather than decreased risk of depression.
- Some researchers have suggested that the impact of cannabis on anxiety may vary by subtype of anxiety disorder, being more associated with elevated incidence of social anxiety but not for other types of anxiety. Factors such as cannabis use history, cannabis potency, predisposition to an anxiety disorder, and consumers' ability to understand/measure/control the dose they use may all affect the extent to which individuals experience the acute effects of cannabis as being anxiogenic or anxiolytic.
- Despite some recent studies linking cannabis use with bipolar disorder, recent reviews reiterated the limited knowledge in this field, and the need for more systematic studies.
- <u>Injuries</u>
  - Overall, injuries due to cannabis use are rare, but can occur when cannabis is used alone or with other substances, the latter concern is particularly high involving motor vehicle crashes.
- Motor Vehicle Crashes
  - Laboratory studies, in particular studies using a driving simulator, have shown that acute cannabis intoxication can affect the psychomotor skills necessary for safe driving, with this impairment increasing at higher doses of cannabis.
  - In these studies, the simultaneous use of alcohol and cannabis show a larger negative impact on drivers' visual function, although driving performance was only significantly affected by the higher alcohol dose.
  - Epidemiological studies have clearly shown a sustained increase in the prevalence of THC use among U.S. drivers.
  - The issue remains whether the well-documented increase in cannabis prevalence detected among motor vehicle crashed drivers denotes causality, or merely reflects an increase in use by the population (i.e., cannabis is increasingly detected among crashed drivers not because the drug caused the crashes, but because more drivers were using it). Unlike laboratory studies, epidemiological studies are showing mixed results.
  - The European Integrated Project DRUID and NHTSA's Drug Crash Risk study were two large studies aimed to assess cannabis crash risk. Both studies suggested a relatively minor contribution of cannabis to crash risk (unless cannabis is consumed simultaneously with alcohol); however, the findings from these studies do not rule out the possibility that cannabis could generate elevated crash risk. These studies presented limitations, including a limited range of THC values obtained from participant drivers, which did not allow for a detailed estimation of crash risk under different THC concentrations (e.g., under moderate and/or elevated THC concentration)
  - Pre-post comparative analyses of the impact of marijuana legalization on crash risk also yielded mixed results. Some studies found an association between the passing of MMLs or RMLs and motor vehicle crashes, but causality was not clearly demonstrated. In any case, while there is no clear evidence that legalization has increased crash risk, no study has reported that legalization has reduced crash risk either.

- An often-used approach for the estimation of cannabis crash risk was based on the FARS database. Unfortunately, the limitations for drug-related analyses present in the FARS database hamper the validity of these studies, as well as of the reviews and meta-analyses that include the use of FARS data.
- Other Injuries
  - The 2017 NASEM review concluded that, "There is insufficient evidence to support or refute a statistical association between general, nonmedical cannabis use and occupational accidents or injuries." Recent reviews have reached a similar conclusion.
  - Although most recent studies reported an association between RMLs and an overall increase in the incidence of cannabis poisoning, this finding is not necessarily indicative of cannabis being a poisoning drug, but a consequence of the increase in cannabis availability, access, and use after RML passage.
  - Nevertheless, although no significant overall change in poisoning rates was detected, the increasing availability, diversity, and potency of cannabis products has elevated the drug's potential for accidental injuries and death, and the prevalence of overdose injuries, including respiratory distress and non-intentional poisoning among children, has increased.
- <u>Allergies</u>
  - Allergic reactions to cannabis use can present with symptoms of rhinitis, conjunctivitis, asthma, and cutaneous reactions; however, research on the association between cannabis use and allergies is still in its infancy.
- <u>Cannabis Hyperemesis Syndrome</u>
  - First reported in 2004, cannabis hyperemesis syndrome is a form of functional gut-brain axis disorder characterized by bouts of episodic nausea and vomiting worsened by cannabis intake. Research on cannabis hyperemesis syndrome is lacking.
- Prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal exposure to cannabis
  - No evidence has been found of an association between maternal cannabis smoking and pregnancy complications for the mother; however, there is substantial evidence that maternal cannabis smoking is associated with lower birth weight of the offspring.
  - Cannabis use during pregnancy has also been associated with dose-dependent adverse neonatal outcomes, and neonatal intensive care admissions for increased respiratory and neurologic infections.
  - The association between maternal cannabis smoking and later outcomes in the offspring (e.g., sudden infant death syndrome, cognition/academic achievement, and later substance use) is less clear. Recent research has suggested that prenatal exposure to cannabis may interfere with normal development and maturation of the brain, a change that may have a long-term impact on outcomes for children; however, the association between these negative outcomes for children and maternal use of cannabis has not yet been demonstrated.
- <u>Oral Health (Periodontitis)</u>
  - There is consensus that smoking cannabis is associated with a higher prevalence of periodontitis, particularly among frequent cannabis smokers. The association could be dose dependent.

- <u>Kidney functions</u>
  - Research has started to examine whether cannabis use could affect acute as well as chronic kidney disease. No clear association has been detected yet. The research is in its infancy.
- <u>Male Sexual Behavior</u>
  - The scarce literature related to the effects of cannabis on MSB reports contradictory results. Several studies found no effect. Those that reported some effect appear to paint a bidirectional effect on sexual activity, indicating that low, acute doses may enhance human sexual functioning, specifically increasing sexual desire and satisfaction in some subjects, while large doses may produce negative effects on sexual functioning such as a lack of interest in sexual activity, erectile dysfunction, and inhibited orgasm, and affecting sexual motivation.
- <u>Cannabis and Emergency Department visits</u>
  - Recent reviews report an increase in cannabis involvement in ED visits in the U.S. over time, particularly for traffic-related injuries in jurisdictions with a prevalence of cannabis with higher THC content; however, it is unclear whether the increase in ED visits is associated with causality (cannabis impairment) or prevalence (an increase in cannabis use by the population).
- <u>Cannabis and COVID-19 outcomes</u>
  - Research shows that although the use of cannabis did not impact mild COVID-19 symptoms, individuals who used cannabis experienced more COVID-19–related hospitalizations; however, the limited number of studies in which these studies were based made causality difficult to assess.
  - Drug prevalence among seriously or fatally injured drivers increased during the pandemic, especially for alcohol, cannabis (THC), and opioids; however, these results show the impact of COVID-19 on prevalence, but not necessarily on driver impairment.

## Therapeutic use of cannabis

There are several medical conditions and associated symptoms for which medicinal cannabis use has been approved, in particular those aimed to relieve the symptoms of cancer, glaucoma, HIV/AIDS, and multiple sclerosis.

The most common self-reported therapeutical reasons for using cannabis are to treat pain, mental health, and sleep problems.

- <u>Pain relief</u>
  - The most frequently reported use of medical marijuana is for pain relief.
  - The 2017 NASEM report concluded that there was conclusive evidence that cannabis was effective for the treatment of chronic pain in adults.
  - Recent reviews compared the use of cannabis vs. placebo and concluded that the effect sizes for the pain-relief use of cannabis were of questionable importance. Some research suggested that the usefulness of CBD as a pain reliever may vary depending on the type of injury and the intensity of the pain.
  - Despite these recent concerns, the evidence supports the potential of cannabinoids to induce analgesia.

- Despite the lack of definitive scientific evidence, cannabinoids are already regularly used for the treatment of pain in diseases and conditions for which no other therapy options are effective or are not well tolerated.
- <u>Nausea and vomiting</u>
  - The 2017 NASEM report concluded that there was conclusive evidence that oral cannabinoids can be used in the treatment of chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting; however, concerns about negative drug-drug interactions have been raised.
  - Some pregnant women are increasingly treating nausea symptoms with whole cannabis or CBD alone; however, the specific impact that fetal CBD exposure has on negative outcomes for the child is unclear.
- <u>Clinical antitumor effects of cannabinoids</u>
  - Besides some pro-tumorigenic activity, there is evidence that cannabis also has some antitumor properties. The latter suggests the possibility that cannabinoids can be used to treat some types of cancers (e.g., skin cancer).
  - Such a favorable potential should, however, be balanced against research showing that under certain conditions, cannabinoid treatment may stimulate cancer cell proliferation and interfere with cannabinoids' tumor-suppressor role, and that CBD and cannabis extracts may counteract the anticancer effects of widely used standard-of-care drugs.
  - Well-designed human studies investigating the efficacy and safety of using cannabinoids for treating cancers are still lacking and the evidence is limited.
- <u>Glaucoma</u>
  - Cannabis has also been suggested for the treatment of glaucoma due to cannabis's potential impact on intraocular pressure and its neuroprotective effects; however, ophthalmic side effects and the short duration of cannabinoids' effect on intraocular pressure raised questions on this possibility.
- <u>Sleep Disorders</u>
  - It has been posited that CBD, because of its action within the endocannabinoid system and the activation of CB1 and CB2 receptors, has the potential to be used to restore normal sleep. Indeed, alleviating sleep disturbance is one of the most cited reasons for the use of cannabinoids.
  - Research on the potential use of cannabis to treat sleep disorders has been clouded by methodological problems, such as the lack of adequate controls, unclear identification of CBD concentrations, and reliance on self-report measures of sleep quantity and quality. Currently, there is no definite evidence to support the use of cannabis for sleep disorders. More research is needed.
- <u>CBD as a treatment for psychosis</u>
  - It has been posited that CBD could be a novel treatment for schizophrenia, bipolar disorders, and psychosis in general, being especially helpful in patients who do not respond to treatment with antipsychotic medications and in patients who are reluctant to take antipsychotics because of concerns about side effects and stigma. Research on this possibility is still lacking.

- <u>Cannabis and social functioning</u>
  - Some limited evidence shows an association between cannabis use and impaired social functioning or engagement in developmentally appropriate social roles. Research on this issue is lacking.
- Cannabis as a tool to slow down cognitive aspects of the aging process.
  - Research conducted in animal models indicates that physiological aging appears to occur in parallel with a decline in the expression and activity of CB1, suggesting that cannabis could be used to increase the activity of CB1, which may help slow down the physiological aging process, as well as for improving the behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia. The evidence, however, is inconclusive.
- Cannabis as a harm reduction strategy for people who use other drugs.
  - Research has suggested the possibility that cannabis could be used to reduce harm from some prescription drugs and/or substances including alcohol, tobacco, and opioids. There is some evidence in support of the use of CBD to treat opioid use disorder, in particular for reducing drug-induced craving and anxiety; however, the research on this possibility is lacking.
  - There is also some evidence for using CBD in treating cocaine use disorders, and/or polydrug use disorders, but the evidence is even less clear than what has been shown for opioid use disorders.
- Cannabis and COVID-19
  - Because cannabinoids have been found to regulate some of the symptoms associated with the SARS-CoV-2 virus, researchers were interested in whether cannabis could play a role in the treatment of COVID-19. Research on this topic is scarce.
- <u>Cannabis to alleviate respiratory symptoms.</u>
  - Cannabis smoking causes acute bronchial dilation, depending on the dose of THC. As such, there may be short-term respiratory benefits associated with cannabis use; however, these benefits can be reversed by the effects of long-term cannabis smoking. The clinical implications of these experimental findings are unclear, as studies have yielded inconsistent results, largely because of methodological limitations.

# Part II: Expert Opinion on the Potential Impacts of Cannabis Rescheduling on Public Health and Traffic Safety

The U.S. Drug Enforcement Agency currently recognizes cannabis as a Schedule I controlled substance under the Controlled Substances Act of 1970. Schedule I substances are defined as "drugs with no currently accepted medical use and a high potential for abuse" (Drug Enforcement Agency, n.d.). Recently, the possibility of rescheduling cannabis—moving it out of Schedule I—has been discussed. Moreover, the U.S. Department of Justice has submitted a proposed regulation to reschedule marijuana, moving the drug from Schedule I to Schedule III. A press release issued by the Office of Public Affairs of the U.S. Department of Justice on May 16, 2024, states that: "*The Justice Department today announced that the Attorney General has submitted to the Federal Register a notice of proposed rulemaking initiating a formal rulemaking process to consider moving marijuana from a schedule I to schedule III drug under the Controlled Substances Act (CSA).*" (DOJ, 2024)

Discussions about the proposed rulemaking (a proposed rescheduling of cannabis) need to be appropriately informed about the impacts this policy change would have on eight factors established by the Controlled Substances Act:

- 1. The substance's actual or relative potential for abuse.
- 2. Scientific evidence of the substance's pharmacological effect, if known.
- 3. The state of current scientific knowledge regarding the drug or other substance.
- 4. The substance's history and current pattern of abuse.
- 5. The scope, duration, and significance of abuse.
- 6. What, if any, risk there is to the public health.
- 7. The substance's psychic or physiological dependence liability.
- 8. Whether the substance is an immediate precursor of a substance already controlled.

To inform the debate, this research team conducted a review of the scientific literature focusing on the impact that cannabis could have on the factors listed above (see Part I for Literature Review). This review of the literature was complemented by two focus groups of expert panelists to gather various viewpoints about future public health and traffic safety scenarios that may occur were the rescheduling of cannabis to be approved. The two focus group sessions, held in May 2024, provided in-depth feedback about the impact rescheduling of cannabis may have on public health in general and traffic safety in particular. This section describes the methodology applied to conducting the focus groups and the qualitative analysis of the data, and then presents the results.

## Methods

## Participants

The research team invited 30 expert-level participants to participate in a 90-minute virtual focus group. The invitees had expertise in multiple public health arenas that might be impacted by the rescheduling of marijuana on the federal level. Invitees included representatives or retirees from organizations and agencies that have an interest in the topics of marijuana use and related policy. Efforts to include a diverse participant pool to ensure a variety of perspectives were considered were made. Invitees were offered a \$100 Amazon gift card as a small token of appreciation for participation in a focus group. Ultimately, fourteen participants were available for the focus group dates and interested in participating in this study. Two focus groups with seven participants in each session were conducted in May 2024 by Pacific Institute for Research and

Evaluation (PIRE) staff with input from the AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety (AAAFTS). The participants included current employees or retirees from advocacy groups, organizations, academia, and government agencies related to traffic safety, impaired driving, law enforcement, marijuana use and policy, and toxicology. Nine of the fourteen participants were female. Three of the fourteen participants were unable to accept the gift card token, as the acceptance of gifts related to their work is prohibited by their employers.

#### Protocol

The PIRE Institutional Review Board deemed this effort to be exempt from review because (a) participants were invited to discuss a topic related to their expertise in their field of work and not recruited as private individuals and (b) the information obtained in the focus groups was recorded in a way in which the identity of the participants cannot readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects. Participants gave permission to record the focus groups for qualitative coding purposes. They were told that their names and organizations would be redacted from the transcripts and that the summary of the focus groups would not attribute particular answers or opinions to individuals or their affiliations.

A Focus Group Guide (see Appendix A) was developed to create a structured set of openended questions that align to the study objectives and encourage the participants to share their ideas. The guide was organized in a logical sequence, starting with introductory questions to build rapport and progressing to more specific, in-depth questions that address cannabis rescheduling. The guide instructed panelists to discuss the impact that rescheduling cannabis would have on public health in general separately from the impact on traffic safety. Panelists were also instructed to focus on the impact of rescheduling, not legalization. The guide was pilot-tested with one traffic safety specialist (who met the criteria for being a participant but was not included in these analyses) and the questions and topics were found to be understandable.

An invitation email (see Appendix B) was sent to all potential participants, and it explained that the research team wanted to explore what effects the potential rescheduling of cannabis in the U.S. to a lower level might have on a variety of clinical and public health fields, including but not limited to traffic safety.

#### Analyses

The first step in the data analysis was to de-identify the focus group transcripts and clean them. A team member (a) went through the transcripts and changed speaker names to speaker numbers for people who were not part of the research team, and (b) listened to the transcripts and fixed numerous errors in the text that were a result of the automated transcription process. This included fixing missing or misinterpreted words, making continuous sentences out of phrases that had been broken up into multiple sentences due to pauses, and punctuating appropriately to improve the intelligibility of the transcript. The two cleaned transcripts were then uploaded to Dedoose®, a cloud-based software program that allows for analysis among team members (SocioCultural Research Consultants, 2018). An interpretive grounded theory approach was applied for data analysis. Interpretive grounded theory involves a flexible, iterative process that prioritizes the co-construction of meaning between the researchers and participants (Charmaz, 2014). The process begins with open coding, where data is initially broken down and examined to identify significant concepts. A total of 65 codes were created when reviewing the data from the two focus groups. Codes were applied 400 times to 130 various excerpts (see Appendix C).

Figure 1 (Saldana, 2016) illustrates the analytical process. As the research team engaged with the data, codes were identified that captured concepts, while remaining open to the context and nuances presented by participants. These codes were then grouped into categories, which were developed through a continuous dialogue between the data and the researchers' interpretations. Constant comparison, which is a method central to interpretive grounded theory where categories emerge from the data, was used throughout the process to refine categories, ensuring that they accurately reflected the participants' feedback. Using axial coding, which focuses on developing and relating categories into conceptual understanding, the researchers connected categories and subcategories, exploring the relationships and patterns that emerged. Finally, selective



Figure 1: Grounded Theory: Analytical Process

coding followed, where the researchers identified the core category that integrates all other categories into a cohesive narrative. Theoretical themes were generated as the researchers constructed a theory that reflects both the data and their interpretive insights. Throughout the process, memo-writing helped document reflections, decisions, and evolving understandings, highlighting the interpretive nature of the analysis.

#### Results

As indicated, the emergence of underlying themes in interpretive constructed grounded theory involves a detailed, iterative process where patterns and significant concepts are identified and refined. The transcript data was analyzed until thematic saturation was reached, where no new themes or categories emerged from the data. At this point, the identified themes are considered comprehensive and robust, and they represent what the experts' opinions on the rescheduling of cannabis means holistically. This section presents the results of these analyses.

Figure 2 depicts the four themes that emerged from the data, indicating the central findings of this grounded theory study: The experts believe that the main consideration of a potential cannabis rescheduling on public health or traffic safety would involve the dynamic relationship between perception and reality (i.e., how the public perceives what cannabis rescheduling on the federal level would mean).



Figure 2. Themes and Core Categories

## Theme 1: Public Understanding and Misunderstanding of Cannabis

Public perception is heavily influenced by understanding of the pros and cons of cannabis use and by existing misconceptions on the topic. This is a category with multiple subsumed codes that represent this theme.

This category effectively captures the essence of the various misunderstandings and confusions surrounding cannabis use, dosing, potency, different types, poly-use, potential harms, and the legal/rescheduling processes. Specifically, this category subsumes the following codes (Appendix C describes and defines each code) drawn directly from the two focus groups' data, and were noted 103 times, collectively:

- Rescheduling Process
- Decline in Perception of Harm
- Misunderstanding of Cannabis
- Drug Potency Impacts
- Cannabis Types
- Polydrug Use
- Cannabis Dosing

The two most prolific codes from this group (i.e., codes that most often surfaced in analyzing participants' opinions) were the Rescheduling Process (n=15) and Misunderstanding of Cannabis (n= 21).

The comments categorized in Rescheduling Process indicated that cannabis rescheduling to a lower category and possible federal legalization at some point are likely to occur; a multi-step process exists for rescheduling, there are steps to be taken, and proactivity in understanding that process is instrumental to being able to protect the public. At times, participants spoke of rescheduling in the context of full legalization of marijuana, anticipating a trajectory that a federallevel legalization could be in our future. Participants spoke of a lack of understanding about the process, asked questions about what next steps might include, and offered proactive suggestions that could occur. The following quotes from focus group participants exemplify these ideas:

"I think it's more likely to happen than not to happen, but certainly this is a process."

"The process is ongoing. There are a number of steps that remain in this process that could involve things like the DEA granting administrative law hearings and calling for additional evidence to be brought forward."

"There's different sets of expectations and you know immediately when they announce the rescheduling there were law enforcement agencies and,...they were being besieged by politicians and the community about when's it gonna make it legal."

*"It may be no really discernible short-term effect, but I do think the rescheduling could have a long-term effect..."* 

"So I think it's important to have these discussions [about cannabis rescheduling] proactively beforehand...so we're not sort of caught with our pants down."

"...You need to get in front of it and right now no one really is."

"I think one of them is as we kind of go directly back to the question about the change in classification, the one thing that that pops up there in my mind, from an unintended consequences [standpoint], what happens for federally regulated jobs? We talked earlier about, you drive for a living. You know what is the implication? If it's now a Schedule III and somebody has got a prescription at the state level for using it right now, you can't operate a bus or train or airplane or truck what based on federal law. But what are the implications of that for a federal level? I don't know if NHTSA has looked at [that]. What would happen from that perspective if it's rescheduled, then all of a sudden you know you could get somebody that goes to court and you know well, can you regulate what somebody does off duty for a drug that's now no longer a Schedule I drug?"

"I think there's a lot of uncertainty, at least for me in terms of, you know, what does this rescheduling look like and what are the implications down the stream?"

Another prevalent code that emerged in these data was Misunderstanding of Cannabis. This code was applied when a participant referred to public perception that might be incorrect or limited in some way about cannabis (potency, dosing, impact on cognition, poly use with other drugs, law/policy, etc.). The following quotes illustrate this code:

"We're figuring it out, but the fact that we don't know what cannabis to move to Schedule 3... I don't know what that's gonna look like, is a big concern... I guess that the lay person may not even know the rescheduling's happening or may not have a big effect on them."

"I also think it will, and it feels like there will be minimal change after rescheduling, just purely on an understanding and education point of view. The term rescheduling, you can't instinctively know what that means immediately. So for the lay person it's like, what does that mean? Legalization—It's got the word legal in it. It's probably easier to understand, but the amount of conversations I've had with people that don't understand what decriminalization is, that is also potentially not a quick thing to understand. So I feel as again if I don't understand what rescheduling is, it probably won't make any difference to my day-to-day because can I buy it legally now?"

"One of the [misperceptions of cannabis use] that emerged very early in our state is I'm going to smoke a little weed to sober up and then drive home."

"When you talk to young people, the big thing is a couple of drinks, a couple of beers, and a couple of joints. I mean, and they don't realize how they interact, and how a couple of beers in a night might not hurt you, a couple of joints I think would, but that's what it is, it's alcohol and cannabis together in the young people and they don't realize how dangerous that can be."

"I think a lot of people don't really understand what rescheduling means, and I think that can also play a huge role in perceptions and later behaviors."

## **Theme 2: Communication and Policy Implementation**

Effective and coordinated messaging is crucial to align public perception with regulatory intentions and to ensure trust in the legal framework. As noted by the experts, current misalignment in communications and implementation is cause for concern on the future roll out as depicted in the Misalignment in Communications & Implementation category that emerged from these data.

This category captures the lack of alignment in messaging, coordination, information sharing, and application/implementation of policy/law with regards to cannabis use. The category includes the following codes (see Appendix C for further detail), which were noted 80 times in the data across the two focus groups:

- Distinction from Alcohol Impairment
- Medical Doctor Comfort with Cannabis Knowledge & Information Sharing
- Lack of Prosecution Follow Through
- Messaging
  - Coordination of Messaging/Roll Out
  - Negative Perception of Messaging
- Role of Federal Government
  - o Institutional Mistrust
- State Testing and Regulation

• Strengthening Adjudication System

Messaging and the codes subsumed within messaging were the most prevalent of this category (n=33). Participants spoke to the importance of how we communicate rescheduling and any other policy/law associated with cannabis. How the message is rolled out, and the accuracy of the message, were noted as particularly relevant to public health and traffic safety outcomes. A lack of trust is suggested in some of the language that participants used. The following quotes magnify this:

"...the real problem I have with the way this was laid out in terms of restructuring or relabeling or reclassifying marijuana is it doesn't seem to me like it was well thought out in terms of how you're gonna message this issue."

"...if you're going to do this, I certainly hope it's not because of politics. Because if we're doing it now because [it's] an election year and it's because of politics, it's the wrong approach. It's not good for the community. It's not good for understanding the issue and last but not least, it's not good for public health, nor the traffic safety issue."

"And so messaging what rescheduling means, not just in the medical community, but also in the other communities affected by this issue is incredibly important."

"The fact that the federal government for 50 years [said] that marijuana is in the same category as heroin now it says it's in the same category as ketamine. I think most Americans are going to disregard either message because they're going to say I don't think those messages make sense."

"...a quick note about messaging, how important messaging is and the misinformation. The great example of like sativa versus indica, there is so much misinformation about sativa will give me, you know focused and energized and there's not a scientific basis for those two types of classifications. And I think that kind of drives the point that we need more education and messaging to help people make informed decisions about their use."

"...from the medical piece and everything else, the whole understanding of what rescheduling means is not very well understood by most people and by the public."

"When it comes to getting information from the federal government around cannabis, they're not the most credible source and our young people know that."

## Theme 3: Evolution and Impact of Cannabis Research

Continued cannabis research is vital to inform policy and public understanding, highlighting the need for adequate funding and resources. As noted below in the Research Exploration category, some of the experts noted the drawbacks in current restrictions related to cannabis research, they see potential value in advancing cannabis research, and they note improved research opportunities as one of the pros related to the impact rescheduling could have on both traffic and public health safety.

This category conveys the dynamic and forward-looking nature of several references to existing empirical evidence, covering past, present, and future research activities. It also aligns with quotes around funding and resourcing to continue our understanding of how cannabis impacts

public health and traffic safety. This category emerged 27 times and included the following codes (see Appendix C for further detail):

- Improved Research Opportunities as an Outcome of Rescheduling
- Challenging Existing Research
- Citing Research to Support Perspective
- Funding/Resourcing for Research

Improved research opportunities are seen as beneficial and perhaps a positive outcome of rescheduling cannabis. Participants spoke to existing research, often with reservations or critiques on limitations. Participants advocated for more research, and expressed the belief that more resources and funding for future research may emerge as a result of cannabis rescheduling.

"...can't do the research and now you will be able to..."

"...we are excited about the idea that research could be easier to do...."

"As far as testing and actually doing research on cannabis, there are [a] multitude of research centers across the country. They're doing dosing studies, have been doing it for decades. One well-known researcher, [name withheld], she's a psychobiologist. She's been studying this stuff for like over 50 years. And cannabis in particular... It's astounding. She has some really just fantastic insights of doing this research for 50 years. And people can do the research. You know, you don't need all this kind of, you know, some of these legislation pieces to be kind of unveiled for people to do the research. It may be harder to get the paperwork and get it done. It's being done. My buddy here, Speaker 4, and his group has been doing it for you know, a long time. So and there are many, many other people across the country."

"...So, on the question of whether or not rescheduling itself would increase traffic safety problems, I see no reason to believe that would be the case. I'm gonna drop in the chat a link to some summaries, abstracts of studies that NORML compiled. As was mentioned, I think there is no evidence that medical cannabis laws are associated with increases in traffic fatalities."

"I think with Schedule III, research on how to better understand and how to control for quality, control for dosing, control for method, can be better addressed with research again not for non-medical purposes or recreational legalization, but from moving from Schedule I to Schedule III."

"NHTSA's been trying really hard to do that study again (drug crash risk case control study)...And you know, there was all the problems about the NHTSA surveys and things like that. That slowed things up. What was really interesting about that study, it was all set to go in Baltimore and at the very last minute, the Baltimore political thing said, no, we don't want it. So they moved it to Virginia Beach. It was one location. Almost all NHTSA's stuff is multiple locations and it was meant to be crashes. Impactful crashes and it ended up... and if you read if you read everything NHTSA's put out about it, it's quite understandable. Virginia Beach is a huge military establishment. They've got ships, planes, you know, just everything. So the militaries test all the time for drugs, right? They, you know, they do random testing at any point. So drug use in the community was quite down. That was one of the problems they ended up primarily with fender benders. Not serious crashes, injuries, deaths. Whatever. So it wasn't the population that they were looking for either. If you also go to the DRUID [Driving Under the Influence of Drugs, Alcohol and Medicines] study that was run in 13 countries in Europe, uh, they ended up once they adjusted for sex and age the odds ratio for cannabis went down to non-significant. But if you looked at the statistic of responsibility for a fatal crash, it was over two."

"That's even more murky in the research, and even though I agree there is a lot of cannabis research, there's still a lot of disagreement around traffic safety. Within that research about the effect that THC, especially by itself, especially if we're using crash data, because it's hardly ever by itself in the crash data, and just like the trauma study that was just done, looking at substances in crashes, I think at least in our state we have a per se for alcohol and we have a per se for THC."

"So my two things I agree about the research. You can do it now. I mean, I've been doing it for a very long period of time. It's a pain in the neck. It takes time. It takes work whatever, but you can. You can do the studies, so going to three is not going to change much. I'm disappointed because I know the DEA has approved other laboratories besides the one in Mississippi to supply other forms of cannabis, but I myself don't know of anybody who is actually doing that yet."

"I do still think yes, there's a ton of research that's going on around this. I do a lot of it as well, but there's so much more we need to do. I mean, I OK if it doesn't allow us to actually look at real world products, that's a huge problem and will continue to be a big one until we can do that because right now people are terrible at reporting the amount of potency that's in their actual products."

"I would argue that the biggest impediment we have right now when it comes to real world research is if you live in California, where cannabis has been legal medicinally since 1996 and it's been legal for adult use for the better part of more than the last half decade. If you live in San Francisco and say you work as a doctor at UC San Francisco and you want to do a study on the real-world products, San Franciscans are buying at retailers. You can't do that study because you're not permitted to use cannabis that's sourced from state legal sources. It has to come from a federally approved source; that my understanding is not going to change if cannabis moves to Schedule III. So if we don't move, that doesn't allow us to do the clinical work we wanna do and it doesn't allow us to test the product we say we want to know more about. So again, I don't see... on the margins, it may have some influence. Maybe they'll be more money allocated toward doing studies."

"Obviously there is a boatload of research that is being done and has been done about cannabis and your introduction, and you talk about the ABCD study, which is a longitudinal study looking at the development of young people who have been exposed to cannabis and those who haven't. That study is happening right now."

#### Theme 4: Assessing Cannabis Impairment

Reliable assessment methods are essential to maintain public confidence in safety measures and address the unique challenges posed by cannabis impairment. They are also seen as necessary to promote a consistent and reliable adjudication system for traffic offenses related to cannabis impairment. While the other themes and categories presented were shared in discussions about public health and traffic safety outcomes, this theme was unique to traffic safety.

Participants made 44 references to how we currently assess cannabis impairment, how we could assess cannabis impairment, and how it differs from all other drug and alcohol assessments. Participants spoke to roadside assessment of cannabis impairment and their current confidence in measurement practices. This includes the tools (both behavioral and biological) used to assess impairment, as well as the training that law enforcement receives. Codes included the following:

- Assessment Tools/Techniques
- Toxicology Assessment
- Assessing Impairment Training

The following quotes speak to the importance of the integration of tools, toxicology, and training for assessing driving impairment. Specifically, the combination of using video cameras, specialized behavioral assessments, and biological assessment tools was indicated by the participants as an important component to the rescheduling of cannabis:

"...one thing I've been intrigued by is the idea of some kind of video-like way of determining if people are impaired. So, I know NORML helped to work on DRUID [app] which tests your own baseline. Then after you use cannabis, you know you would fail all of these tests. And I heard from a legislator that maybe Carnegie Mellon, there's some university that's working on something like that and I would love to see something like that because then you don't need every officer trained, necessarily. You could potentially just have the results of these tests and your observations don't matter as much because it could all be recorded. So, if something like that could be developed, that would be reliable and could be different for different substances, I think it would be really helpful."

"...I also think that we need better tools and some of these new apps may be very helpful, especially if people got used to testing themselves and they made the decision like having the baseline and then making the decision that you know 'I'm impaired. I shouldn't go out and drive now.'"

"I think that would be fantastic to do, but I also think they would help the officer at the roadside because no matter what, Speaker 3, no matter what we do to make a standardized DRE [Drug Recognition Expert protocol] and done the same way and even now bodycam and all those things you know the officer's in a position of power. And so the dynamics of that to have an another objective tool available to provide evidence I think would be very help helpful to the officer and to the adjudication."

"I'm on a lot of commissions trying to get oral fluid changed in the law. It will help you a lot because it'll reduce the time the officer has to go to the hospital and get blood drawn and meanwhile the THC is not detectable cause it's dropping so quickly and you know it'll mean you're on the road doing your job rather than sitting in a hospital two to three hours trying to get blood samples et cetera. But it's a long process and we're so, so slow."

"We need more officers. We need more training. All of that. I am still very strong on toxicology is a necessary confirmation... So, there are tools that go hand in hand. There's no one answer and we need to come up with the combination of testing that ensures that we're able to detect impaired driving, but that we don't falsely accused people of impaired driving."

"We absolutely need the documentation of impairment, and the toxicology suggests what drugs may be contributing to that impairment. OK, I'm a huge, huge believer in oral fluid because oral fluid can be taken right at the roadside, non-invasively by the officer and can indicate potentially what drug may be available. And it was interesting, most people think of oral fluid as a providing the probable cause. MMM... I kind of think that officer has a lot of other clues that also provide that, but I think oral fluid gives you a great answer and great support to the officer."

"I think any tool that an officer can have, whether it be an oral fluid tester or a PBT [preliminary breath test] for alcohol is great. But the real-world observations, what their eyes look like speech, odor, admission, all those things, that's the true capture of any kind of impairment. So I don't know if that answered your question. I think we need necessary tools. Training is probably gonna be the biggest thing."

## Core Category: Perception and Understanding

As evident from the themes and comments above, perception and understanding is a core concept, encompassing various misunderstandings and confusions related to cannabis use, particularly in the context of its rescheduling (and illustrated in Figure 2). Perception and understanding are driven by, as well as have an impact on:

(a) <u>communication and messaging</u>—lack of consistent messaging generates confusion and distorts perception;

"I think a lot of people don't really understand what rescheduling means, and I think that can also play a huge role in perceptions and later behaviors." –Focus Group Participant (b) existing <u>valid research</u> and what resources (funds) are being sourced to understand cannabis use as it relates to public health and traffic safety; and

(c) <u>effective assessment</u>, as the methods and tools used to evaluate impairment directly influence public attitudes and beliefs about cannabis safety and risks.

According to participants, differences in perception and misunderstanding of what the rescheduling of cannabis

would mean to the public will be a core issue. Panelists were concerned the public would perceive the rescheduling as an indication that "[cannabis] is safe," increasing the likelihood that cannabis-related negative health and safety consequences would increase. A strong campaign to clarify the meaning of moving cannabis to a lower schedule level in the Controlled Substances Act will be needed to correct any misconceptions about the policy change.

## Synthesis

In this section, a structured interpretation of the themes and core findings obtained from participants' opinions is offered, organized under several key questions.

## What did the focus group participants say about cannabis rescheduling in terms of impact on public health?

Participants felt that public health impacts would be minimal or lacked certainty around the rescheduling of cannabis. They did speak to a few problems and benefits as a result of this potential federal scheduling change in the Controlled Substances Act.

Most participants agreed that the main concern coming from the rescheduling relates to how the public would perceive the rescheduling. Panelists were concerned the public would perceive the rescheduling as an indication that "*it* [cannabis] is safe," increasing the likelihood that cannabis-related negative health and safety consequences would develop. One participant addressed this well with the following quote: "*That's what my big worry from a public health standpoint…is…Does that message change and cause more people to be willing to experiment, particularly at younger ages, where it may have more impact on the developing brain?*" Participants said that a strong campaign to clarify the meaning of rescheduling cannabis to the public would be necessary to correct any misconception about the policy and the effects of cannabis on the body.

On the other hand, participants agreed that the rescheduling would allow researchers to fully study the public-health consequences of cannabis. This is because federal restrictions on the type and strength of cannabis allowed to be used in federally funded research has limited the types of research that can be conducted. Some participants believe that the beneficial impact on cannabis research would be negligible, arguing that the key research on cannabis has already been conducted.

## What did the focus group participants say about cannabis rescheduling in terms of impact on traffic safety?

Experts suggested that cannabis rescheduling would have an impact on traffic safety, largely because by perceiving that "[cannabis] is safe" the rescheduling would translate into an increase in the unsafe use of cannabis among drivers. Participants were concerned that such an increase in cannabis use would occur during a time when methods to establish and detect cannabis impairment still need improvement. As such, the majority of experts spoke to their concern for assessing cannabis impairment, particularly during roadside evaluation. Experts spoke to the tools, such as oral fluid testing and police trained in drug detection assessments, that are currently being utilized, the misunderstandings around toxicology, and the need for continued training for officers who are evaluating cannabis impairment.

The experts agreed that a major concern is polydrug use. They indicated that cannabis is seldom the sole drug being assessed in a traffic safety stop. There is currently a lack of understanding in the research community around polydrug use that includes cannabis and how it impacts traffic safety.

The experts overwhelmingly supported continued research to understand both cannabisonly use and its cognitive impact and impairment associated with driving. Participants also supported research to develop more tools to assess impairment and continued training efforts for law enforcement officers who are evaluating impairment during a roadside stop.

#### Who is most at risk as cannabis rescheduling is considered?

Focus group participants discussed a lifespan perspective when considering who might be at greatest risk from a rescheduling of cannabis. Consideration was given to the impact on a fetus, young children, adolescents, young adults, and aging adults. A consensus formed that aging adults were at lower risk. These were individuals who were described as 60 years or older. Participants indicated an increase of cannabis use among this group as states legalized the substance and also noted the possible implications of contraindications with other medicine that individuals are prescribed. The experts were nearly unanimous in agreement that the most vulnerable group with regard to the rescheduling of cannabis at a federal level would be young adults, children, and adolescents.

Considering the prevalence of use for youth and adolescents, experts spoke to the impact cannabis use may have on the developing brain and the public health impact of cannabis on children and young adults. The experts noted their concern for youth and adolescent cannabis use perpetuating negative impacts throughout the life of someone who engages in cannabis use at an early age. For example, participants addressed the research that indicates that cannabis use early in life is associated with adult diagnosis of cannabis use disorder. In addition, the groups discussed research related to cannabis use among young individuals that are genetically predisposed to psychiatric disorders. The concern around the developing brain is that the early onset of cannabis exposure would increase the likelihood of a psychotic break, leading to a host of public health impacts.

They also spoke to the limited experience that adolescents and young adults have as drivers and how that could impact traffic safety as a result of the expected increase in cannabis use after the rescheduling of cannabis.

#### What do the experts say we need to do?

- We need federal-level vision and mission clarification on cannabis rescheduling and/or legalization that is not aligned to political efforts, big pharma, or the cannabis industry. Rather, these efforts need to align to research so that we are promoting a unification of our efforts at the local, state, and federal levels. This unification will allow for uniform messaging that is multiplied by existing written law/policy, law enforcement, educators, researchers, scholars, and medical professionals, among others.
- We need to be transparent, clear, and effective in our communication and messaging rollout. These things need to be linked to data-driven, empirical findings based on both past and current research.
- We need to hyper-focus our messaging around the impact of cannabis on the developing brain.
- We need to continually invest and fund research on the various types of cannabis use and policy impacts.
- We need to consider medical training and how that aligns to current research and messaging.
- Regarding traffic safety, research is needed to continue to explore tools and trainings to assess cannabis impairment.
- We need training for Drug Recognition Experts (DREs) and law enforcement officers to properly assess cannabis impairment, utilizing data-driven and research-based tools and best practices.

• We also need to strengthen the adjudication process for the prosecution of cannabis and other drug-impaired drivers.

#### **Discussion and Conclusion**

As described, two focus group sessions were conducted to gather expert opinion on the impact that the rescheduling of cannabis could have on public health in general, and traffic safety in particular. An important feature of this qualitative study was the eliciting of opinions from experts with opposing points of views regarding both the benefits and problems associated with cannabis use. Such a composition of experts allowed a thorough and candid, as well as respectful, treatment of potential challenging issues.

To facilitate the interpretation of the discussion, as noted previously, panelists were instructed to (a) discuss the impact that rescheduling cannabis would have on public health in general, separate from what the impact rescheduling would have specifically on traffic safety; and (b) focus on the impact of rescheduling, not on legalization.

While panelists tended to follow these suggestions, the analyses show that they did not always keep the suggested separations. For instance, when referring to the impact of cannabis on public health, they sometimes had traffic safety in mind. Four categories emerged from the grounded theory analysis of qualitative data:

- 1. Lack of Prosecution Follow Through
- 2. State Testing and Regulation
- 3. Strengthening Adjudication System
- 4. Distinction from Alcohol Impairment

These were central to the experts' views about the impact of rescheduling cannabis on traffic safety, but these codes fit into a category of Misalignment in Communication & Implementation, which subsumed both traffic safety and public health concerns. The need for an accurate detection method of cannabis impairment at roadside and the need for proper prosecution and adjudication of cannabis offenses have already been abundantly identified as key challenges to the traffic safety community (Smith et al., 2019, Banta-Green & Williams, 2016). Thus, although they were discussed as categories relevant to the general discussion of the effects on cannabis rescheduling, this research team notes that when discussing these specific issues, the panelists were referring to traffic safety outcomes. For consistency and analytical rigor, four categories are presented that pertain to both traffic safety and public health in general, because that is how they were revealed by grounded theory analyses. When interpreting these results, the reader should consider the possibility that participants were referring specifically to traffic safety outcomes.

Although interesting from an academic perspective, the issue of whether these four categories should be considered as characteristics pertaining to public health in general or traffic safety in particular is of negligible practical importance, for it does not affect the focus groups' main result.

Prior to conducting the focus group sessions, it was expected that some of the participants would hold divergent positions and arguments regarding the rescheduling of cannabis. Indeed, recruited experts represented a wide spectrum of opinions about the role of cannabis on our society. Such a strategy was believed to result in a rich and fresh exchange of ideas and opinions; however, despite experts differing on some issues, the study revealed an unexpected homogeneity

regarding experts' opinions. The experts universally agreed that the main challenge to public health and traffic safety from the potential rescheduling of cannabis lies not in the actual rescheduling per se, but in how the public perceives the policy. As revealed by our analysis, misperception and misunderstanding of cannabis rescheduling lie at the core of the issue. The experts agreed that the public seems to misunderstand what a rescheduling of cannabis means. Panelists were concerned the public would perceive the reduction in the Controlled Substances Act schedule level as an indication that "cannabis is safe;" a misconception that would induce an increase in cannabis use, potentially leading to related negative health consequences. For instance, all panelists, regardless of their views about the number of benefits associated with cannabis use, agreed that an increase in the prevalence of driving while impaired by cannabis. In other words, the experts were not concerned as much about the rescheduling of cannabis per se as they were about the public misperception about the change in policy that could induce many to misuse cannabis.

As a result, the experts uniformly expressed the need to fight such a misconception. The experts agreed on the core finding of this qualitative study and, accordingly, recommend that compelling, consistent campaigns to clarify the meaning of rescheduling cannabis at the federal level would be necessary to correct any misconception about the policy.

The existence of disparities in public health and traffic safety has been well-documented. These disparities have been associated with a disproportionate risk for marginalized communities, particularly those of color (Cornado, et. al., 2020, Retting, 2021). Despite our efforts to recruit experts with backgrounds as diverse as possible, minorities were minimally represented among study participants. Subsequently, although the depth of expertise and knowledge of those who participated in the focus group sessions is a strength of this study, the limited discussion on the impact a rescheduling of cannabis may have on minorities is a study limitation.

- Akinloye D.I., Metibemu D.S., Shittu M.T., Lawal M.A., Olatunji F.O., Oyediran M.A., & Akinloye O.A. (2023). Cannabis sativa demonstrates anti-hepatocellular carcinoma potentials in animal model: in silico and in vivo studies of the involvement of Akt. *Journal of Cannabis Research*, 5, 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42238-023-00190-z
- Aldington S., Harwood M., Cox B., Weatherall M., Beckert L., Hansell A., Pritchard A., Robinson G., & Beasley R. (2008). Cannabis use and cancer of the head and neck: case-control study. *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery 138*, 374-380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.otohns.2007.12.002
- Allaf S., Lim J.S., Buckley N.A., & Cairns R. (2023). The impact of cannabis legalization and decriminalization on acute poisoning: A systematic review. *Addiction 118*(2), 2252–2274. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.16280
- Allebeck P., Gunnarsson T., Lundin A., Löfving S., Dal H., & Zammit S. (2023). Does a history of cannabis use influence onset and course of schizophrenia? *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 147(6), 614–622. https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.13562
- Amaral C., Carvalho C., Scaranelo A., Chapman K., Chatkin J., & Ferreira I. (2023). Cannabis and sleep disorders: not ready for prime time? A qualitative scoping review. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *19*(5), 975–990. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.10428
- Anis O., Vinayaka A.C., Shalev N., Namdar D., Nadarajan S., Anil S.M., Cohen O., Belausov E., Ramon J., & Mayzlish Gati E. (2021). Cannabis-derived compounds cannabichromene and Δ9tetrahydrocannabinol interact and exhibit cytotoxic activity against urothelial cell carcinoma correlated with inhibition of cell migration and cytoskeleton organization. *Molecules*, 26(2), 465. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26020465
- Ansell E.B., Bedillion M.F., Farris S.R., Gilbert J.M., Koch M.M., & Thureen S.E. (2023). Cannabis Use Breaks in Young Adults: The Highs and Lows of Tolerance Breaks. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 249, 109951. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2023.109951
- American Psychological Association. n.d. What is Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)? Available at: https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/ptsd/what-is-ptsd. Accessed August 1, 2023.
- American Psychological Association. 2013. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition*. Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Asbridge M., Mann R., Cusimano M.D., Trayling C., Roerecke M., Tallon J.M., Whipp A., & Rehm J. (2014). Cannabis and traffic collision risk: findings from a case-crossover study of injured drivers presenting to emergency departments. *International journal of public health*, *59*(2), 395–404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-013-0512-z
- Athanassiou M., Dumais A., Zouaoui I., & Potvin S. (2023). The clouded debate: A systematic review of comparative longitudinal studies examining the impact of recreational cannabis legalization on key public health outcomes. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *13*, 1060656. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1060656

- Aydelotte J.D., Brown L.H., Luftman K.M., Mardock A.L., Teixeira P.G., Coopwood B., & Brown C.V. (2017). Crash fatality rates after recreational marijuana legalization in Washington and Colorado. *American journal of public health, 107,* 1329–1331. https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/abs/10.2105/AJPH.2017.303848
- Aydelotte J.D., Mardock A.L., Mancheski C.A., Quamar S.M., Teixeira P.G., Brown C.V., & Brown L.H. (2019). Fatal crashes in the 5 years after recreational marijuana legalization in Colorado and Washington. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *132*, 105284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2019.105284
- Aziz A-i., Nguyen L.C., Oumeslakht L., Bensussan A., & Ben Mkaddem S. (2023). Cannabinoids as immune system modulators: Cannabidiol potential therapeutic approaches and limitations. *Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research*, 8(2), 254–269. https://doi.org/10.1089/can.2022.0133
- Barakji J., Korang S.K., Feinberg J., Maagaard M., Mathiesen O., Gluud C., & Jakobsen J.C. (2023). Cannabinoids versus placebo for pain: A systematic review with meta-analysis and Trial Sequential Analysis. *Plos one, 18*, e0267420. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0267420
- Banta-Green C., & Williams J. 2016. *Overview of Major Issues Regarding the Impacts of Alcohol and Marijuana on Driving*. Available: https://aaafoundation.org/overview-major-issues-regarding-impacts-alcohol-marijuana-driving/
- Bartos B.J., Newark C., & McCleary R. (2020). Marijuana medicalization and motor vehicle fatalities: a synthetic control group approach. *Journal of experimental criminology*, *16*, 247–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11292-018-9345-3
- Berning A. (2022). Alcohol and Drug Prevalence Among Seriously or Fatally Injured Road Users. *Traffic Tech:Technology Transfer Series*, DOT HS 813 400. https://rosap.ntl.bts.gov/view/dot/65624
- Berning A., Compton R., & Wochinger K. (2015). Results of the 2013–2014 National Roadside Study of Alcohol and Drug Use by Drivers. *Traffic Safety Facts: Research Note*, DOT HS 812 118. https://doi.org/10.21949/1525810
- Berning A., & Smither D.D. (2014). Understanding the limitations of drug test information, reporting, and testing practices in fatal crashes. *Traffic Safety Facts: Research Note*, DOT HS 812 072. https://doi.org/10.21949/1525959
- Bialas P., Fitzcharles M.A., Klose P., & Häuser W. (2022). Long-term observational studies with cannabis-based medicines for chronic non-cancer pain: A systematic review and metaanalysis of effectiveness and safety. *European Journal of Pain*, 26(6), 1221–1233. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1957
- Bidwell L., Sznitman S., Martin-Willett R., & Hitchcock L. (2023). Daily associations with cannabis use and sleep quality in anxious cannabis users. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 22(2), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/15402002.2023.2217969
- Blake A., & Nahtigal I. (2019). The evolving landscape of cannabis edibles. *Current Opinion in Food Science, 28,* 25–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cofs.2019.03.009

- Blal K., Besser E., Procaccia S., Schwob O., Lerenthal Y., Abu Tair J., Meiri D., & Benny O. (2023). The Effect of Cannabis Plant Extracts on Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma and the Quest for Cannabis-Based Personalized Therapy. *Cancers*, 15(2), 497. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers15020497
- Blanco C., Hasin D.S., Wall M.M., Flórez-Salamanca L., Hoertel N., Wang S., Kerridge B.T., & Olfson M. (2016). Cannabis use and risk of psychiatric disorders: prospective evidence from a US national longitudinal study. *JAMA psychiatry*, 73(4), 388–395. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.3229
- Blandino A., Cotroneo R., Tambuzzi S., Di Candia D., Genovese U., & Zoja R. (2022). Driving under the influence of drugs: Correlation between blood psychoactive drug concentrations and cognitive impairment. A narrative review taking into account forensic issues. *Forensic science international: Synergy*, *4*, 100224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsisyn.2022.100224
- Blest-Hopley G., Colizzi M., Giampietro V., & Bhattacharyya S. (2020). Is the adolescent brain at greater vulnerability to the effects of cannabis? A narrative review of the evidence. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *11*, 859. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00859
- Boakye E., El Shahawy O., Obisesan O., Dzaye O., Osei A.D., Erhabor J., Uddin S.I., & Blaha M.J. (2022). The inverse association of state cannabis vaping prevalence with the e-cigarette or vaping product-use associated lung injury. *PLoS one, 17*(10), e0276187. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276187
- Bonnet U., Specka M., Roser P., & Scherbaum N. (2023). Cannabis use, abuse and dependence during the COVID-19 pandemic: a scoping review. *Journal of Neural Transmission, 130*, 7–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-022-02564-8
- Borodovsky J.T., & Budney A.J. (2018). Cannabis regulatory science: Risk-benefit considerations for mental disorders. *International Review of Psychiatry*, *30*(3), 183–202. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540261.2018.1454406
- Bourque J., & Potvin S. (2021). Cannabis and cognitive functioning: from acute to residual effects, from randomized controlled trials to prospective designs. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *12*, 596601. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.596601
- Breivogel C.S., & Pulgar V.M. (2023). Chapter 36 Synthetic cannabinoid receptor agonists compared to Δ<sup>9</sup>-tetrahydrocannabinol: Neurological effects and beyond. In Martin, C.R., Patel, V.B, & Preedy, V.R (Eds.), *Cannabis Use, Neurobiology, Psychology, and Treatment* (pp. 487–496). Elsevier. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-89862-1.00021-0
- Bridgeman M.B., & Abazia D.T. (2017). Medicinal cannabis: history, pharmacology, and implications for the acute care setting. *Pharmacy and therapeutics*, *42*(3), 180–188. https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC5312634/
- Brown J.D., Rivera Rivera K.J., Hernandez L.Y.C., Doenges M.R., Auchey I., Pham T., & Goodin A.J. (2021). Natural and synthetic cannabinoids: pharmacology, uses, adverse drug events, and drug interactions. *The Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, *61*(S2), S37-S52. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcph.1871

- Brubacher J., Chan H., Erdelyi S., Yuan Y., Daoust R., Vaillancourt C., Rowe B., Lee J., Mercier E., & Atkinson P. (2023). High-'n'-dry? A comparison of cannabis and alcohol use in drivers presenting to hospital after a vehicular collision. *Addiction, 118*(8), 1507–1516. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.16186
- Brubacher J.R., Chan H., Erdelyi S., Staples J.A., Asbridge M., & Mann R.E. (2022). Cannabis legalization and detection of tetrahydrocannabinol in injured drivers. *New England journal of medicine*, *386*(2), 148–156. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa2109371
- Buchtova T., Beresova L., Chroma K., Pluhacek T., Beres T., Kaczorova D., Tarkowski P., Bartek J., & Mistrik M. (2023). Cannabis-derived products antagonize platinum drugs by altered cellular transport. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, *163*, 114801. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2023.114801
- Calvert C., & Erickson D. (2020). An examination of relationships between cannabis legalization and fatal motor vehicle and pedestrian-involved crashes. *Traffic injury prevention*, *21*(8), 521–526. https://doi.org/10.1080/15389588.2020.1810246
- Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2017). Pharmacology and Substance Use. Available at: <u>https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-04/CCSA-Pharmacology-Substance-Use-Summary-2017-en.pdf</u>.
- Cerdá M., & Kilmer B. (2017). Uruguay's middle-ground approach to cannabis legalization. *International Journal of Drug Policy, 42*, 118–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2017.02.007
- Cerdá M., Mauro C., Hamilton A., Levy N.S., Santaella-Tenorio J., Hasin D., Wall M.M., Keyes K.M., & Martins S.S. (2020). Association between recreational marijuana legalization in the United States and changes in marijuana use and cannabis use disorder from 2008 to 2016. *JAMA psychiatry*, *77*(2), 165–171. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.3254
- Chaffee B.W., Couch E.T., Wilkinson M.L., Donaldson C.D., Cheng N.F., Ameli N., Zhang X., & Gansky S.A. (2023). Flavors increase adolescents' willingness to try nicotine and cannabis vape products. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, *246*, 109834. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2023.109834
- Chandy M., Nishiga M., Wei T-T., Hamburg N.M., Nadeau K., & Wu J.C. (2024). Adverse impact of cannabis on human health. *Annual review of medicine*, *75*, 353–367. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-052422-020627
- Chao C., Jacobson L.P., Jenkins F.J., Tashkin D., Martínez-Maza O., Roth M.D., Ng L., Margolick J.B., Chmiel J.S., Zhang Z-F, & Detels, R. (2009). Recreational drug use and risk of Kaposi's sarcoma in HIV-and HHV-8-coinfected homosexual men. *AIDS research and human retroviruses*, *25*(2), 149–156. https://doi.org/10.1089/aid.2008.0196

Charmaz, K. 2014. *Constructing grounded theory* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). SAGE Publications.

Charoenporn V., Charernboon T., & Mackie C.J. (2023). Medical cannabis as a substitute for prescription agents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Substance Use, 28*(4), 522–534. https://doi.org/10.1080/14659891.2022.2070870

- Chayasirisobhon S. (2020). Mechanisms of Action and Pharmacokinetics of Cannabis. *The Permanente Journal*, 25, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.7812/tpp/19.200
- Chen P.X., & Rogers M.A. (2019). Opportunities and challenges in developing orally administered cannabis edibles. *Current Opinion in Food Science, 28*, 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cofs.2019.02.005
- Chesney E., Oliver D., & McGuire P. (2022). Cannabidiol (CBD) as a novel treatment in the early phases of psychosis. *Psychopharmacology*, *239*(5), 1179–1190. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-021-05905-9
- Chisini L.A., Cademartori M.G., Francia A., Mederos M., Grazioli G., Conde M.C., & Correa M.B. (2019). Is the use of Cannabis associated with periodontitis? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Periodontal Research*, *54*(4), 311–317. https://doi.org/10.1111/jre.12639
- Cho J., Goldenson N.I., Kirkpatrick M.G., Barrington-Trimis J.L., Pang R.D., & Leventhal A.M. (2021). Developmental patterns of tobacco product and cannabis use initiation in high school. *Addiction*, *116*(2), 382–393. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15161
- Cohn A.M., & Elmasry H. (2023). First use of cannabis compared to first use of alcohol and tobacco: Associations with single and poly-substance use behavior. *Drug and alcohol dependence,* 248, 109904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2023.109904
- Colizzi M., & Bhattacharyya S. (2018). Cannabis use and the development of tolerance: a systematic review of human evidence. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 93*, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.07.014
- Compton R., & Berning A. (2009). Results of the 2007 National Roadside Survey of Alcohol and Drug Use by Drivers. *Traffic Safety Facts: Research Note,* DOT HS 811 175. https://doi.org/10.21949/1525704
- Compton R.P., & Berning A. (2015). Drug and Alcohol Crash Risk. *Traffic Safety Facts: Research Note,* DOT HS 812 117. https://doi.org/10.21949/1525811
- Conde K., Peltzer R.I., Gimenez P.V., Salomón T., Suarez G., Monteiro M., Cherpitel C.J., & Cremonte M. (2023). Road traffic injury risk from alcohol and cannabis use among emergency department patients in Argentina. *Revista panamericana de salud publica, 46*, e116. https://doi.org/10.26633/RPSP.2022.116
- Cooper Z.D., & Craft R.M. (2018). Sex-dependent effects of cannabis and cannabinoids: a translational perspective. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *43*, 34-51.
- Cornado F., Beck A.J., Shah G., Young J.L., Sellers K., & Leider J.P. (2020). Understanding the Dynamics of Diversity in the Public Health Workforce. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, *26*(4), 389–392. https://doi.org/10.1097/phh.000000000001075
- Crocker C.E., Emsley J., & Tibbo P.G. (2023). Mental health adverse events with cannabis use diagnosed in the Emergency Department: what are we finding now and are our findings accurate? *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *14*, 1093081. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1093081

- Crocq M.A. (2020). History of cannabis and the endocannabinoid system. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience, 22*(3), 223–228. https://doi.org/10.31887/dcns.2020.22.3/mcrocq
- Curran H.V., Freeman T.P., Mokrysz C., Lewis D.A., Morgan C.J., & Parsons L.H. (2016). Keep off the grass? Cannabis, cognition and addiction. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *17*, 293–306. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2016.28
- Dada S., Ellis S.L., Wood C., Nohara L.L., Dreier C., Garcia N.H., Saranchova I., Munro L., Pfeifer C.G., Eyford B.A., Kari S., Garrovillas E., Caspani G., Haddad E.A., Gray P.W., Morova T., Lack N.A, Andersen R.J., Tooelker L., & Jefferies W.A. (2023). Specific cannabinoids revive adaptive immunity by reversing immune evasion mechanisms in metastatic tumours. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 13, 982082. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.982082
- Daling J.R., Doody D.R., Sun X., Trabert B.L., Weiss N.S., Chen C., Biggs M.L., Starr J.R., Dey S.K., & Schwartz S.M. (2009). Association of marijuana use and the incidence of testicular germ cell tumors. *Cancer*, 115(6), 1215–1223. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.24159
- De Aquino J.P., Sofuoglu M., Stefanovics E., & Rosenheck R. (2019). Adverse consequences of cooccurring opioid use disorder and cannabis use disorder compared to opioid use disorder only. *The American journal of drug and alcohol abuse*, *45*(5), 527-537. https://doi.org/10.1080/00952990.2019.1607363
- de Groot P.M., Wu C.C., Carter B.W., & Munden R.F. (2018). The epidemiology of lung cancer. *Translational lung cancer research*, 7(3), 220. https://doi.org/10.21037/tlcr.2018.05.06
- Dellazizzo, Laura, Stéphane Potvin, Sabrina Giguère, and Alexandre Dumais. "Evidence on the Acute and Residual Neurocognitive Effects of Cannabis Use in Adolescents and Adults: A Systematic Meta-Review of Meta-Analyses." *Addiction (Abingdon, England)* 117, no. 7 (July 2022): 1857–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15764</u>.
- DeMartini J., Patel G., & Fancher T.L. (2019). Generalized anxiety disorder. *Annals of internal medicine*, *170*(7), ITC49–ITC64. https://doi.org/10.7326/aitc201904020
- Denissoff A., Levola J., Niemelä S., & Mustonen A. (2022). Cannabis and Intentional Self-injury: a Narrative Review. *Current Addiction Reports, 9*, 598–607. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40429-022-00453-4
- DOJ. 2024. Justice Department Submits Proposed Regulation to Reschedule Marijuana [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-submits-proposed-regulation-reschedule-marijuana</u>
- Dor M. (2022). Three Decades of Cannabis Research: What are the Obstacles? *Rambam Maimonides Medical Journal, 13*(4). https://doi.org/10.5041/RMMJ.10486
- Drug Enforcement Agency. n.d. *Drug Scheduling* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.dea.gov/drug-information/drug-scheduling#:~:text=Some%20examples%20of%20Schedule%20I,)%2C%20methaqualone%2C%20and%20peyote</u>.

- Eeswara A., Pacheco-Spiewak A., Jergova S., & Sagen J. (2023). Combined non-psychoactive Cannabis components cannabidiol and β-caryophyllene reduce chronic pain via CB1 interaction in a rat spinal cord injury model. *PLoS one*, *18*(3), e0282920. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0282920
- Ellis C.M., Grace M.F., Smith R.A., & Zhang J. (2022). Medical cannabis and automobile accidents: Evidence from auto insurance. *Health economics*, *31*(9), 1878–1897. https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.4553
- Englund A., Freeman T.P., Murray R.M., & McGuire P. (2017). Can we make cannabis safer? *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 4(8), 643–648. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(17)30075-5
- Englund A., Oliver D., Chesney E., Chester L., Wilson J., Sovi S., De Micheli A., Hodsoll J., Fusar-Poli P., Strang J., Murray R.M., Freeman T.P., & McGuire P. (2023). Does cannabidiol make cannabis safer? A randomised, double-blind, cross-over trial of cannabis with four different CBD: THC ratios. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 48(6), 869–876. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-022-01478-z
- Erukainure O.L., Oyenihi O.R., Amaku J.F., Chukwuma C.I., Nde A.L., Salau V.F., & Matsabisa M.G. (2023). *Cannabis sativa* L. modulates altered metabolic pathways involved in key metabolisms in human breast cancer (MCF-7) cells: A metabolomics study. *Heliyon*, 9(5), e16156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e16156
- Farrelly K.N., Wardell J.D., Marsden E., Scarfe M.L., Najdzionek P., Turna J., & MacKillop J. (2023). The impact of recreational cannabis legalization on cannabis use and associated outcomes: a systematic review. *Substance abuse: research and treatment, 17*, 11782218231172054. https://doi.org/10.1177/11782218231172054
- Food and Drug Administration. (2017). Assessment of abuse potential of drugs; guidance for industry, in Series Assessment of abuse potential of drugs; guidance for industry. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER). https://www.fda.gov/media/116739/download
- Feingold D., Weiser M., Rehm J., & Lev-Ran S. (2016). The association between cannabis use and anxiety disorders: results from a population-based representative sample. European *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 26(3), 493–505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.12.037
- Figueiredo P.R., Tolomeo S., Steele J.D., & Baldacchino A. (2020). Neurocognitive consequences of chronic cannabis use: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 108*, 358–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.10.014
- Fink D.S., Stohl M., Sarvet A.L., Cerda M., Keyes K.M., & Hasin DS. (2020). Medical marijuana laws and driving under the influence of marijuana and alcohol. *Addiction*, 115(10), 1944–1953. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15031

- Fischer B., Robinson T., Bullen C., Curran V., Jutras-Aswad D., Medina-Mora M.E., Pacula R.L., Rehm J., Room R., van den Brink W., & Hall W. (2022). Lower-Risk Cannabis Use Guidelines (LRCUG) for reducing health harms from non-medical cannabis use: A comprehensive evidence and recommendations update. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 99, 103381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2021.103381
- Fone Z., Kumpas G., & Sabia J. (2023). Do Recreational Marijuana Laws Reduce Racial Disparities? Evidence from Criminal Arrests, Psychological Health, and Mortality. *2023 APPAM Fall Research Conference*. https://appam.confex.com/appam/2023/meetingapp.cgi/Paper/50482
- Fontana T.J., Schulz J.A., Budney A.J., & Villanti A.C. (2022). Feasibility and utility of a structured guide for cannabis tolerance breaks in young adults. *Journal of American college health*, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2022.2155061
- Fowles R., & Loeb P.D. (2021). The association between marijuana and motor vehicle crashes. *Journal of Transport & Health, 21*, 101043. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jth.2021.101043
- Freire N.F., Feuser P.E., Ambel E.M.T., Cordani M., De Pieri E., Machado-de-Ávila R.A., Zielinski A.A., Sayer C., de Araújo P.H.H., Díez G.V., Cabral-Albuquerque E.C., & Fialho R.L.L. (2023).
  Preparation and characterization of full-spectrum cannabis extract loaded poly (thioetherester) nanoparticles: In vitro evaluation of their antitumoral efficacy. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 658*, 130676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2022.130676
- Fusar-Poli L., Rodolico A., Martinez M., Fichera C., Lin B.D., Basadonne I., Concerto C., Aguglia E., Guloksuz S., & Signorelli M.S. (2023). The association between polygenic risk scores for mental disorders and social cognition: A scoping review. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 164, 389–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2023.06.029
- Gammon D.G., Gaber J., & Lee Y.O. (2021). CBD products that resemble tobacco products enter traditional retail outlets. *Tobacco Control*, *30*(2), 237–238. https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2019-055452
- Gendy M.N., Frey B.N., Van Ameringen M., Kuhathasan N., & MacKillop J. (2023). Cannabidiol as a candidate pharmacotherapy for sleep disturbance in alcohol use disorder. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, *58*(4), 337–345. https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agad031
- Ghasemiesfe M., Barrow B., Leonard S., Keyhani S., & Korenstein D. (2019). Association between marijuana use and risk of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Network Open*, *2*(11), e1916318. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.16318
- Ghosh M., & Naderi S. (2019). Cannabis and cardiovascular disease. *Current atherosclerosis reports,* 21(6), 21. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11883-019-0783-9
- Gjerde H., & Mørland J. (2016). Risk for involvement in road traffic crash during acute cannabis intoxication. *Addiction 111*(8), 1492–1495. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13435
- Glasser A.M., Nemeth J.M., Quisenberry A.J., Shoben AB., Trapl E.S., & Klein E.G. (2022). Cigarillo flavor and motivation to quit among co-users of cigarillos and cannabis: A structural equation modeling approach. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19*(9), 5727. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19095727
- Goodwin R.D., Wyka K., Luo M., Weinberger A.H., & Kattan M. (2023). Cannabis legalization and childhood asthma in the United States: An ecologic analysis. *Preventive medicine*, *170*, 107414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2022.107414
- Gorfinkel L.R., Stohl M., Greenstein E., Aharonovich E., Olfson M., & Hasin D. (2021). Is Cannabis being used as a substitute for non-medical opioids by adults with problem substance use in the United States? A within-person analysis. *Addiction*, *116*(5), 1113-1121. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15228
- Guggisberg J., Schumacher M., Gilmore G., & Zylla D.M. (2022). Cannabis as an anticancer agent: A review of clinical data and assessment of case reports. *Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research*, 7(1), 24–33. https://doi.org/10.1089/can.2021.0045
- Hall W., & Lynskey M. (2016). Evaluating the public health impacts of legalizing recreational cannabis use in the United States. *Addiction, 111*(10), 1764–1773. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13428
- Hall W., & Lynskey M. (2020). Assessing the public health impacts of legalizing recreational cannabis use: the US experience. *World Psychiatry*, *19*(2), 179–186. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20735
- Hall W., & MacPhee D. (2002). Cannabis use and cancer. *Addiction*, *97*(3), 243–247. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00003.x
- Hall W., & Pacula R.L. (2010). *Cannabis use and dependence: public health and public policy,* (reissue of 1st edition, 2003). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09780511470219
- Hall W., Stjepanović D., Dawson D., & Leung J. (2023). The implementation and public health impacts of cannabis legalization in Canada: a systematic review. *Addiction, 118*(11), 2062–2072. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.16274
- Hanganu B., Lazar D.E., Manoilescu I.S., Mocanu V., Butcovan D., Buhas C.L., Szalontay A.S., & Ioan B.G. (2022). Controversial Link between Cannabis and Anticancer Treatments—Where Are We and Where Are We Going? A Systematic Review of the Literature. *Cancers*, 14(16), 4057. http://doi.org/10.3390/cancers14164057
- Hansen B., Miller K., & Weber C. (2020). Early evidence on recreational marijuana legalization and traffic fatalities. *Economic inquiry*, *58*(2), 547–568. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecin.12751
- Harrell M.B., Clendennen S.L., Sumbe A., Case K.R., Mantey D.S., & Swan S. (2022). Cannabis vaping among youth and young adults: A scoping review. *Current Addiction Reports*, *9*(3), 217–234. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40429-022-00413-y

- Hasin D., & Walsh C. (2020). Cannabis use, cannabis use disorder, & comorbid psychiatric illness: A narrative review. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *10*(1), 15. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm10010015
- Hawley P., Gobbo M., & Afghari N. (2020). The impact of legalization of access to recreational Cannabis on Canadian medical users with Cancer. *BMC Health Services Research, 20*(1), 977. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05756-8
- Hels T., Bernhoft I.M., Lyckegaard A., Houwing S., Hagenzieker M., Legrand S., Isalberti C., Van der Linden T., & Verstraete A. (2011). *Risk of injury by driving with alcohol and other drugs*. Project No. TREN-05- FP6TR-S07.61320-518404-DRUID http://www.druidproject.eu/cln\_031/nn\_107534/Druid/EN/deliveraleslist/deliverables-listnode.html?\_\_nnn=true
- Hidding U., Mainka T., & Buhmann C. (2023). Therapeutic use of medical Cannabis in neurological diseases: a clinical update. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 131(2), 117–126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-023-02719-1
- Hindley G., Beck K., Borgan F., Ginestet C.E., McCutcheon R., Kleinloog D., Ganesh S., Radhakrishnan R., D'Souza D.C., & Howes O.D. (2020). Psychiatric symptoms caused by cannabis constituents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(4), 344–353. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(20)30074-2
- Huestis M.A., Henningfield J.E., & Cone E.J. (1992). Blood cannabinoids. I. Absorption of THC and formation of 11-OH-THC and THCCOOH during and after smoking marijuana. *Journal of Analytical Toxicology*, *16*(5), 276–282. https://doi.org/10.1093/jat/16.5.276
- Janecki M., Graczyk M., Lewandowska A.A., & Pawlak Ł. (2022). Anti-inflammatory and antiviral effects of cannabinoids in inhibiting and preventing SARS-CoV-2 infection. *International journal of molecular sciences, 23*(8), 4170. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23084170
- Järvinen T., Pate D.W., & Laine K. (2002). Cannabinoids in the treatment of glaucoma. *Pharmacology* & therapeutics, 95(2), 203–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0163-7258(02)00259-0
- Jorgensen C., & Wells J. (2021). Is marijuana really a gateway drug? A nationally representative test of the marijuana gateway hypothesis using a propensity score matching design. *Journal of experimental criminology*, *18*, 497–514. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11292-021-09464-z
- Kalayasiri R., & Boonthae S. (2023). Trends of cannabis use and related harms before and after legalization for recreational purpose in a developing country in Asia. *BMC Public Health, 23*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-023-15883-6
- Kamer R.S., Warshafsky S., & Kamer G.C. (2020). Change in traffic fatality rates in the first 4 states to legalize recreational marijuana. *JAMA internal medicine, 180*(8), 1119–1120. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.1769
- Kandel D. (1975). Stages in adolescent involvement in drug use. *Science, 190*(4217), 912–914. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1188374
- Kaur S., Nathani A., & Singh M. (2023). Exosomal delivery of cannabinoids against cancer. *Cancer Letters*, 566, 216243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2023.216243

- Kavousi P., Giamo T., Arnold G., Alliende M., Huynh E., Lea J., Lucine R., Tillett Miller A., Webre A., & Yee A. (2022). What do we know about opportunities and challenges for localities from Cannabis legalization? *Review of Policy Research*, 39(2), 143–169. https://doi.org/10.1111/ropr.12460
- Kelley-Baker T., Villavicencio L., Arnold L.S., Benson AJ., Anorve V., & Tefft B.C. (2021). Risky driving behaviors of drivers who use alcohol and cannabis. *Transportation Research Record: Journal* of the Transportation Research Board, 2675(5), 339–344. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361198121989727
- Kilmer B., Rivera-Aguirre A., Queirolo R., Ramirez J., & Cerdá M. (2022). Cannabis legalization and traffic injuries: exploring the role of supply mechanisms. *Addiction*, *117*(8), 2325–2330. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15840
- Kim C., Chum A., Nielsen A., Allin S., Penney T.L., Rittenbach K., MacMaster F.P., & O'Campo P. (2022). Associations between recreational cannabis legalization and cannabis-related emergency department visits by age, gender, and geographic status in Ontario, Canada: An interrupted time series study. *PLoS One, 17*(10), e0268718. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0268718
- Klein T.A., & Clark C.S. (2022). Therapeutic use of cannabis in the US. *The Nurse Practitioner*, 47(12), 16–25. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NPR.0000884880.81603.c5
- Kluemper A. (2022). Clinical Pharmacology of Cannabinoids. In Riggs P., & Thant T. (Eds.), Cannabis in Psychiatric Practice: A Practical Guide. Psychiatry Update, vol 3. (13-26). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-04874-6\_2
- Krzyzanowski D.J., & Purdon S.E. (2020). Duration of abstinence from cannabis is positively associated with verbal learning performance: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychology*, *34*(3), 359–372. https://doi.org/10.1037/neu0000615
- Lacey, J. H., Kelley-Baker, T., Berning, A., Romano, E., Ramirez, A., Yao, J., ,... & Compton, R. (2016). Drug and alcohol crash risk: A case-control study, DOT HS 812 355. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. https://doi.org/10.21949/1529970
- Lacey J.H., Kelley-Baker T., Furr-Holden D., Voas R.B., Romano E., Torres P., Tippetts A.S., Ramirez A., Brainard K., & Berning A. (2009). *2007 National roadside survey of alcohol and drug use by drivers: alcohol results*, DOT HS 811 248. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. https://doi.org/10.21949/1525677
- Lacson J.C.A., Carroll J.D., Tuazon E., Castelao E.J., Bernstein L., & Cortessis V.K. (2012). Populationbased case-control study of recreational drug use and testis cancer risk confirms an association between marijuana use and nonseminoma risk. *Cancer, 118*(21), 5374–5383. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.27554
- Laish-Farkash A., Vasilenko L., Moisa N., & Vorobiof D. (2023). The Prevalence of Cannabis-related Arrhythmias in Patients with Cancer: Real-world Data Evidence of Patient-reported Outcomes. *The Israel Medical Association Journal: IMAJ, 25*(4), 292–297.

- Laqueur H., Rivera-Aguirre A., Shev A., Castillo-Carniglia A., Rudolph K.E., Ramirez J., Martins SS., & Cerdá M. (2020). The impact of cannabis legalization in Uruguay on adolescent cannabis use. *International Journal of Drug Policy, 80*, 102748. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102748
- Lawn W., Trinci K., Mokrysz C., Borissova A., Ofori S., Petrilli K., Bloomfield M., Haniff Z.R., Hall D., Fernandez-Vinson N., Wang S., Englund A., Chesney A., Wall M.B., Freeman T.P., & Curran H.V. (2023). The acute effects of cannabis with and without cannabidiol in adults and adolescents: A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover experiment. *Addiction*, 118(7), 1282–1294. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.16154
- Lees B., Debenham J., & Squeglia L.M. (2021). Alcohol and cannabis use and the developing brain. *Alcohol research: current reviews*, *41*(1), 11. https://doi.org/10.35946/arcr.v41.1.11
- Lerksuthirat T., Srisuma S., Ongphiphadhanakul B., & Kueanjinda P. (2023). Sentiment and Topic Modeling Analysis on Twitter Reveals Concerns over Cannabis-Containing Food after Cannabis Legalization in Thailand. *Healthcare Informatics Research*, 29(3), 269–279. https://doi.org/10.4258/hir.2023.29.3.269
- Leszko M. (2023). Chapter 11 Use of cannabidiol oil by caregivers: A focus on Alzheimer's disease. In Preedy V.R., Patel V.B., & Martin C.R. (Eds.), *Medicinal Usage of Cannabis and Cannabinoids* (129–134). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-90036-2.00045-4
- Liang C., McClean M.D., Marsit C., Christensen B., Peters E., Nelson H.H., & Kelsey K.T. (2009). A Population-Based Case-Control Study of Marijuana Use and Head and Neck Squamous Cell CarcinomaMarijuana Use and HNSCC. *Cancer Prevention Research*, 2(8), 759–768. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.capr-09-0048
- Lo L.A., MacCallum C.A., Nanson K., Koehn M., Mitchell I., Milloy M-J., Walsh Z., & Fehr F. (2023). Cannabidiol as a harm reduction strategy for people who use drugs: a rapid review. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *68*(8), 557–571. https://doi.org/10.1177/07067437231183525
- Lo T.W., Yeung J.W.K., & Tam CHL. (2020). Substance Abuse and Public Health: A Multilevel Perspective and Multiple Responses. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(10), 2610. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17072610
- Lovell M.E., Akhurst J., Padgett C., Garry M.I., & Matthews A. (2020). Cognitive outcomes associated with long-term, regular, recreational cannabis use in adults: A meta-analysis. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *28*(4), 471–494. https://doi.org/10.1037/pha0000326
- Luchowska A., Sroczyńska M., & Żaczek A. (2023). Cannabis and Sleep: A Systematic Review of the Effects of Cannabinoids on Sleep Disorders. *Journal of Education, Health and Sport,* 13(3), 24–30. https://doi.org/10.12775/JEHS.2023.13.03.003
- MacCallum C.A., Lo L.A., Pistawka C.A., Christiansen A., & Boivin M. (2023). Cannabis vaporisation: Understanding products, devices and risks. *Drug and alcohol review*, 43(3), 732–745. https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13800

- Maddison K.J., Kosky C., & Walsh J.H. (2022). Is there a place for medicinal cannabis in treating patients with sleep disorders? What we know so far. *Nature and Science of Sleep*, *14*, 957–968. https://doi.org/10.2147/nss.s340949
- Maggu G., Choudhary S., Jaishy R., Chaudhury S., Saldanha D., & Borasi M. (2023). Cannabis use and its relationship with bipolar disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, *32*(2), 202–214. https://doi.org/10.4103/ipj.ipj\_43\_23
- Manthey J., Hayer T., Jacobsen B., Kalke J., Klinger S., Rehm J., Rosenkranz M., Verthein U., Wirth M., Armstrong M., Myran D., Pacula R., Queirolo R., & Zobel F. (2023). *Effects of legalizing cannabis*. Institut für interdisziplinäre Sucht-und Drogenforschung (ISD), Hamburg, Germany. Funding was provided by the German Ministry of Health (JE2-04814-01/020) http://dx.doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.20708.45442
- Marchand G., Masoud A.T., Govindan M., Ware K., King A., Ruther S., Brazil G., Ulibarri H., Parise J., & Arroyo A. (2022). Birth outcomes of neonates exposed to marijuana in utero: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Network Open, 5*(1), e2145653. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.45653
- Marinello S., & Powell L.M. (2023). The impact of recreational cannabis markets on motor vehicle accident, suicide, and opioid overdose fatalities. *Social Science & Medicine, 320*, 115680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2023.115680
- Martinasek M.P., McGrogan JB., & Maysonet A. (2016). A systematic review of the respiratory effects of inhalational marijuana. *Respiratory Care*, *61*(11), 1543–1551. https://doi.org/10.4187/respcare.04846
- Martins S.S., Segura L.E., Levy N.S., Mauro P.M., Mauro C.M., Philbin M.M., & Hasin D.S. (2021). Racial and Ethnic Differences in Cannabis Use Following Legalization in US States With Medical Cannabis Laws. *JAMA Network Open, 4*(9), e2127002. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.27002
- Matheson J., & Le Foll B. (2023). Impacts of recreational cannabis legalization on use and harms: A narrative review of sex/gender differences. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *14*, 1127660. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1127660
- Mayol M., Andrade E., Rivoir S.P., Rossy L.A.B., & Rosing C.K. (2021). Periodontal status in cannabis smokers. A systematic review. *Journal of the International Academy of Periodontology, 23*(2), 150–166.
- McCartney D., Arkell T.R., Irwin C., & McGregor I.S. (2021). Determining the magnitude and duration of acute Δ9-tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ9-THC)-induced driving and cognitive impairment: A systematic and meta-analytic review. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 126*, 175–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.01.003
- McKee G., McClure S., Fyfe M., & Stanwick R. (2018). Protecting the public from exposure to secondhand cannabis smoke and vapour following legalization. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, *109*(2), 223–226. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-018-0054-5

- Mechoulam R., Parker LA., & Gallily R. (2002). Cannabidiol: an overview of some pharmacological aspects. *The Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 42*(S1), 11S–19S. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1552-4604.2002.tb05998.x
- Mehrnoush V., De Lima S.G., Kotb A., & Hyndman M.E. (2022). The association of bladder cancer and Cannabis: A systematic review. *Archivio Italiano di Urologia e Andrologia*, 94(2), 248–251. https://doi.org/10.4081/aiua.2022.2.248
- Middlekauff H.R., Cooper Z.D., & Strauss S.B. (2022). Drugs of misuse: Focus on vascular dysfunction. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology, 38*(9), 1364–1377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjca.2022.04.011
- Miller K., & Seo B. (2021). The effect of cannabis legalization on substance demand and tax revenues. *National Tax Journal*, 74(1), 107–145. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3148773
- Miller R., Brown T., Wrobel J., Kosnett M.J., & Brooks-Russell A. (2022). Influence of cannabis use history on the impact of acute cannabis smoking on simulated driving performance during a distraction task. *Traffic injury prevention 23*(S1), S1–S7. https://doi.org/10.1080/15389588.2022.2072492
- Mondino A., Fernandez S., Garcia-Carnelli C., Castro M.J., Umpierrez E., Torterolo P., Falconi A., & Agrati D. (2019). Vaporized Cannabis differentially modulates sexual behavior of female rats according to the dose. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior, 187*, 172814. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2019.172814
- Monfort S.S. (2018). Effect of recreational marijuana sales on police-reported crashes in Colorado, Oregon, and Washington. Insurance Institute for Highway Safety & Highway Loss Data Institute. https://www.iihs.org/api/datastoredocument/bibliography/2173
- Myran D.T., Gaudreault A., Pugliese M., Manuel D.G., & Tanuseputro P. (2023). Cannabis-involved traffic injury emergency department visits after cannabis legalization and commercialization. *JAMA Network Open, 6*(9), e2331551. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2023.31551
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2017). *The health effects of cannabis and cannabinoids: the current state of evidence and recommendations for research.* The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/24625.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2024). Cannabis policy impacts public health and health equity. The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/27766.
- Nasrin S., Coates S., Bardhi K., Watson C., Muscat J.E., & Lazarus P. (2023). Inhibition of Nicotine Metabolism by Cannabidiol (CBD) and 7-Hydroxycannabidiol (7-OH-CBD). *Chemical research in toxicology*, *36*(2), 177–187. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrestox.2c00259
- Nazif-Munoz J.I., Oulhote Y., & Ouimet M.C. (2020). The association between legalization of cannabis use and traffic deaths in Uruguay. *Addiction*, *115*(9), 1697–1706. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14994

- National Institutes of Health. (2019). *Cannabis (Marijuana) and Cannabinoids: What You Need To Know*. (2019, November). https://www.nccih.nih.gov/health/cannabis-marijuana-and-cannabinoids-what-you-need-to-know
- National Institute of Mental Health . (2023). Understanding Psychosis, in Series Understanding Psychosis, Vol. NIH Publication No. 23-MH-8110. National Institutes of Health. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/sites/default/files/documents/health/publications/understan ding-psychosis/23-MH-8110-Understanding-Psychosis.pdf
- Ochoa S.G. (2021). Stroke and cannabis use in patients with no cardiovascular risk factors: a systematic review of case reports. *Neurología (English Edition), 36*(3), 222–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nrl.2017.09.016
- Okey S. (2023). *How High are You? An EMA Comparison of Subjective Effects After Edible and Smoked Cannabis, in Series How High are You? An EMA Comparison of Subjective Effects After Edible and Smoked Cannabis.* [PhD Thesis, Arizona State University]. https://hdl.handle.net/2286/R.2.N.187682
- Ortiz-Peregrina S., Casares-López M., Ortiz C., Castro-Torres J.J., Martino F., & Jiménez J.R. (2022). Comparison of the effects of alcohol and cannabis on visual function and driving performance. Does the visual impairment affect driving? *Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 237*, 109538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2022.109538
- Overbeek D.L., Kass A.P., Chiel L.E., Boyer E.W., & Casey A.M. (2020). A review of toxic effects of electronic cigarettes/vaping in adolescents and young adults. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, *50*(6), 531–538. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408444.2020.1794443
- Pabon E., Rockwood F., Norman G.J., & de Wit H. (2022). Acute effects of oral delta-9tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) on autonomic cardiac activity and their relation to subjective and anxiogenic effects. *Psychophysiology*, *59*(2), e13955. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.13955
- Padoan F., Colombrino C., Sciorio F., Piacentini G., Gaudino R., Pietrobelli A., & Pecoraro L. (2023). Concerns related to the consequences of pediatric cannabis use: a 360-degree view. *Children 10*(11), 1721. https://doi.org/10.3390/children10111721
- Passani A., Posarelli C., Sframeli A.T., Perciballi L., Pellegrini M., Guidi G., & Figus M. (2020). Cannabinoids in glaucoma patients: The never-ending story. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(12), 3978. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9123978
- Pennypacker S.D., Cunnane K., Cash M.C., & Romero-Sandoval E.A. (2022). Potency and Therapeutic THC and CBD Ratios: U.S. Cannabis Markets Overshoot. *Frontiers in Pharmacology, 13*, 921493. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022.921493
- Pérez-Neri I., Mishra R., Sandoval H., Zárate M., & Ríos C. (2023). Therapeutic potential of cannabinoids for stroke: scoping review protocol. *Archivos de Neurociencias*, 28(2), 28–34. http://doi.org/10.31157/an.v28i2.356
- Perisetti A., Gajendran M., Dasari C.S., Bansal P., Aziz M., Inamdar S., Tharian B., & Goyal H. (2020). Cannabis hyperemesis syndrome: an update on the pathophysiology and management. *Annals of Gastroenterology*, *33*(6), 571–578. https://doi.org/10.20524/aog.2020.0528

- Peterson C., Sallam N., Baglot S., Kohro Y., Trang T., Hill M., & Borgland S.L. (2023). Sex differences in pharmacokinetics, central accumulation, and behavioural effects of oral cannabis consumption in male and female C57BL/6 mice. [Preprint]. https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.05.10.540248
- Petrilli K., Hines L., Adams S., Morgan C.J., Curran H.V., & Freeman T.P. (2023). High potency cannabis use, mental health symptoms and cannabis dependence: Triangulating the evidence. *Addictive behaviors, 144*, 107740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2023.107740
- Phucharoen C., Sangkaew N., Wichupankul S., & Nanthaamornphong A. (2023). Green rush in Phuket: big-data evidence of cannabis commercialization in a tourism-centric area. *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*, *40*(6), 532–550. https://doi.org/10.1080/10548408.2023.2263782
- Pintori N., Caria F., De Luca M.A., & Miliano C. (2023). THC and CBD: Villain versus hero? insights into adolescent exposure. *International journal of molecular sciences*, *24*(6), 5251. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24065251
- Piscura MK., Henderson-Redmond A.N., Barnes R.C., Mitra S., Guindon J., & Morgan D.J. (2023). Mechanisms of cannabinoid tolerance. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *214*, 115665. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2023.115665
- Platt B., O'Driscoll C., Curran V.H., Rendell P.G., & Kamboj S.K. (2019). The effects of licit and illicit recreational drugs on prospective memory: a meta-analytic review. *Psychopharmacology*, 236(4), 1131–1143. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-019-05245-9
- Pollini R.A., Romano E., Johnson M.B., & Lacey J.H. (2015). The impact of marijuana decriminalization on California drivers. *Drug and alcohol dependence, 150*, 135–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.02.024
- Potukuchi P.K., Moradi H., Park F., Kaplan C., Thomas F., Dashputre A.A., Sumida K., Molnar M.Z., Gaipov A., & Gatwood J.D. (2023). Cannabis use and risk of acute kidney injury in patients with advanced chronic kidney disease transitioning to dialysis. *Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research*, 8(1), 138–147. https://doi.org/10.1089/can.2021.0044
- Preteroti M., Wilson E.T., Eidelman D.H., & Baglole C.J. (2023). Modulation of pulmonary immune function by inhaled cannabis products and consequences for lung disease. *Respiratory Research*, *24*(1), 95. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12931-023-02399-1
- Queirolo R., Álvarez E., Sotto B., & Cruz J.M. (2023). How High-Frequency Users Embraced Cannabis Regulation in Uruguay. *Journal of Drug Issues*, *53*(4), 519–535. https://doi.org/10.1177/00220426221134902
- Rafei P., Englund A., Lorenzetti V., Elkholy H., Potenza M.N., & Baldacchino A.M. (2023). Transcultural aspects of cannabis use: a descriptive overview of cannabis use across cultures. *Current Addiction Reports, 10*, 458–471. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40429-023-00500-8
- Ramaekers J.G., Kauert G., Theunissen E., Toennes S.W., & Moeller M. (2009). Neurocognitive performance during acute THC intoxication in heavy and occasional cannabis users. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, *23*(3), 266–277. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881108092393

- Rao D.P., Abramovici H., Crain J., Do M.T., McFaull S., & Thompson W. (2018). The lows of getting high: sentinel surveillance of injuries associated with cannabis and other substance use. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 109(2), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-018-0027-8
- Reddon H., Lake S., Socias M.E., Hayashi K., DeBeck K., Walsh Z., & Milloy M-J. (2023). Cannabis use to manage opioid cravings among people who use unregulated opioids during a drug toxicity crisis. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, *119*, 104113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2023.104113
- Rein J.L., Zeng H., Faulkner G.B., Chauhan K., Siew E.D., Wurfel M.M., Garg A.X., Tan T.C., Kaufman J.S., Chinchilli V.M., & Coca S.G. (2023). A Retrospective Cohort Study That Examined the Impact of Cannabis Consumption on Long-Term Kidney Outcomes. *Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research*, 9(2), 635–645. https://doi.org/10.1089/can.2022.0141

Retting. R., Richardson M., Smith H., and Turner S. (2021). An analysis of traffic fatalities by race and Ethnicity. Governors Highway Safety Association. https://www.ghsa.org/sites/default/files/2021-06/An%20Analysis%20of%20Traffic%20Fatalities%20by%20Race%20and%20Ethnicity\_ 0.pdf

- Riggs P., & Thant T. (Eds.) (2022). *Cannabis in Psychiatric Practice: A Practical Guide*. Springer Nature.
- Rivera-Aguirre A., Castillo-Carniglia A., Laqueur H.S., Rudolph K.E., Martins S.S., Ramírez J., Queirolo R., & Cerdá M. (2022). Does recreational cannabis legalization change cannabis use patterns? Evidence from secondary school students in Uruguay. *Addiction, 117*(11), 2866–2877. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15913
- Rock E.M., & Parker L.A. (2021). Constituents of Cannabis Sativa. In Murillo-Rodriguez E., Pandi-Perumal S.R., & Monti J.M. (Eds.) Cannabinoids and Neuropsychiatric Disorders. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, vol 1264. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-57369-0\_1
- Rock K.L., Englund A., Morley S., Rice K., & Copeland CS. (2022). Can cannabis kill? Characteristics of deaths following cannabis use in England (1998–2020). *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, *36*(12), 1362–1370. https://doi.org/10.1177/02698811221115760
- Rodríguez-Manzo G., & Canseco-Alba A. (2023). The endogenous cannabinoid system modulates male sexual behavior expression. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience, 17*, 1198077. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2023.1198077
- Roehler D.R., Hoots B.E., Holland K.M., Baldwin G.T., & Vivolo-Kantor A.M. (2022). Trends and characteristics of cannabis-associated emergency department visits in the United States, 2006–2018. *Drug and alcohol dependence, 232,* 109288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2022.109288
- Rogeberg O., & Elvik R. (2016). The effects of cannabis intoxication on motor vehicle collision revisited and revised. *Addiction*, *111*(8), 1348-1359. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13347

- Rubin-Kahana D.S., Crépault J-F., Matheson J., & Le Foll B. (2022). The impact of cannabis legalization for recreational purposes on youth: a narrative review of the Canadian experience. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *13*, 984485. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.984485
- Rudisill T.M., Steinmetz L., & Bardes J.M. (2023). Substance use in rural trauma patients admitted for motor vehicle injuries before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Injury epidemiology*, *10*(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40621-023-00415-y
- Sabia J.J., Dave D.M., Alotaibi F., & Rees D.I. (2021). Is recreational marijuana a gateway to harder drug use and crime? (July 2021). *NBER Working Paper No. w29038*, Available at SSRN: <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=3889145</u>
- Saldana, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. SAGE Publications Ltd. https://uk.sagepub.com/en-gb/eur/the-coding-manual-for-qualitative-researchers/book273583
- Sandini T.M., Onofrychuk T.J., Roebuck A.J., Hammond A., Udenze D., Hayat S., Herdzik M.A., McElroy D.L., Orvold S.N., Greba Q., Laprairie R.B., & Howland J.G. (2023). Repeated Exposure to High-THC *Cannabis* Smoke during Gestation Alters Sex Ratio, Behavior, and Amygdala Gene Expression of Sprague Dawley Rat Offspring. *eNeuro*, *10*(11). https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0100-23.2023
- Santaella-Tenorio J., Wheeler-Martin K., DiMaggio C.J., Castillo-Carniglia A., Keyes K.M., Hasin D., & Cerdá M. (2020). Association of recreational cannabis laws in Colorado and Washington state with changes in traffic fatalities, 2005-2017. *JAMA internal medicine, 180*(8), 1061–1068. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.1757
- Sarvet A.L., Wall M.M., Fink D.S., Greene E., Le A., Boustead A.E., Pacula R.L., Keyes K.M., Cerdá M., & Galea S. (2018). Medical marijuana laws and adolescent marijuana use in the United States: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Addiction*, *113*(6), 1003–1016. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14136
- Schauer G.L., Njai R., & Grant-Lenzy A.M. (2020). Modes of marijuana use–smoking, vaping, eating, and dabbing: Results from the 2016 BRFSS in 12 States. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 209*, 107900. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.107900
- Schlag A.K., Hindocha C., Zafar R., Nutt D.J., & Curran H.V. (2021). Cannabis based medicines and cannabis dependence: A critical review of issues and evidence. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 35(7), 773–785. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881120986393
- Schneider-Smith E., Salottolo K., Swartwood C., Melvin C., Madayag R.M., & Bar-Or D. (2020). Matched pilot study examining cannabis-based dronabinol for acute pain following traumatic injury. *Trauma Surgery & Acute Care Open*, 5(1), e000391. https://doi.org/10.1136/tsaco-2019-000391
- Schwilke E.W., Schwope D.M., Karschner E.L., Lowe R.H., Darwin W.D., Kelly D.L., Goodwin R.S., Gorelick D.A., & Huestis M.A. (2009). Delta9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), 11-hydroxy-THC, and 11-nor-9-carboxy-THC plasma pharmacokinetics during and after continuous high-dose oral THC. *Clinical Chemistry*, 55(12), 2180–2189. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2008.122119

- Scott D., Dukka H., & Saxena D. (2022). Potential mechanisms underlying marijuana-associated periodontal tissue destruction. *Journal of dental research*, *101*(2), 133–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/00220345211036072
- Scott J.C., Slomiak S.T., Jones J.D., Rosen A.F., Moore T.M., & Gur R.C. (2018). Association of cannabis with cognitive functioning in adolescents and young adults: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *JAMA psychiatry*, 75(6), 585–595. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.0335
- Senderovich H., Patel P., Jimenez Lopez B., & Waicus S. (2022). A systematic review on cannabis hyperemesis syndrome and its management options. *Medical Principles and Practice*, 31(1), 29-38. https://doi.org/10.1159/000520417
- Sewell R.A., Poling J., & Sofuoglu M. (2009). The Effect of Cannabis Compared with Alcohol on Driving. *American Journal on Addictions*, 18(3), 185–193. https://doi.org/10.1080/10550490902786934
- Shamabadi A., Ahmadzade A., Pirahesh K., Hasanzadeh A., & Asadigandomani H. (2023). Suicidality risk after using cannabis and cannabinoids: An umbrella review. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *25*(1), 50–63. https://doi.org/10.1080/19585969.2023.2231466
- Shelton S.K., Mills E., Saben J.L., Devivo M., Williamson K., Abbott D., Hall K.E., Monte A.A. (2020). Why do patients come to the emergency department after using cannabis? *Clinical Toxicology*, *58*(6), 453–459. https://doi.org/10.1080/15563650.2019.1657582
- Shorey-Kendrick L.E., Roberts V.H., D'Mello R.J., Sullivan E.L., Murphy S.K., Mccarty O.J., Schust D.J., Hedges J.C., Mitchell A., Terrobias J.J.D., Easley C.A., Spindel E.R., & Lo J.O. (2023). Prenatal delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol exposure is associated with changes in rhesus macaque DNA methylation enriched for autism genes. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 15(1), 104. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-023-01519-4
- Silva-Reis R., Silva A.M., Oliveira P.A., & Cardoso S.M. (2023). Antitumor Effects of Cannabis sativa Bioactive Compounds on Colorectal Carcinogenesis. *Biomolecules*, *13*(5), 764. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom13050764
- Skypala I.J., Jeimy S., Brucker H., Nayak A.P., Decuyper I.I., Bernstein J.A., Connors L., Kanani A., Klimek L., Lo S.C.R., Murphy K.R., Nanda A., Poole J.A., Walusiak-Skorupa J., Sussman G., Zeiger J.S., Goodman R.E., Ellis A.K., Silvers W.S., & Ebo D.G. (2022). Cannabis-related allergies: An international overview and consensus recommendations. *Allergy*, 77(7), 2038– 2052. https://doi.org/10.1111/all.15237
- Smart R., Caulkins J.P., Kilmer B., Davenport S., & Midgette G. (2017). Variation in cannabis potency and prices in a newly legal market: evidence from 30 million cannabis sales in Washington state. *Addiction, 112*(12), 2167–2177. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13886
- Smart R., & Doremus J. (2023). The kids aren't alright: The effects of medical marijuana market size on adolescents. *Journal of Health economics, 87,* 102700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2022.102700

- Smith R.C., Turturici M., Dunn N., & Comer C. (2019). Assessing the Feasibility of Evaluating the Legal Implications of Marijuana Per Se Statutes in the Criminal Justice System [Online]. https://aaafoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/19-0149\_AAAFTS-Marijuana-Per-Se-Fact-Sheet\_v3.pdf
- SOCIOCULTURAL RESEARCH CONSULTANTS. 2018. Dedoose Version 8.0.35, web application for managing, analyzing, and presenting qualitative and mixed method research data [Online]. http://www.dedoose.com.
- Soliman N., Haroutounian S., Hohmann A.G., Krane E., Liao J., Macleod M., Segelcke D., Sena C., Thomas J., Vollert J., Wever K., Alaverdyan H., Barakat A., Barthlow T., Harris Bozer A.L., Davidson A., Diaz-delCastillo M., Dolgorukova A., Ferdousi M.I. ... Rice A.S.C. (2021). Systematic review and meta-analysis of cannabinoids, cannabis-based medicines, and endocannabinoid system modulators tested for antinociceptive effects in animal models of injury-related or pathological persistent pain. *Pain*, *162*(S1), S26–S44. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000002269
- Solowij N., Broyd S., Greenwood L-m., van Hell H., Martelozzo D., Rueb K., Todd J., Liu Z., Galettis P., Martin J., Murray R., Jones A., Michie P. T., & Croft R. (2019). A randomised controlled trial of vaporised Δ9-tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol alone and in combination in frequent and infrequent cannabis users: acute intoxication effects. *European archives of psychiatry and clinical neuroscience, 269*(1), 17–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-019-00978-2
- Soto B., Costanzo L., Puskoor A., Akkari N., & Geraghty P. (2023). The implications of Vitamin E acetate in E-cigarette, or vaping, product use-associated lung injury. *Annals of Thoracic Medicine*, *18*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.4103/atm.atm\_144\_22
- Stoa R.B. (2022). Emerging Issues in Cannabis Law: 2022 and Beyond. Seton Hall Legislative Journal, 46(3), 469. https://ssrn.com/abstract=4320342
- Swenson K.S., Gomez Wulschner L.E., Hoelscher V.M., Folts L., Korth K.M., Oh W.C., & Bates E.A. (2023). Fetal cannabidiol (CBD) exposure alters thermal pain sensitivity, problem-solving, and prefrontal cortex excitability. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 28(8), 3397–3413. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-023-02130-y
- Tashkin D.P., & Roth M.D. (2019). Pulmonary effects of inhaled cannabis smoke. *The American journal of drug and alcohol abuse, 45*(6), 596–609. https://doi.org/10.1080/00952990.2019.1627366.
- Tefft, B.C. & Arnold, L.S. (2020). *Cannabis Use Among Drivers in Fatal Crashes in Washington State Before and After Legalization* (Research Brief). Washington, D.C.: AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety.
- Tefft B.C., & Arnold L.S. (2021). Estimating cannabis involvement in fatal crashes in Washington State before and after the legalization of recreational cannabis consumption using multiple imputation of missing values. *American journal of epidemiology*, *190*(12), 2582–2591. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwab184
- Tefft B.C., Arnold L.S., & Grabowski J.G. (2016). *Prevalence of marijuana involvement in fatal crashes: Washington, 2010–2014.* Washington, D.C.: AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety.

- Thandra K.C., Barsouk A., Saginala K., Aluru J.S., & Barsouk A. (2021). Epidemiology of lung cancer. *Contemporary oncology (Poznan, Poland), 25*(1), 45–52. https://doi.org/10.5114/wo.2021.103829
- Theerasuwipakorn N., Prechawat S., Chokesuwattanasakul R., Siranart N., Marsukjai A., Thumtecho S., & Rungpradubvong V. (2023). Cannabis and adverse cardiovascular events: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Toxicology Reports, 10*, 537–543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxrep.2023.04.011
- Thomas F., Darrah J., Graham L., Berning A., Blomberg R., Finstad K., Griggs C., Crandall M., Schulman C., & Kozar R. (2022). *Alcohol and Drug Prevalence Among Seriously or Fatally Injured Road Users*. DOT HS 813 399. https://rosap.ntl.bts.gov/view/dot/65623
- Thomas F.D., Berning A., Darrah J., Graham L.A., Blomberg R.D., Griggs C., Crandall M., Schulman C., Kozar R., & Neavyn M. (2020). *Drug and alcohol prevalence in seriously and fatally injured road users before and during the COVID-19 public health emergency.* DOT HS 813 013. https://doi.org/10.21949/1525983
- Thomas P.A., Carter G.T., & Bombardier C.H. (2022). A scoping review on the effect of cannabis on pain intensity in people with spinal cord injury. *The journal of spinal cord medicine*, *45*(5), 656–667. https://doi.org/10.1080/10790268.2020.1865709
- Thomson A., McVey A., Timm B., & Bolton D. (2023). Urogenital Malignancy and Cannabis Use: A Narrative Review. *Société Internationale d'Urologie Journal*, 4(1), 51–64. https://doi.org/10.48083/10.48083/ND0J8638
- Toscano A., Ebo D.G., Abbas K., Brucker H., Decuyper I.I., Naimi D., Nanda A., Nayak A.P., Skypala I.J., Sussman G., Zeiger J.S., Silvers W.S., & International Cannabis Allergy Collaboration (2023). A review of cannabis allergy in the early days of legalization. *Annals of allergy, asthma & immunology : official publication of the American College of Allergy, Asthma, & Immunology, 130*(3), 288–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anai.2022.10.016
- Trabert B., Sigurdson A.J., Sweeney A.M., Strom S.S., & McGlynn K.A. (2011). Marijuana use and testicular germ cell tumors. *Cancer*, *117*(4), 848–853. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.25499
- Trojan V., Landa L., Šulcová A., Slíva J., & Hřib R. (2023). The main therapeutic applications of cannabidiol (CBD) and its potential effects on aging with respect to Alzheimer's disease. *Biomolecules*, *13*(10), 1446. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom13101446
- Velasco G., Sánchez C., & Guzmán M. (2016). Anticancer mechanisms of cannabinoids. *Current oncology (Toronto, Ont.), 23*(2), S23–S32. https://doi.org/10.3747/co.23.3080
- Volkow N.D., Han B., Compton W.M., & McCance-Katz E.F. (2019). Self-reported medical and nonmedical cannabis use among pregnant women in the United States. *JAMA*, 322(2), 167–169. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.7982
- Voy A. (2023). Collisions and cannabis: Measuring the effect of recreational marijuana legalization on traffic crashes in Washington State. *Traffic injury prevention, 24(7), 527–535. https://doi.org/10.1080/15389588.2023.2220853*

- Wade N.E., McCabe C.J., Wallace A.L., Gonzalez M.R., Hoh E., Infante M.A., Mejia M.H., & Haist F. (2023). Clouding Up Cognition? Secondhand Cannabis and Tobacco Exposure Related to Cognitive Functioning in Youth. *Biological psychiatry global open science*, 3(2), 233–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsgos.2022.01.010
- Walker M., Carpino M., Lightfoot D., Rossi E., Tang M., Mann R., Saarela O., & Cusimano M. (2023). The effect of recreational cannabis legalization and commercialization on substance use, mental health, and injury: a systematic review. *Public health*, 221, 87–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2023.06.012
- Walsh Z., Gonzalez R., Crosby K., Thiessen M.S., Carroll C., & Bonn-Miller M.O. (2017). Medical cannabis and mental health: A guided systematic review. *Clinical psychology review*, 51, 15– 29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2016.10.002
- Walter T.J., Pocuca N., Young J.W., Geyer M.A., Minassian A., & Perry W. (2021). The relationship between cannabis use and cognition in people with bipolar disorder: A systematic scoping review. *Psychiatry research*, *297*, 113695. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113695
- Wang M.T., & Danesh-Meyer H.V. (2021). Cannabinoids and the eye. *Survey of ophthalmology*, *66*(2), 327–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.survophthal.2020.07.002
- Watkins S.L., Thompson J., Feld A.L., Ling P.M., & Lee Y.O. (2023). Flavored Cannabis Use and Cannabis-Tobacco Co-use: Patterns In U.S. States With Legalized Nonmedical Adult Use. *American journal of preventive medicine*, *65*(4), 551–559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2023.05.006
- Weresa J., Pędzińska-Betiuk A., Mińczuk K., Malinowska B., & Schlicker E. (2022). Why do marijuana and synthetic cannabimimetics induce acute myocardial infarction in healthy young people?. *Cells*, *11(7)*, *1142*. *https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11071142*
- White M.A., & Burns N.R. (2021). The risk of being culpable for or involved in a road crash after using cannabis: A systematic review and meta-analyses. *Drug Science, Policy and Law, 7*. https://doi.org/10.1177/20503245211055381
- White M.A., & Burns N.R. (2023). Does the co-use of cannabis exacerbate the effect of alcohol on the risk of crashing? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Drug Science, Policy and Law, 9*. https://doi.org/10.1177/20503245231177334
- WHO. (2016). The health and social effects of nonmedical cannabis use. World Health Organization.
- WHO. (2019). *The public health dimension of the world drug problem: how WHO works to prevent drug use, reduce harm and improve safe access to medicines.* WHO-MVP-EMP-2019.02. World Health Organization.
- Whynot E.G., Tomko A.M., & Dupré D.J. (2023). Anticancer properties of cannabidiol and Δ9tetrahydrocannabinol and synergistic effects with gemcitabine and cisplatin in bladder cancer cell lines. *Journal of Cannabis Research*, 5(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42238-023-00174-z

- Wickens C.M., Wright M., Mann R.E., Brands B., Di Ciano P., Stoduto G., Fares A., Matheson J., George T.P., Rehm J., Shuper P.A., Sproule B., Samohkvalov A., Huestis M.A., & Le Foll B. (2022). Separate and combined effects of alcohol and cannabis on mood, subjective experience, cognition and psychomotor performance: A randomized trial. *Progress in neuro-psychopharmacology & biological psychiatry*, *118*, 110570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2022.110570
- Windle S.B., Socha P., Nazif-Munoz J.I., Harper S., & Nandi A. (2022). The impact of cannabis decriminalization and legalization on road safety outcomes: a systematic review. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 63(6), 1037–1052. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2022.07.012
- Wolfe D., Corace K., Butler C., Rice D., Skidmore B., Patel Y., Thayaparan P., Michaud A., Hamel C., Smith A., Garber G., Porath A., Conn D., Willows M., Abramovici H., Thavorn K., Kanji S., & Hutton B. (2023). Impacts of medical and non-medical cannabis on the health of older adults: Findings from a scoping review of the literature. *PloS one*, *18*(2), e0281826. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0281826
- Wolfe S.A., Vozella V., & Roberto M. (2022). The synaptic interactions of alcohol and the endogenous cannabinoid system. *Alcohol research: current reviews, 42*(1). https://doi.org/10.35946/arcr.v42.1.03
- Zamberletti E., & Rubino T. (2022). Dos(e)Age: Role of Dose and Age in the Long-Term Effect of Cannabinoids on Cognition. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, *27*(4), 1411. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27041411
- Zellers S.M., Ross J.M., Saunders G.R., Ellingson J.M., Walvig T., Anderson J.E., Corley R.P., Iacono W., Hewitt J.K., Hopfer C.J., McGue M.K., & Vrieze S. (2023). Recreational cannabis legalization has had limited effects on a wide range of adult psychiatric and psychosocial outcomes. *Psychological medicine*, 53(14), 6481–6490. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291722003762
- Zhang L.R., Morgenstern H., Greenland S., Chang S.C., Lazarus P., Teare M.D., Woll P.J., Orlow I., Cox B., Cannabis and Respiratory Disease Research Group of New Zealand, Brhane Y., Liu G., & Hung R. J. (2015). Cannabis smoking and lung cancer risk: Pooled analysis in the International Lung Cancer Consortium. *International journal of cancer*, 136(4), 894–903. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29036
- Zhornitsky S., Pelletier J., Assaf R., Giroux S., Chiang-shan R.L., & Potvin S. (2021). Acute effects of partial CB1 receptor agonists on cognition–A meta-analysis of human studies. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, *104*, 110063. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2020.110063
- Zou G., Xia J., Luo H., Xiao D., Jin J., Miao C., Zuo X., Gao Q., Zhang Z., Xue T., You Y., Zhang Y., Zhang L., & Xiong W. (2022). Combined alcohol and cannabinoid exposure leads to synergistic toxicity by affecting cerebellar Purkinje cells. *Nature metabolism*, 4(9), 1138–1149. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42255-022-00633-6

# **Rescheduling of Cannabis Focus Group Protocol**

### Opening

Good afternoon/morning and thank you for being here. As you read in our invitation, this focus group is a research study conducted by the Pacific Institute for Research and Evaluation on behalf of the AAA foundation. Our goal is to elicit expert opinions on the possible outcomes (both favorable and unfavorable) of rescheduling cannabis. We are interested in understanding what impacts the rescheduling of cannabis would have on a variety of public health outcomes (mental health, physical health, and injuries) with special interest on traffic safety.

To achieve this goal, we will ask the group their opinion on public health outcomes not related to traffic safety as well as outcomes that are related to traffic safety.

This session is anonymous. Your individual insights are utilized to generate thematic analysis and no individuals will be identified as we report our findings.

To stay present in the dialog while also securing an accurate transcription of our conversation, this meeting will be recorded. The recording is for transcription purposes and all identifiable information will be removed from the transcription. Once the transcription is completed and de-identification has occurred, the original recording will be destroyed.

Do I have everyone's permission to continue with the transcription recorder on?

Community engagement – while we are together, we may disagree with one another. We encourage everyone to share and ask that we give grace to each participant while honoring these fundamental community rules:

- Safe space, no judgements and confidentiality honored
- Strong opinions, loosely held
- Disagree without being disagreeable
- Seek to understand, as well as to be understood
- Tackle the issue, not the person
- Everyone participates, no one dominates
- ELMO (enough, let's move on)

Anything we missed or that you would like to add

#### Brief Introductions? Tell us a little about yourself.

Let's start with public health outcomes that are not related to traffic safety. This may include physical health, mental, health and injury related outcomes.

Walk me through a rescheduling of cannabis. What impacts does this have on public health? Please be specific on which areas of public health. Please mention the population groups you expect to hurt and those you expect to benefit the most

### Probes:

- How does the rescheduling align to public health evidence (what we currently know about cannabis)?
- What demographic considerations should we consider (age, location, race/ethnicity, gender, etc.)?
- Differences by states?
- Is there a temporal component to rescheduling? For example, how might this evolve over time?
- Staying with public health outcomes that were discussed, talk to the likelihood of these outcomes. Please discuss prevalence.
- Considering some of the negative outcomes discussed, what policies or mitigation measures do you propose to consider?

Thank you for the robust discourse on public health outcomes. I would like to move us into a discussion on traffic safety as it relates to a rescheduling of cannabis. Similar to the previous discussion, we would like to learn about possible scenarios, their likelihood, and differences among groups for a rescheduling on cannabis as it specifically pertains to traffic safety.

#### What would this look like?

### Probes:

- How does rescheduling impact law enforcement? Are there detection considerations for law enforcement?
- What demographic considerations should we consider (age, location, race/ethnicity, gender, etc.)?
- Differences by states?
- Is there a temporal component to rescheduling's impact? For example, how might this evolve over time?
- Exclusively considering traffic safety outcomes that were discussed, talk to the likelihood of these outcomes. What is the prevalence of these outcomes?
- Considering some of the negative outcomes discussed, what policies or mitigation measures do you propose to consider?

# **Closing Remarks**

Again, I want to thank you for your time and shared understanding of the rescheduling of cannabis. These data will be analyzed, and an unidentified report of the findings will be generated. We will be sure to follow up with each of you once that process is complete. In order to validate the work we did today, would you agree to allow me to send you a copy of the de-identified transcript and ask you to briefly review it for accuracy?

# **Appendix B: Participant Invitation**

I am writing to invite you to participate in virtual discussion group on the topic of cannabis use. We need your expertise!

In 2017, a committee of experts gathered by the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (NASEM) was tasked with conducting a comprehensive review of the evidence regarding the health effects of using cannabis and cannabis-derived products. The NASEM study reported that the scientific information on the health implications of cannabis use was uneven, with areas of varying gaps in knowledge.

Using the 2017 NASEM report as a starting point, the Pacific Institute for Research Evaluation (PIRE), on behalf of the AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety (AAAFTS), conducted a review of the literature aimed to summarize the current state of scientific knowledge on cannabis use as it is associated with the factors established by the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act (Controlled Substances Act, or CSA for short) for drug scheduling. Broadly speaking, the review concluded that despite some scientific progress, conclusive information on certain public health implications associated with cannabis use is still lacking.

As a result, AAAFTS and PIRE would like to elicit the opinion of well-known experts on the public health implications relevant to the scheduling of cannabis that remain inconclusive. We would also like to explore the effects a potential rescheduling of cannabis in the U.S. to a lower level might have on a variety of clinical and public health fields, including but not limited to traffic safety.

Your contribution will be confidential when the data are analyzed and reported thematically. Quotes may be referenced; however, no individual names will be associated with data collected. During the focus group discussion, the researcher will record for transcription purposes only. PIRE staff, Dr. Ann Romosz, will be leading the discussion. Other PIRE staff in attendance include me and Dr. Eduardo Romano.

As a token of appreciation for your time and input, we are offering a \$100 amazon gift card for all who attend a focus group session. If you are available to participate, please let us know which of the following times would be best for you to have a virtual approximal 90-minute discussion?

Monday, May 20th 3 pm - 5 pm EST OR Friday May 24th 10 am - 12 pm EST

Once we have your preferred time, we will send you a Microsoft Teams link for joining this important, scientific discourse.

Thank You.

Appendi	ix C:	Codebo	ook (T	)escrir	otion	of Cod	es)
nppena		uoucou	ין אטי		Juon	01 000	CJ

Code Name	Totals	Description
Benefits of Cannabis Rescheduling for Health Issues or Other Reasons	13	Participant discusses potential benefits to cannabis use for medicinal purposes. Participant may also discuss benefit of cannabis for financial (tax) purposes or education.
Cannabis Dosing	10	Knowing how much you have had. This could also include increasing amount ingested (dosing over days, weeks, months, etc.).
Cannabis Marketing	6	Participant speaks to how cannabis is marketed and sold.
Cannabis Rescheduling is a Process	3	Cannabis rescheduling will happen but a process exists.
Cannabis Rescheduling Proactivity	3	Being ahead of the process; proactive; not reactive.
Define Cannabis Rescheduling Process	7	Steps to occur.
Cannabis Types	14	There are varies types of cannabis flowers and ways of ingesting. What is being considered in the rescheduling is questioned.
Cannabis Use Linked to Mental Health or Other Medical Disorders	6	Participant speaks of cannabis use in conjunction with mental health disorder.
Cannabis User Care of Rescheduling	3	What will the average user think of rescheduling.
DRE	8	Participant speaks of DREs when discussing traffic safety and cannabis use.
Doctor Comfort w/ Cannabis Conversations	3	Participant discusses primary care providers comfort level with discussing or prescribing cannabis.
Drug Dependency	1	Dependence on drug.
Drug Potency	12	Participant references the potency of cannabis.
Funding/Resourcing	3	Participant speaks to funding or resources toward cannabis research.
Lack of consensus	1	Non-agreement.
Links to Reporting Data	3	Participant speaks about how rescheduling, or legalization relates to reporting use.

Code Name	Totals	Description
Localized Public Health Tactic	2	A tactic that is being implemented at a local level, not state or federal.
Marginalized Communities Distinctions	4	This could include a reference to race, ethnicity, sexual orientation, gender, etc.
Meaningful Reclassification Suggestion	1	We should be doing more '-' (Fentanyl provided as one example).
Messaging	4	How the change is messaged is addressed.
Coordination of messaging/roll out	19	How messaging should be handled around cannabis rescheduling.
Negative perception of messaging	9	Past errors in messaging.
Misaligned Thinking	2	"Out of step" not common thinking or against the norm in some way.
Normalization of Cannabis Use	2	Process by which the drug becomes less stigmatized and more accepted.
Polydrug use	13	implications around using more than one substance simultaneously.
Prevalence and Availability of Cannabis	11	Participant discusses rescheduling impact on prevalence and availability of cannabis.
Problem: Contraindications	3	Cannabis use with other medicine. How might the drugs interact?
Problem: Crime Outcomes Associated with Cannabis Rescheduling	2	Any criminal offense associated with cannabis rescheduling.
Problem: Misunderstanding of Rescheduling	12	Public does not understand rescheduling; sometimes spoken in reference to legalization.
Problem: Perception of Harm Decline	10	With rescheduling and legalization, the perception of harm for cannabis use is declining.
Problem: Rescheduling Cannabis Misalignment	11	Laws are not aligned at federal and state level.
Problem: Rescheduling Cannabis on Developing Brain	12	How does cannabis use impact the brain in development.
Public Health Change	0	Assessing change to public health.
PH Change - No	12	No belief in change; minimal impact of cannabis rescheduling to public health.

Code Name	Totals	Description
PH Change - Yes	7	Identifies that change will result from cannabis rescheduling '-' child codes to determine type of change.
PH Change - Uncertain	4	Not convinced, unsure, could argue both sides.
Questioning Possibility of Rescheduling of Cannabis	1	Does not believe that the rescheduling will be implemented; doubts execution.
Research Reference	22	Research opportunity as an outcome of rescheduling considered. Research might be challenged. Research used to support point.
Responsibility of Choice	3	People make choices with regard to cannabis use.
Misunderstanding of Cannabis	10	Refers to public perception that might be incorrect or limited in some way.
Role of Federal Gov't	1	Participant speaks to the part the federal government plays in rescheduling.
Gov't Institutional Mistrust	11	Role of federal government is questioned due to original scheduling of cannabis as a category 1. The perception of the public's trust of the government is called into question.
State Testing and/or Regulation	7	Participant speaks to specific state tests, laws, regulations and notes distinction between other states or federal govt.
Traffic Safety Implications of Rescheduling	1	Parent code for traffic safety.
Assessment: Cannabis Impairment	22	Participant speaks to roadside assessment (tools, behavior, the ability to assess with confidence around a driver's level of influence). How do we measure impairment?
Accident to Incident	1	Change in language around cannabis use and resulting outcomes.
All impaired Driving is Bad	3	Impaired driving of any kind is thought of as bad, dangerous, etc.

Code Name	Totals	Description
Concern for Cannabis Impaired Driving to Deplete Resources	1	Will cannabis impair driving take resources away from alcohol impaired driving mitigation efforts?
Distinction from Alcohol Impairment	10	Participant compares and makes distinction from cannabis to alcohol.
Employment and Cannabis Use	2	How might this impact work functioning as cannabis is rescheduled and people may consume it for medicinal purposes?
Increase in DUI	2	Participants suggest increase in DUI as a result of rescheduling.
Lack of Prosecution Follow Through	3	Participant speaks to lack of (decline in or otherwise) of prosecution of cannabis cases.
Per Se	2	Latin for "by itself" and references the law that a BAC over the legal limit is enough to pursue conviction.
Rescheduling no impact on traffic safety	1	Lack of impact on traffic safety specifically due to rescheduling.
Suggestion: Strengthen Adjudication System	7	Participant either speaks of ideas to strengthen the adjudication system or addresses what is lacking or problematic about it now.
Traffic Safety Data on Impairment	5	Current information and data on driving under the influence of cannabis is discussed.
Younger Drivers and Cannabis Use	2	Participants discuss young drivers, lack of experience, etc.
Value Assessment on Cannabis Use	5	Participant speaks of their belief system related to cannabis use. This is not a reflection of science or public health but rather a value/belief comment.